


ONE TEAM · ONE FORTUNE

ABOUT FORTUNE REIT

OUR MISSION

ABOUT THE MANAGER

Established in 2003, Fortune Real Estate Investment 
Trust (“Fortune REIT”) is a real estate investment trust 
constituted by a trust deed (the “Trust Deed”) (as amended, 
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time). 
It is the first REIT to hold assets in Hong Kong and is 
currently listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of 
Hong Kong Limited (the “SEHK”).

Fortune REIT holds a portfolio of 16 retail properties in 
Hong Kong, comprising approximately 3.0 million square 
feet (“Sq.ft.”) of retail space and 2,713 car parking lots.

Fortune REIT is managed by ARA Asset Management 
(Fortune) Limited, a part of the ESR Group (the “ESR”). 
ESR is APAC’s largest real asset manager powered by 
the New Economy and the third largest listed real estate 
investment manager globally. With US$140 billion in gross 
assets under management (AUM), ESR’s fully integrated 
development and investment management platform 
extends across key APAC markets, including China, Japan, 
South Korea, Australia, Singapore, India, New Zealand and 
Southeast Asia, representing over 95% of GDP in APAC, 
and also includes an expanding presence in Europe and the 
U.S. ESR provides a diverse range of real asset investment 
solutions and New Economy real estate development 
opportunities across its private funds business, which 
allows capital partners and customers to capitalise on the 
most significant secular trends in APAC. With 14 listed 
REITs managed by ESR and its associates, ESR is the 
largest sponsor and manager of REITs in APAC with a 
total AUM of US$45 billion. ESR’s purpose – Space and 
Investment Solutions for a Sustainable Future – drives ESR 
to manage sustainably and impactfully and it considers the 
environment and the communities in which it operates as 
key stakeholders of its business. Listed on the Main Board 
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong, ESR is a constituent 
of the FTSE Global Equity Index Series (Large Cap), Hang 
Seng Composite Index and MSCI Hong Kong Index. More 
information can be found at www.esr.com.

The Manager’s key objective is to deliver regular and stable 
returns to holders of Fortune REIT units (“Unitholders”) 
through proactive management of Fortune REIT’s portfolio 
of assets and acquiring properties that generate long term 
benefits to Unitholders.

With a portfolio of 16 malls that 
p r o v i d e  c o m m u n i t i e s  i n  t h e 
vicinity with daily necessities and 
convenient services, Fortune REIT 
has enjoyed much success on the 
back of its resilient business. We 
believe addressing and balancing 
the needs of our stakeholders is of 
utmost importance for building a 
sustainable business in the long run.

N o t w i t h s t a n d i n g  t h e  m a r k e t 
challenges in 2021, we continued 
o u r  e f f o r t s  i n  f u t u r e - p r o o f i n g 

our business on multiple fronts. To unleash the potential value of 
our assets and enhance shopping experience, the AEIs at Fortune 
Metropolis and +WOO have brought about modern decor with 
enhanced layouts, digital presence and inclusive facilities. Moreover, 
we leveraged technology to improve our operating efficiency and to 
bring positive environmental impact.

With shared values among our key stakeholders including tenants, 
shoppers, staff members and investors, we are united as one team for 
more fortune to come.
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2021 CORPORATE MILESTONES

18 MARCH

A final DPU of 24.56 Hong 
Kong cents for the six months 

ended 31 December 2020 
was paid.

4 FEBRUARY

Announced financial results for the full 
year 2020. Total revenue and net property 

income reached HK$1,843.8 million and 
HK$1,376.1 million respectively.

6 AUGUST

Announced financial 
results for the six months 
ended 30 June 2021, with 
total revenue of HK$904.4 
million. We achieved an 
interim distribution per unit 
of 24.96 HK cents with an 
attractive dividend yield 
of 6.0%. 15 SEPTEMBER

Fortune REIT won the grand-prix of 
the Overall Best IR Company Award, 5 

Years IR Awards Winning Company 
and garnered a total of 12 Awards 

at HKIRA’s 7th Investor 
Relations Awards 2021.
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2021 Corporate Milestones

28 MAY

The 2021 annual general 
meeting was held in Hong Kong, 

with directors’ participation 
physically and via conference 

call. All resolutions were  
duly passed.

 
17 SEPTEMBER

An interim DPU of 24.96  
Hong Kong cents for the six 

months ended 30 June 
2021 was paid.

20 DECEMBER
Launched Farm@Fortune community 

engagement project at Fortune  
City One, as a green initiative 

arising from Fortune REIT’s first 
sustainability-linked interest rate 

swap with DBS Bank.15 OCTOBER

Fortune REIT has earned the highest  
five-star rating and ranked first in  

the Eastern Asia Listed Retail category  
in the 2021 Global Real Estate 

Sustainability Benchmark.

15 JULY

Secured a sustainability-linked loan 
of HK$1.5 billion from OCBC Bank, 

Fortune REIT’s second green financing 
initiative, doubling our sustainability-

linked loan facilities to an 
aggregate of HK$2.5 billion.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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GROWTH  

STRATEGIES

ACTIVE LEASING  
MANAGEMENT

Our proactive asset management approach 
has enabled Fortune REIT to maintain a high 

occupancy and retain a good portion of tenants. 
We concluded FY2021 with a tenant retention of 

74% and portfolio occupancy of 94.3%.

ASSET  
ENHANCEMENT  

INITIATIVES
Fortune REIT continued to  

pursue core strategy of  
unlocking value of our portfolio.  
In 2021, renovation works have 

commenced to upgrade  
Phase 2 of +WOO and  

revamp the food court at  
Fortune Metropolis, laying a  

solid foundation for  
future growth.

YIELD-ACCRETIVE ACQUISITIONS
Since its establishment in 2003, Fortune REIT has 

successfully grown its portfolio by 11 times to  
HK$39.5 billion through the acquisition of 13 

properties, delivering good returns to our Unitholders. 
Fortune REIT currently possesses a strong balance 
sheet to withstand the market challenges and will 

continue to safeguard the long-term value for 
Unitholders through prudent acquisitions.
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CHAIRMAN’S REPORT

     Dear Unitholders,

I am pleased to present the annual report of Fortune 
REIT for the financial year ended 31 December 2021 
(“FY2021” or the “Reporting Year”).

Hong Kong’s economy has been on a recovery 
trajectory amidst the stabilising epidemic situation 
throughout 2021. Local economic activities started 
to revive and retail sentiment saw a rebound during 
the second half of the year as social distancing 
measures progressively relaxed.

During the Reporting Year, Fortune REIT recorded 
a total revenue of HK$1,806.4 million and net 
proper ty income of HK$1,340.2 million, lower 
by 2.0% and 2.6% year-on-year, respec tively. 
A l though our renta l  income was dampened 
by  n e g a t i ve  reve r s io n  a n d l ow e r  p o r t fo l io 
occupancy, increased carpark income and lower 
rental concessions have helped to cushion the 
shortfall. Thanks to a 21.4% reduction in finance 
cost, income available for distribution for FY2021 
rose 1.1% year-on-year to HK$981.1 million. In 
anticipation of the challenges ahead and as a 
prudent measure, the Board has decided on 
a 90% dis t r ibut ion payout rat io to conser ve 
cash. Accordingly, the full year distribution per 
unit (“DPU”) was 44.83 HK cents, down by 4.9%  
year-on-year.

Chui Sing Loi (alias Tsui Sing Loi)
Chairman
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Chairman’s Report

Resilience anchored by high occupancy 
and retention
Our proactive asset management approach has enabled 
Fortune Malls to maintain a high occupancy and retain a 
good portion of tenants. With approximately 34% of total area 
expired in FY2021, Fortune REIT ended the year with a tenant 
retention rate of 74% and a portfolio occupancy of 94.3%. We 
continued to support our tenants’ business via sales-driven 
marketing campaigns and rewards from our Fortune Malls 
mobile APP.

Enhancing Fortune Malls for eventual 
upturn
Even as we tackled the immediate challenges posed by the 
COVID-19 turmoil, we did not lose sight of the long-term goal 
of creating value for our portfolio. We believe that the long-
term outlook for Hong Kong neighborhood malls remains 
positive hence have seized the opportunity to carry out asset 
enhancement initiatives (“AEIs”) at a time when they would 
cause less impact on income. Renovation works to upgrade 
Phase 2 of +WOO and revamp the food court at Fortune 
Metropolis were commenced during the Reporting Year. 
These shopping malls are poised to tap the emerging demand 
from the growing population and improving transportation 
links in Tin Shui Wai and Hung Hom respectively. These AEIs 
will position Fortune Malls well for the eventual market upturn.

Fortifying our financial position
Fortune REIT’s financial position strengthened further during 
the Reporting Year. We have successfully secured HK$3,800 
million of 5-year loan facilities during FY2021 and another 
HK$1,200 million 5-year sustainability-linked loan at the 
beginning of 2022 for refinancing and general corporate use 
purpose. Consequently, we have no refinancing needs until 
end of 2023 with average debt maturity extended to 3.9 years. 
Gearing was at 22.4% as at 31 December 2021. With an ample 
debt headroom of HK$21.9 billion and all of our properties 
unencumbered, Fortune REIT possesses the financial 
capability and flexibility to swiftly capture opportunities as they 
arise.

Reaffirming our commitment on 
sustainability
We are fully committed to sustainable operations and 
sound practices in Environment, Social and Governance 
(“ESG”). In 2021, Fortune REIT became the first Hong Kong-
based REIT to attain the highest 5-star rating in the Global 
Real Estate Sustainability Benchmark (“GRESB”), a global 
leader in ESG benchmarking for real estate. The GRESB 
5-star rating recognises entities placed in the top 20% of the 
benchmark and we are honoured to have also ranked first in 
its Eastern Asia Listed retail category. In addition to sharing 
our sustainability efforts in FY2021, Fortune REIT’s sixth ESG 

Report will also elaborate on our strengthened sustainability 
strategy with five key focus areas: Our Footprint, Our 
Community, Our People, Our Space and Our Conduct.

Rising above COVID-19
Globally, rising energy prices, geopolitical tensions, together 
with looming interest rate hikes and inflationary pressure in 
many economies have posed uncertainty to the economic 
outlook. Locally, the Hong Kong government has been 
committed to “zero COVID” whereby stringent quarantine 
measures are practiced to curb the spread of the virus. And 
that has weathered us well through the pandemic for the 
past two years. However, in February 2022, the outbreak of 
the Omicron variant in Hong Kong has led the government 
to have implemented its toughest social distancing rules 
since the start of the COVID-19 pandemic, including a ban 
on public gatherings of more than two persons. Places such 
as shopping malls, hair salons and supermarkets have been 
added to the schedule of premises that are subject to vaccine 
pass entry only. These tightened measures are expected to 
derail the full recovery of local economic activities.

With the legislation of the temporary Rental Enforcement 
Moratorium coming to effect in Hong Kong, our operation 
as landlord may be affected to a certain extent in the 
near term. Nevertheless, as Hong Kong’s vaccination rate 
continues to rise and with the roll-out of the vaccine pass, 
these should pave the way for Hong Kong towards reopening 
of its border and normalisation of its economy.

Fortune REIT has enjoyed stable income streams from 
its neighbourhood shopping mall portfolio which focuses 
predominately on daily necessities. We are committed to 
delivering stable distributions and sustainable returns to 
Unitholders. To achieve this, we will continue to strengthen 
portfolio resilience and focus on value creation and growth. 
In the near term, we will drive organic growth by proactively 
managing the assets and ensuring the smooth execution of 
ongoing AEIs. Concurrently, we will also optimise our core 
competencies to capture opportunities as they arise.

Appreciation
In closing, I would like to express my gratitude to my fellow 
Directors for their guidance and our employees for their 
commitment and contributions. Finally, I would also like to 
thank our tenants, shoppers, unitholders and trustee for their 
unwavering trust and support over the years.

Chui Sing Loi (alias Tsui Sing Loi)
Chairman

ARA Asset Management (Fortune) Limited
As Manager of Fortune REIT



DOMESTIC CONSUMPTION 
WITH RESILIENT

TRADE MIX





DOMESTIC CONSUMPTION 
WITH RESILIENT

TRADE MIX



 
 

I live in  
City One Shatin  

and have all my daily 
needs fulfilled at Fortune 

City One. I visit the mall three 
to four times a week for casual 

meals, grocery shopping and other 
services like banking,  

hair cut, beauty facial, etc. 

IT IS THE PERFECT ONE-STOP 
DESTINATION FOR ALL 

I NEED IN MY DAILY LIFE.  
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Financial Review

In 2021, COVID-19 continued to cast a shadow over Hong 
Kong’s economic recovery with travel restrictions and social 
distancing measures in effect during the year. The retail 
market was improving throughout much of the year until 
the recent outbreak of the Omicron variant. Against such a 
backdrop, Fortune REIT reported a revenue of HK$1,806.4 
million (2020: HK$1,843.8 million) for the Reporting Year, 
representing a decrease of 2.0% year-on-year. The decrease 
was mainly attributable to negative rental reversion and lower 
portfolio occupancy mainly due to two AEIs underway. Thanks 
to an improved operating environment, the increased carpark 
income and the absence of rental concession in the second 
half of the Reporting Year were able to reduce the full year loss 
in rental income by half.

Total property operating expenses (excluding the Manager’s 
performance fee) were well contained at HK$424.8 million 
(2020: HK$425.1 million). A slight decrease was recorded 
for property operating expenses as the increase in utility 
expenses, leasing commissions and advertising and 
promotion expenses were more than offset by savings from 
lower credit losses allowance and legal fees. The higher 
leasing activities, longer business hours allowed for our 
tenants and improved bad debt position have all pointed to 
a better operating environment, while we continued to step 
up our marketing effort in attracting spending power brought 
by the Hong Kong government’s electronic Consumption 
Voucher Scheme (“CVS”) in the second half of 2021.

Accordingly, net property income decreased by 2.6% year-on-
year to HK$1,340.2 million (2020: HK$1,376.1 million). Cost-
to-revenue ratio was 23.5% (2020: 23.1%) for the Reporting 
Year.

Finance costs (excluding change in fair value of derivative 
financial instruments) demonstrated a drop of 21.4% year-
on-year to HK$193.1 million (2020: HK$245.8 million) as the 
Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”) fell to historically 
low levels during the Reporting Year. As a result, effective 
borrowing cost reduced to 2.18% (2020: 2.80%).

Income available for distribution for the Reporting Year 
increased by 1.1% year-on-year to HK$981.1 million (2020: 
HK$970.4 million). In anticipation of the challenges ahead 
and as a prudent measure, the Board has decided on a 90% 
distribution payout ratio for the Reporting Year to conserve 
cash. Accordingly, the full year DPU was down by 4.9% 
year-on-year to 44.83 HK cents (2020: 47.16 HK cents), 
representing a yield of 5.6% based on the closing unit price of 
HK$8.01 as at 31 December 2021.

The final DPU of 19.87 HK cents for the year ended 31 
December 2021 will be paid on 22 April 2022 to Unitholders 
on the register of Unitholders of Fortune REIT as at 17 March 
2022.

Capital Management

As at 31 December 2021, Fortune REIT’s total loan facilities 
drawn amounted to HK$8,900 million (2020: HK$8,800 
million). In spite of a higher debt level, gearing ratio remained 
the same at 22.4% (2020: 22.4%) as a result of higher property 
valuations. Gross liability as a percentage of its gross assets 
decreased to 26.5% as at 31 December 2021 (2020: 27.2%).

In June 2021, Fortune REIT secured new loans amounting to 
HK$3,800 million (the “2021 Facilities”). The 2021 Facilities 
consist of (i) a HK$2,000 million term loan; (ii) a HK$300 million 
revolving loan; and (iii) a HK$1,500 million sustainability-linked 
revolving loan.

Subsequent to the end of Reporting Year, a further HK$1,200 
million sustainability-linked loan facility (the “2022 Facilities”) 
was obtained in January 2022. Both the 2021 Facilities and 
2022 Facilities were for a term of 5 years and for the purpose 
of refinancing and other general corporate use. Fortune REIT’s 
financial position was strengthened with the average debt 
maturity extended to 3.9 years.

Fortune REIT currently possesses sufficient financial 
resources to satisfy its financial commitment and working 
capital requirements. As at 31 December 2021, available 
liquidity was HK$418.0 million (2020: HK$877.2 million), 
comprising committed but undrawn facilities of HK$300.0 
million (2020: HK$700.0 million) and bank deposits of 
HK$118.0 million (2020: HK$177.2 million). It also had 
uncommitted revolving loan facilities of HK$300.0 million 
which remained undrawn at the end of the Reporting Year.

In anticipation of upcoming rate hikes, additional interest 
rate swaps were entered during the Reporting Year to 
maintain an appropriate level of protection against interest 
rate fluctuations. As at 31 December 2021, interest cost for 
approximately 70% (2020: 50%) of Fortune REIT’s outstanding 
committed loan facilities was hedged through interest rate 
swaps. Net asset value per unit amounted to HK$14.79 as at 
31 December 2021, increasing 1.2% from HK$14.62 at the end 
of 2020.

207mm
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Management Discussion and Analysis

DPU 44.83 HK Cents

Distribution Yield 5.6%

Portfolio Valuation

Fortune REIT’s portfolio valuation increased by 1.1% year-
on-year to HK$39,500 million as at 31 December 2021 (2020: 
HK$39,075 million). Jones Lang LaSalle Limited, the principal 
valuer, has adopted the valuation methodology of an income 
capitalisation approach and cross-referenced with a direct 
comparison approach. The average capitalisation rate stood 
at 4.3%. Improvement in the performance of the underlying 
asset has resulted in a revaluation gain of HK$358.0 million for 
the Reporting Year.

Business Review

During the Reporting Year, the pandemic situation in Hong 
Kong was well-contained with local infections maintained 
at zero for much of the second half of 2021. Although the 
border remained closed for the whole year, Hong Kong’s 
unemployment was largely eased along with the gradual 
revival of local economic activities while retail sentiment was 
also boosted by the government’s CVS. Retail sales value 
in Hong Kong posted a year-on-year growth of 8.1% for the 
whole 2021, mostly supported by robust local consumption. 
It was however, still 27.2% below the level in 2018 before the 
recession as in-bound tourism stayed at a standstill.

210mm
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Amidst the soft market environment, the Manager adopted 
a proactive stance and capitalised on the window to embark 
on AEIs for long term business growth. Portfolio occupancy 
remained healthy at 94.3% as at 31 December 2021, as the 
AEIs at +WOO and Fortune Metropolis have been thoroughly 
planned with downtime carefully scheduled while high 
occupancies were maintained across the rest of Fortune 
Malls. Leasing has been gaining momentum throughout the 
Reporting Year as more than one million Sq.ft., representing 
34.5% of the total portfolio area were committed for renewal 
and new lettings. Negative reversions were still inevitable in 
2021 as the leases renewed were mostly off a higher rent level 
set two-to-three years ago.

With a strong focus on necessity trade mix, Fortune Malls 
enjoyed resilient demand for non-discretionary goods amid 
robust local consumption. Despite the two AEIs currently 
underway, tenant retention recorded a healthy rate of 74% for 
the Reporting Year. In addition to retaining quality tenants, we 
have been also proactively tapping emerging demands in the 
market and successfully recruited tenants from new sectors 
such as gyms, fencing schools, shops selling masks and 
health products etc.

The Manager has taken a more sales-driven marketing 
approach in supporting tenants as market sentiment 
continued to improve throughout 2021. Leveraging on 
the Fortune Malls APP and our social media platforms, 
we have launched various marketing campaigns, such 
as gift redemption schemes, top spender competitions 
and coupon rewards to drive tenant sales. Targeting the 
CVS’s disbursement beginning in August 2021, our “Happy 
Shopping” Rewards Program was tailored to reward loyal 
customers and encourage spending using their CVS e-wallet. 
The CVS, coupled with our successful online-to-offline 
marketing campaigns, has lifted the traffic and tenant sales at 
Fortune Malls. During the Reporting Year, daily average footfall 
and hourly carpark income have increased by 6.1% and 23.4% 
respectively against 2020, with further momentum in the 
second half of 2021 generating year-on-year growth of 11.3% 
and 29.3% respectively. Accordingly, the rental concession 
needed was reduced by more than 70% for 2021.

Two AEIs to Tap Potential Economic 
Recovery

In pursuing its core strategy of unlocking latent value of our 
assets and to pave the way for growth when the retail market 
recovers, Fortune REIT has commenced AEIs at two flagship 
malls, with a capital expenditure of HK$300 million and HK$16 
million for +WOO and Fortune Metropolis, respectively.

As the leading shopping mall in Tin Shui Wai, +WOO has 
commenced its AEIs at Phase 2 to uplift its positioning. The 
project is to be undertaken by phases and affected areas will 
re-open in stages beginning from mid-2022. The mall will be 
revitalised through an enhanced layout and inclusive facilities 
while infusing interactive digital touches and recreational 
elements, making it a desirable destination for shoppers of all 
ages. Meanwhile, the Manager will optimize the tenant mix and 
strengthen the in-demand food and beverage sector to cater 
for the needs for the growing population in Tin Shui Wai.

The AEIs for the food court at Fortune Metropolis is 
approaching completion upon fitting-out of individual food 
stalls. As a popular dining destination in neighborhood of 
the Hung Hom MTR Station, the 15,000 Sq.ft. food court has 
been redesigned with a modernised outlook and is set to bring 
a new dining experience with expanded food offerings and 
digitalised food ordering flow. In addition to impressing regular 
customers, the upgrade is also poised to tap the potential 
demand from the expanding transportation build-outs such as 
the MTR Tuen Ma Line and the upcoming Shatin-to-Central 
Link.

Fortune Malls APP and Loyalty Program to 
Increase Customer Stickiness

Digitalisation positions our businesses for sustainable long-
term growth well beyond the recovery from the pandemic. 
The Fortune Malls mobile APP offers a one-stop solution that 
conveys wide-range mall information and promotional offers. 
Featuring the Fortune+ loyalty programme, the APP enabled 
us to successfully attract, engage, and retain customers in 
a seamless cycle. The six largest malls, as an initial batch 
included in the Fortune+ loyalty programme, have seen growth 
in new members, participation and rewards redemption rate 
since the launch of the APP in June 2020. Rolling on the 
good response, the Fortune+ loyalty programme has recently 
been expanded by adding six malls to a total of 12 malls. 
As Fortune REIT commits to future-proofing its operations, 
the Fortune Malls APP will continue to play a pivotal part in 
promoting Fortune Malls’ business and adding to its long-term 
competitiveness.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Contribute to Building a Sustainable 
Community

Fortune REIT has been making steadfast strides on steering 
the business in an environmentally friendly way, from internal 
policies and governance, fitting-out plan with tenants, 
project planning for asset enhancement and daily facility 
management. In 2021, Fortune REIT became the first and 
only Hong Kong REIT to have garnered the highest five-star 
rating in Global Real Estate Sustainability Benchmark (GRESB). 
Moreover, notable progress has been made on green financing 
and green building certifications during the Reporting Year.

During the short journey of green financing beginning since 
our first sustainability-linked loan in October 2020, Fortune 
REIT has already achieved multiple milestones. The 2022 
Facilities, our third green loan, takes Fortune REIT’s total green 
financing to an aggregate of HK$3.7 billion, accounting for 
approximately 42% of the debt portfolio. Furthermore, Fortune 
REIT has also entered its first sustainability-linked interest rate 
swap which gave rise to the set up of an urban farm on the 
roof top of Fortune City One, Farm@Fortune. The green loans 
provided a financial incentive for meeting pre-determined 
targets on environmental aspects such as electricity 
consumption, greenhouse gas emissions and waste. The 
green swap, on the other hand, has set performance targets on 
social aspects which led to the launch of our Farm@Fortune 
green community project as we target to promote sustainable 
living practices and generate long-term value for the 
community.

On the operational front, Fortune REIT has taken a major step 
towards green building certifications during the Reporting 
Year. All Fortune Malls have been certified with BEAM Plus on 
Management Aspect while two of our flagship malls, Ma On 
Shan Plaza and Fortune Metropolis have attained Excellent 
rating for Energy Use and Water Use respectively. As part of 
our on-going decarbonisation and climate change efforts, 
a smart building management system will be installed at 
Fortune Malls. The cloud-based automated building solution 
will first cover up to 69% of our portfolio area, allowing 
centralised collection and monitoring of building data, serving 
to optimise energy efficiency and regulate air quality.

We implemented various initiatives to fulfil l  our ESG 
responsibility during the Reporting Year. A discussion on our 
environmental policies, relationships with key stakeholders 
and compliance with relevant laws and regulations bearing 
significantly on Fortune REIT are provided in the “Corporate 
Governance Policies” section of this annual report and our ESG 
report.

Outlook

The Hong Kong economy registered a year-on-year growth 
of 6.4% for 2021 as a whole. The recovery was supported 
by the improving labour market alongside government’s 
multiple relief programmes including the CVS. However, the 
outbreak of the Omicron variant in the beginning of 2022 and 
the tightened social distancing measures in response are 
expected to pose another setback to the recovery and renewed 
pressure on retail market sentiment. The temporary Rental 
Enforcement Moratorium announced under HKSAR’s 2022-23 
Budget may adversely affect landlords’ ability to collect rent 
and hence bring uncertainty to operating cashflows in the near 
term.

Fortune REIT remained collected amid market downturn 
while continuing to invest in long term business growth. The 
two AEIs at +WOO and Fortune Metropolis would strengthen 
Fortune Malls’ market positioning and lay a solid foundation 
for future growth. Going forward, the Manager will remain 
focused on safeguarding the long-term value for Unitholders 
through proactive asset management, effective cost control, 
robust balance sheet management and prudent acquisitions.
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PORTFOLIO KEY STATISTICS
As at 31 December 2021

5.3%
Advertising and 
promotion

50.2%
Building management 
expenses

7.6%
Car park operating 
expenses

3.2%
Government rents and 
rates

Portfolio Lease Expiry Profile 1 

Breakdown of Portfolio Property Operating Expenses 2

6.7%
Leasing commission and 
marketing services fee

1.6%
Legal and other 
professional fees

10.3%
Property management 
fee

11.0% Utilities

4.1% Others

2025

0.8%

2024

21.2%

2023

32.9%

2022

43.3%
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Portfolio Key Statistics

19.6% Fortune City One

17.5% +WOO

16.3% Ma On Shan Plaza

8.5% Metro Town

4.8% Fortune Metropolis

7.1% Belvedere Square

7.2% Laguna Plaza

5.2% Waldorf Avenue

21.0%
Banking & Real Estate 
Services

1.0% Community Services

2.1% Electronics, IT

3.1% Fashion & Shoes

26.0% Food & Beverages

3.3%
Gifts & Speciality, 
Hobbies, Toys, 
Jewellery

Notes:

1. Based on gross rental for the month of December 2021. Gross rental includes rental income and licence income due from tenancies but excludes 
turnover rent.

2. For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

Portfolio Analysis by Net Property Income 2

Portfolio Tenant Trade Mix Analysis 1

3.4% Caribbean Square

2.7% Jubilee Square

2.4% Tsing Yi Square

2.3% Smartland

0.9% Centre de Laguna

1.0% Hampton Loft

0.6% Lido Avenue

0.5% Rhine Avenue

4.1%
Homeware & Home 
Furnishing

2.1%
Leisure & 
Entertainment, Sports & 
Fitness

23.5% Services, Education

10.5% Supermarket

1.4% Wet Markets

1.9% Others



PROVIDES
A SUSTAINABLE BUSINESS

PLATFORM FOR TENANTS





PROVIDES
A SUSTAINABLE BUSINESS

PLATFORM FOR TENANTS



 
 
 
 
 
 

I run a food stall at the food court  
of Fortune Metropolis.  

The food court was always busy  
during lunch time and business has  

been particularly well whenever there is a concert 

at the Hong Kong Coliseum. 

I LOOK FORWARD TO RESUMING  
MY BUSINESS AT THE FOOD COURT  

AFTER ITS RENOVATION AND  
CAN’T WAIT TO TRY OUT  

THE NEW APP THAT ALLOWS  
REMOTE FOOD ORDERING. 
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ADVERTISING AND PROMOTIONS

As market sentiment continued to improve throughout the year, we have leveraged 
on the Fortune Malls APP and social media strategies to support our tenants 
through a series of sales-driven marketing campaigns, including gifts redemptions, 
top spender competitions, lucky draws and coupons rewards. The campaigns  
have successfully encouraged customer spending and increased the traf fic at 
Fortune Malls.

Summer campaign

Fortune City One Wet Market 
Redemption Program

Education Open Days at  
+WOO & Fortune Metropolis 

207mm



19

Fo
rtune R

eal E
state Investm

ent Trust

Chinese New Year Event

Sales-driven campaigns - Lucky Draw

X’mas Campaign

210mm

Advertising and Promotions
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OUR BRAND

FORTUNE IN YOUR 
EVERYDAY LIFE

Fortune Malls believes everyone should 
have a place where they belong. To 
achieve this, we offer a warm and 

comfortable environment, with a few 
thoughtful and surprising touches, so 
our shoppers can take a comfortable 
break from the bustle of urban life.

AN ADDED DIMENSION  
TO DAILY SHOPPING

More than a spot for daily shopping, Fortune 
Malls provides venues for the neighbourhood 
to enjoy their weekends and holidays. Festive 

promotional activities and incentive campaigns 
are often arranged to make the shopping 
experience at Fortune Malls memorable, 

rewarding and always fun.

THE FORTUNE MALLS LOGO
Fortune Malls shares the identity of the “red planet” 

icon as its master brand — Fortune REIT. The portrayal 
of a “small planet on a big planet” represents the 
idea of “sharing your world”. Fortune Malls leads 

the brand with a new purple colour, which expresses 
a sense of welcoming and warmth to the identity. 
Different colours of Portfolio Malls embrace the 
unique ambience and feeling of individual malls.
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Our Brand

FLAGSHIP MALLS

PORTFOLIO MALLS
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ASSET ENHANCEMENT INITIATIVES

Relocated the escalator to strategic 
posit ion and addit ion of big TV 
screen for tenants and shoppers

BEFORE AEIs

With the use of green fitting out 
elements, the refurbished corridor 
on 2/F will lead our shoppers to the 
brand new outdoor child play area 
with family friendly amenities

BEFORE AEIs

+WOO, an iconic shopping mall in Tin Shui Wai, has revitalized 
Phase 1 and extended AEIs to Phase 2 in 2021. To elevate shopping 
experience, +WOO Phase 2 will be upgraded with an enhanced layout 
and inclusive facilities while infusing interactive digital touches and 

recreational elements, making it a desirable destination for shoppers of all ages.

AFTER AEIs

AFTER AEIs
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Asset Enhancement Initiatives (AEIs)

Redefining dining experience for 
customers wi th enhanced and 
polished layouts

BEFORE AEIs

T h o u g h t f u l l y  r e d e s i g n e d w i t h 
a contemporary ambience,  the 
entrance has been refreshed along 
with the installation of automated 
food ordering system

BEFORE AEIs

As a popular dining dest inat ion nex t to Hung Hom 
MTR interchange station for more than a decade, the 
15,000 Sq. ft. food court is fully revamped with a modern 
outlook and a holistic redefinition of dining experience 
with expanded food offerings, a smart food ordering system and rejuvenated seating area.

AFTER AEIs

AFTER AEIs
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FORTUNE REIT’S PORTFOLIO

NEW TERRITORIES

LANTAU ISLAND

KOWLOON

HONG KONG

2

1

7

21 7

8

15
16

5

11

10

4

13

6
14

12

9

3
Portfolio at A Glance

Fortune REIT currently holds a portfolio of 16 private housing estate retail properties in Hong Kong, comprising of 3.0 million sq.ft. 
of retail space and 2,713 car parking spaces.

As at
31 December 2021 Location

Gross
Rentable 

Area
(Sq.ft.) Occupancy

Number 
of Car

Parking 
Lots

Valuation
(HK$ million)

Purchase 
Price

(HK$ million)

1 Fortune City One Shatin 414,469 98.5% 653 8,178 2,559

2 +WOO Tin Shui Wai 665,244 86.7% 622 7,868 5,849

3 Ma On Shan Plaza Shatin 310,084 99.7% 290 5,741 934

4 Metro Town Tseung Kwan O 180,822 95.3% 74 3,673 1,452

5 Belvedere Square Tsuen Wan 276,862 97.9% 329 2,526 1,250

6 Laguna Plaza Kwun Tong 163,203 99.8% 150 2,512 1,919

7 Fortune Metropolis Hung Hom 332,168 83.2% 179 2,469 1,464

8 Waldorf Avenue Tuen Mun 80,842 100% 73 1,777 400

9 Caribbean Square Tung Chung 63,018 100% 117 1,196 428

10 Jubilee Square Shatin 170,616 98.3% 97 926 218

11 Tsing Yi Square Tsing Yi 78,836 99.1% 27 827 230

12 Smartland Tsuen Wan 123,544 99.3% 67 814 258

13 Centre de Laguna Kwun Tong 43,000 99.5% N.A. 330 135

14 Hampton Loft West Kowloon 74,734 100% 35 318 159

15 Lido Avenue Tsuen Wan 9,836 100% N.A. 211 75

16 Rhine Avenue Tsuen Wan 14,604 100% N.A. 134 40

Total/ 
Overall Average 3,001,882 94.3% 2,713 39,500 17,370



NEW TERRITORIES

LANTAU ISLAND

KOWLOON

HONG KONG
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3

Fortune  
City One +WOO Fortune  

Metropolis

3 Ma On Shan Plaza 4 Metro Town 5 Belvedere Square

6 Laguna Plaza 8 Waldorf Avenue 9 Caribbean Square

10 Jubilee Square 11 Tsing Yi Square 12 Smartland

13 Centre de Laguna 14 Hampton Loft

15 Lido Avenue 16 Rhine Avenue
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1
FORTUNE CITY ONE, located in Shatin, New Territories 

and south of the Shing Mun River, is the commercial 

constituent of the 10,642-unit City One Shatin residential 

development. The City One Shatin residential development 

was completed in the 1980s and is one of the largest residential developments in Hong Kong. 

Fortune City One serves the daily needs of the local City One Shatin residents, as well as residents 

from other developments in the vicinity. The catchment population consists of young families, 

students and workers in the area.

Fortune City One can be easily accessed by private and public transportation. It is strategically 

located near City One MTR Station and in close proximity to the Sha Tin MTR Station.



27

Fo
rtune R

eal E
state Investm

ent Trust

MALL FEATURES

Completed in 1981-1989

414,469 Sq.ft. Total GRA

City One MTR Station

27,532 Sq.ft Wet Market

Fortune City One Piazza

653 Parking Lots
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+WOO is located in Tin Shui Wai, Yuen Long, New Territories, one 

of the biggest new towns in Hong Kong. Being the largest shopping 

center in Tin Shui Wai, the property serves a catchment of close 

to 288,000 people, the hotel residents of the 1,102-room Harbour 

Plaza Resort City, as well as visitors from Mainland China due to its 

close proximity to the border. +WOO is located only 15 minutes 

away from the Wetland Park via Light Rail Transit, which is a key 

tourist spot for both local and overseas visitors.

2
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MALL FEATURES

Completed in 1999

665,244 Sq.ft. Total GRA

Tin Shui Wai MTR Station

Over 40 Loading/Unloading Bays

Largest Supermarket in Tin Shui Wai

Adjoining 2 Hotel Towers

Near Wetland Park

622 Parking Lots

4-house Cineplex
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MA ON SHAN PLAZA is located in Ma On Shan, 

Shatin, New Territories, which is a well-established new 

town, and home to about 206,000 people.

Ma On Shan Plaza is directly connected to Ma On Shan MTR Station and is easily accessible by 

public transportation with bus terminals, a public light bus terminal, and a taxi waiting area. Ma 

On Shan Plaza is part of the 1,102-unit Bayshore Towers residential complex and is linked to the 

adjacent 4,760-unit Sunshine City residential development, as well as the 5.5-hectare Ma On Shan 

Park, by a number of covered footbridges.

3
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MALL FEATURES

Completed in 1994

310,084 Sq.ft. Total GRA

Ma On Shan MTR Station

Adjoining Ma On Shan Park

Hong Kong’s Only Indoor  

Merry-go-round

290 Parking Lots
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4 Metro Town

14 Hampton Loft

8 Waldorf Avenue 7 Fortune Metropolis

15 Lido Avenue

11 Tsing Yi Square

5 Belvedere Square



Fortune REIT’s Portfolio
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12 Smartland

6 Laguna Plaza

16 Rhine Avenue

10 Jubilee Square

13 Centre de Laguna

9 Caribbean Square



ENRICHING
SHOPPING EXPERIENCE

WITH TECHNOLOGY



SHOPPING EXPERIENCE



ENRICHING
SHOPPING EXPERIENCE

WITH TECHNOLOGY



SHOPPING EXPERIENCE

 
 
 

I am a property officer  
with the +WOO management team.

Managing one of the flagship Fortune 
Malls, my team is tasked to roll out 

building automation and energy saving 
initiatives at +WOO.  

In 2021, a cleaning robot and  
customer service robot  

have joined our workforce. 

THE ROBOTS NOT ONLY  
PROVIDE US GREAT HELP  

BUT ALSO OFFER SO MUCH JOY  
TO CUSTOMERS.



36

A
nnual R

ep
o

rt 2021

ACHIEVEMENTS AND AWARDS

Fortune REIT strives to maintain a close relationship with our stakeholders via 
effective two-way communication. In 2021, the Manager’s continuous efforts in 
corporate governance, corporation communication, and corporate sustainability 
were widely recognized by the capital markets, and the REIT was accredited with 
a number of awards.

207mm
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Achievements and Awards

  2021 Global Real Estate  
Sustainability Benchmark

• 5 Star Rating

• Top in Eastern Asia Retail – Listed category

  Hong Kong Sustainability Awards

–  Hong Kong Management Association –

• Certificate of Excellence

  Greater Bay Area Corporate 
Sustainability Awards 2021
–  Metro Finance and the HKQAA –

• Environmental Sustainability Awards (Climate 
Action)

• Social Sustainability Awards (Industry,  
Innovation and Infrastructure)

  BDO ESG Awards 2021

–  BDO Limited –

• Best in Reporting (Mid-Cap)

  CarbonCare® ESG Label

–  CarbonCare InnoLab –

  10 Years Plus Caring Company Logo

–  Hong Kong Council of Social Service –

  Outstanding Listed Company  
Award 2021
– The Hong Kong Institute of Financial Analysts and 
Professional Commentators Limited –

  Ranked World’s Top 100 and Won  
2 Grand, 1 Platinum, 5 Golds  
Awards for Annual Report at

• 2021 International ARC Awards

• 2020 Vision Awards

• Mercury Excellence Awards 2020/2021

• HKMA Best Annual Report Awards

  HKIRA 7th Investor Relations Awards

– Hong Kong Investor Relations Association –

Top honor

• Overall Best IR Company Award (Mid Cap)

10 award categories

• Best IR by CEO – Ms. Justina Chiu (Mid Cap)

• Best IR by CFO – Ms. Yuki Ng (Mid Cap)

• Best IRO – Ms. Jenny Hung (Mid Cap)

• Best IR Team (Mid Cap)

• Best IR Company (Mid Cap)

• Best Annual Report (Mid Cap)

• Best Investor Meeting (Mid Cap)

• Best Investor Presentation Material (Mid Cap)

• Best ESG (S) (Mid Cap)

• Best ESG (G) (Mid Cap)

Corporate Governance

Corporate Communication

Corporate Sustainability

210mm
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for corporate governance and the overall management 
of the Manager, including establishing goals for management and monitoring the 
achievement of these goals.

Chui Sing Loi 
(alias Tsui Sing Loi)

Yeung, Eirene

Cheng Ai Phing

Chiu Kwok Hung, Justin

Ma Lai Chee, Gerald

Yeo Annie 
(alias Yeo May Ann)

Lim Hwee Chiang

Chiu Yu, Justina

Koh Poh Wah
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Board of Directors and Senior Management

Board of Directors

Chui Sing Loi (alias Tsui Sing Loi)
Chairman and Independent Non-Executive Director

Chiu Kwok Hung, Justin
Non-Executive Director

Mr. Chui, aged 73, has been appointed as an Independent 
Non-Executive Director, the Chairman of the Board and a 
member of the Audit Committee of the Manager from 1 
January 2017. Before joining the Manager, Mr. Chui was 
an engineer and a civil servant involved in the development 
of Singapore Changi Airport from the start to its opening in 
1981. He headed the Mechanical and Electrical Branch of 
Changi Airport Development Division of the Public Works 
Department and took part in the setting up of Indeco Engineers 
Pte. Ltd. (“IEPL”), a government-owned company for the 
management of the new airport’s engineering facilities. He 
was subsequently released from the civil service to take up 
the position of Deputy General Manager of IEPL, and later 
its General Manager. Within a few years, IEPL had expanded 
to include facilities management of Singapore’s largest two 
hospitals; and the supply and installation of building services 
systems to Singapore’s mass rapid transit stations and to 
China World Trade Centre in Beijing.

Mr. Chui was a Project Manager to head its multi-disciplinary 
project management team of Suntec City Development 
Pte. Ltd. from June 1992 to December 1997 which directly 
managed the development of Suntec City, the largest 
commercial development in Singapore at that time.

Mr. Chui was involved in project and facilities management in 
the development projects such as Thomson 800, Costa Del 
Sol, Cairnhill Crest, One Raffles Quay and Marina Bay Financial 
Centre. One Raffles Quay and Marina Bay Financial Centre are 
mega developments comprising prime offices, retail spaces, 
and luxurious apartments in Singapore’s new business 
district.

Mr. Chui has extensive professional experience in property 
development, investment and facility management. He was 
awarded the Public Service Medal (Bronze) for his efforts in the 
development of Singapore Changi Airport.

Mr. Chui holds a Bachelor degree of Science (Engineering) 
from The University of Hong Kong.

Dr. Chiu, aged 71, has been the Chairman and a Director of 
the Manager since the Manager’s incorporation in 2003. 
He stepped down as the Chairman of the Manager on  
1 January 2017 and remains as a Non-Executive Director 
of the Manager. Dr. Chiu is also the Chairman of ARA Asset 
Management (Prosperity) Limited (the manager of Prosperity 
REIT, listed on the Main Board of the SEHK) and a Non-
executive Director of ESR Cayman Limited (listed on the 
Main Board of the SEHK), which indirectly owns 100% of the 
Manager.

Dr. Chiu is a Fellow of The Royal Institution of Chartered 
Surveyors, a Council Member and a Fellow of The Hong 
Kong Institute of Directors, a Fellow of Hong Kong Institute 
of Real Estate Administrators, a Vice Chairman of the 
Board of Governors of Hong Kong Baptist University 
Foundation, an Honorary Associate Member of Business of 
Trent University, Canada and a member of the Singapore 
Management University’s International Advisory Council in 
China. Dr. Chiu is an Adjunct Professor and a member of the 
Advisory Committee of the School of Business of Hong Kong 
Baptist University and a Senior Departmental Fellow of the 
Department of Land Economy at University of Cambridge, 
the United Kingdom. Dr. Chiu was previously an Honorary 
Professor of School of Pharmaceutical Sciences of Sun Yat-
sen University and a member of the Standing Committee of 
the 12th Shanghai Committee of the Chinese People’s Political 
Consultative Conference of the People’s Republic of China.

Dr. Chiu has more than 40 years of international experience 
in real estate in Hong Kong and overseas and is one of the 
most respected professionals in the property industry in Asia. 
Dr. Chiu joined the CK Group in 1997, and is an Executive 
Director and an Executive Committee member of CK Asset 
Holdings Limited (“CK Asset”), a company listed on the Main 
Board of the SEHK, heading the real estate sales, marketing 
and property management teams. Prior to joining the CK 
Group, Dr. Chiu was with Sino Land Company Limited from 
1994 to 1997 and Hang Lung Development Company, Limited 
(now known as Hang Lung Group Limited) from 1979 to 
1994 where he was responsible for the leasing and property 
management in both companies. Both Sino Land Company 
Limited and Hang Lung Group Limited are listed on the Main 
Board of the SEHK.

Dr. Chiu holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in Sociology and 
Economics from Trent University, Canada and a degree of 
Doctor of Business Administration from Hong Kong Baptist 
University, and was conferred with the degree of Doctor 
of Social Sciences, honoris causa by Hong Kong Baptist 
University and the degree of Doctor of Laws, honoris causa by 
Trent University, Canada. Dr. Chiu is the father of Ms. Chiu Yu, 
Justina, a Director of the Manager.



40

A
nnual R

ep
o

rt 2021

Yeung, Eirene
Non-Executive Director

Lim Hwee Chiang
Non-Executive Director

Ms. Yeung, aged 61, has been a Director of the Manager since 
2003. She is a member of the Disclosures Committee of the 
Manager. Ms. Yeung is also an Executive Committee member, 
the Company Secretary, General Manager of Company 
Secretarial Department and a member of the Sustainability 
Committee of CK Asset. She is also the Company Secretary 
and Alternate Director to the Group Managing Director of 
CK Infrastructure Holdings Limited (“CK Infrastructure”) and 
the Company Secretary of CK Life Sciences Int’l., (Holdings) 
Inc. (“CK Life Sciences”).

Ms. Yeung joined the CK Group in 1994. She advises the Board 
on corporate strategy, and currently heads the corporate legal 
and secretarial team that oversees listing, regulatory and 
origination compliance, and advises and drives mergers and 
acquisitions, property investments and acquisitions, securities 
placement and investments, private equity investment, 
fund investment, bond and note issue and other financing 
exercises, as well as derivative and swap transactions and 
investment in structured products. CK Asset, CK Infrastructure 
and CK Life Sciences are listed on the Main Board of the SEHK.

Ms. Yeung has been a solicitor of the High Court of the Hong 
Kong Special Administrative Region (“HKSAR”) from 1986 and 
a non-practising solicitor of the Senior Courts of England and 
Wales from 1990.

Ms. Yeung is a member of the Main Board and GEM Listing 
Review Committees of SEHK, Deputy Chairperson of the 
General Committee of The Chamber of Hong Kong Listed 
Companies and a member of the Personal Data (Privacy) 
Advisory Committee. Ms. Yeung was a member of the Listing 
Committee of the Main Board and GEM of the SEHK and a 
member of the Advisory Committee on Corruption of the 
Independent Commission Against Corruption.

Ms. Yeung is a fellow member of The Hong Kong Chartered 
Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance 
Institute. She holds a Master of Science degree in Finance, a 
Master’s degree in Business Administration from The Chinese 
University of Hong Kong, and a Bachelor’s degree in Laws from 
The University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Lim, aged 65, has been a Director of the Manager since the 
Manager’s incorporation in 2003. Mr. Lim is the Chairman of 
JL Family Office. He is the Senior Advisor and Non-executive 
Director of ESR Cayman Limited (listed on the Main Board of 
the SEHK), which indirectly owns 100% of the Manager. He 
serves as a Non-executive Director of ARA Trust Management 
(Suntec) Limited (the manager of Suntec REIT which is listed 
in Singapore), ARA Asset Management (Prosperity) Limited 
and Hui Xian Asset Management Limited (the managers of 
Prosperity REIT and Hui Xian REIT which are listed in Hong 
Kong).

Mr. Lim is Chairman of the Asia Pacific Real Assets 
Association (APREA) and the Consultative Committee to the 
Department of Real Estate, National University of Singapore. 
He is also a Patron of the Securities Investors Association of 
Singapore (SIAS) and a Council Member of Singapore Chinese 
Chamber of Commerce and Industry.

Mr. Lim co-founded ARA Asset Management in 2002 and 
was its Group CEO for 18 years and Deputy Chairman from 
February 2021 to January 2022.

Mr. Lim has over 40 years of experience in the real estate 
industry and has received many notable corporate awards. 
These include the PERE Global Awards 2020 and 2016 
Industry Figure of the Year: Asia, Ernst & Young Entrepreneur 
Of the Year Singapore 2012 and the Outstanding CEO of the 
Year 2011 at the Singapore Business Awards 2012. Mr Lim, 
along with the Board of Directors of ARA, was a recipient 
of the prestigious Best Managed Board (Gold) Award at the 
Singapore Corporate Awards 2012. In 2017, he was conferred 
the Public Service Medal (PBM) by the President of Singapore 
in recognition of his contributions to the community.

Mr. Lim holds a Bachelor of Engineering (First Class Honours) 
in Mechanical Engineering, a Master of Science in Industrial 
Engineering, as well as a Diploma in Business Administration, 
each from the National University of Singapore.
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Board of Directors and Senior Management

Ma Lai Chee, Gerald
Non-Executive Director

Mr. Ma, aged 54, has been appointed a Director and a member 
of the Designated Committee of the Manager since June 2015 
and was an Alternate Director to a Director of the Manager, 
Mr. Ip Tak Chuen, Edmond, from April 2008 to May 2015. Mr. 
Ma joined the CK Group in 1996 and is currently an Executive 
Committee member & General Manager, Corporate Business 
Development Department of CK Asset. He also serves as 
a Non-Executive Director and a member of the Designated 
(Finance) Committee of ARA Asset Management (Prosperity) 
Limited (the manager of Prosperity REIT). Mr. Ma is an 
Alternate Director to Mr. Lai Kai Ming, Dominic, Non-Executive 
Director of Hutchison Telecommunications Hong Kong 
Holdings Limited (“HTHKH”). He was the Vice Chairman and 
Non-executive Director of Goldin Financial Holdings Limited 
(“Goldin”) from 23 July 2020 to 9 October 2020. CK Asset, 
Prosperity REIT, HTHKH and Goldin are listed on the Main 
Board of the SEHK.

Mr. Ma has over 30 years of management experience in 
different industries. He is a member of the Hospitality Services 
Committee of Caritas Hong Kong. He is also a member of the 
President’s Circle, the Dean’s Advisory Board for the Faculty of 
Arts and the Faculty Advisory Board of the UBC Sauder School 
of Business of the University of British Columbia, Canada. He 
holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree in Finance and a Master 
of Arts degree in Global Business Management.

Chiu Yu, Justina
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

Ms. Chiu, aged 41, has been appointed the Chief Executive 
Officer of the Manager since February 2015 and an Executive 
Director of the Manager since 2010. She was employed by the 
Manager from 2008.

She is also a Responsible Officer and the Chairman of each 
of the Disclosures Committee, the Designated Committee 
and the Sustainability Committee of the Manager. She is 
responsible for the overall performance and direction of 
Fortune REIT. Prior to her current appointments, she was the 
Deputy Chief Executive Officer of the Manager responsible 
for day-to-day management of Fortune REIT from 2010 to 1 
February 2015 and the Chief Operating Officer of the Manager 
overseeing strategic planning, investment, asset management 
and investor relations from 2009 to 2010.

Ms. Chiu holds a Master of Science degree in Real Estate 
Economics and Finance, a Bachelor of Science degree in 
Accounting and Finance, a Postgraduate Certificate in Laws 
and a Postgraduate Diploma in Law. She is also a solicitor of 
the High Court of the HKSAR, a CFA Charterholder, a member 
of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and 
a fellow member of the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors. 
Ms. Chiu is the daughter of Dr. Chiu Kwok Hung, Justin, a Non-
Executive Director of the Manager.
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Yeo Annie (alias Yeo May Ann)
Independent Non-Executive Director

Cheng Ai Phing
Independent Non-Executive Director

Ms. Yeo, aged 75, has been appointed as an Independent Non-
Executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee of 
the Manager from 1 February 2017.

Ms. Yeo was previously engaged as a consultant from 2009 
to 2011 for Joonghak PFV in respect of its mixed office/
commercial property development in Seoul, Korea, and the 
director and chief executive officer of Property Enterprises 
Development Pte. Ltd. and its associated companies from 
1995 to 2005. Ms. Yeo was also a director of Hunwin 
Enterprises (S) Pte. Ltd., a supplier of hotel amenities in Asia, 
from 1983 to 2015.

Ms. Yeo currently holds various positions with governmental 
and religious bodies in Singapore. She is the treasurer of the 
Women Executive Committee of the People’s Association, 
Cairnhill Community Club and a member of the Finance 
Ministry of the Covenant Community Methodist Church.

Ms. Yeo has extensive professional experience in property 
development and investment management. 

Ms. Yeo holds a Bachelor degree of Economics (Honours) 
from the National University of Singapore and had completed 
the Advanced Management Programme at the Harvard 
Graduate School of Business.

Ms. Cheng, aged 64, has been appointed as an Independent 
Non-Executive Director, the Chairman of the Audit Committee, 
a member of the Disclosures Committee and Designated 
Committee of the Manager from 1 January 2017. She is also 
an Independent Director of Citibank Singapore Limited and 
Chairman of its Audit Committee, as well as an independent 
Director of KBS US Prime Property Management Pte. Ltd, the 
Manager of Prime US REIT listed in Singapore. Ms. Cheng 
is also an External Member of The Asian Infrastructure 
Investment Bank Audit & Risk Committee.

Ms. Cheng was a Senior Partner in Assurance at a Big 
Four International Accounting Firm for 36 years before her 
retirement in 2015. During her career with the Firm, she was 
the Firm’s Country Leader for Global Financial Services, Real 
Estates, Public Sector and Banking and Complex Financial 
Instruments and served large listed and non-listed domestic 
and international clients in those industries. Ms. Cheng was 
also the Chairman of the Firm’s Governance Committee for 
several years up to her retirement. Ms. Cheng is a Fellow 
Chartered Accountant of The Institute of Singapore Chartered 
Accountants (“ISCA”) and a Fellow of CPA Australia.

Ms. Cheng currently sits on various governmental bodies 
and professional associations in Singapore. She is a member 
of The Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority- 
Financial Reporting Technical Advisory Panel, a member of 
the SGX Disciplinary Committee and a member of SGX Appeal 
Committee. From 2012, Ms. Cheng has been appointed as a 
member of the Financial Reporting Committee of ISCA. Ms. 
Cheng holds a Bachelor of Accountancy degree from the 
University of Singapore.



43

Fo
rtune R

eal E
state Investm

ent Trust

Board of Directors and Senior Management

Koh Poh Wah
Independent Non-Executive Director

Ms. Koh, aged 65, has been appointed as Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Manager from 1 August 2017. She is 
also a member of the Audit Committee of the Manager since 
2 May 2018. Ms. Koh is also an Independent non-executive 
director and member of the Audit Committee of HK Electric 
Investments Limited (listed on the SEHK) and HK Electric 
Investments Manager Limited as well as an Independent 
non-executive director and member of the Audit Committee 
of Power Assets Holdings Ltd (listed on the SEHK). She has 
more than 30 years of working experience in the areas of 
operations management, technology, financial and business 
re-engineering areas.

Ms. Koh was previously the Regional Accountant (Alpha Asia 
Pacific) of Alpha International, a non-profit organisation, from 
2012 to 2015, where she took full responsibility for the finance 
functions for Alpha Asia Pacific region, Alpha Singapore and 
AAP Publishing Pte. Ltd. Prior to Alpha International, she was 
a Director with Future Positive Pte. Ltd. working extensively 
on Information Technology/Business Re-engineering 
consultancy areas. Ms. Koh also spent 15 years in American 
International Assurance Co. Ltd. from 1986 to 2000, with her 
last position as Vice President — Quality Support & Operations 
Management. Prior to this role, Ms. Koh held various executive 
positions in Singapore Bus Service Co. Ltd., Singapore 
Computer Systems Co. Ltd. and Malvern & Co. Chartered 
Accountants (UK).

Ms. Koh holds a Master of Science in Management Science 
and Operational Research, a Bachelor of Arts Degree 
(Honours) in Accounting and a Diploma from Institute for the 
Management of Information Systems (previously known as 
Institute of Data Processing Management, UK). Ms. Koh is also 
a Fellow of Life Management Institute and an Associate of 
Customer Service for the Life Management Organization, USA.

Senior Management

Chiu Yu, Justina
Chief Executive Officer

Hung Yuen Chun
Director, Investments and Investor Relations

Ms. Chiu is the Chief Executive Officer of the Manager. 
Biographical information of Ms. Chiu is set out in the previous 
section of Board of Directors, of which she is a member. Ms. 
Chiu is responsible for working with the Board to determine 
the strategy for Fortune REIT. She is also responsible for the 
business of the Manager in Hong Kong including the day-
to-day operations of Fortune REIT, investment proposals, 
strategic planning and marketing.

Ms. Hung joined the Manager in 2006. She is the Director, 
Investments and Investor Relations and a Responsible Officer 
of the Manager. Ms. Hung is responsible for communicating 
and liaising with Unitholders and investors of Fortune REIT.

Ms. Hung is also responsible for identifying and evaluating 
potential acquisitions or divestments which are consistent 
with the Manager’s investment strategy.

Ms. Hung has more than 20 years of experience in the real 
estate industry with exposure to the Hong Kong and PRC 
markets. Prior to joining the Manager, Ms. Hung worked for 
CK Group for six years. Ms. Hung holds a Bachelor of Science 
degree in Surveying (First Class Honours) from the University 
of Hong Kong. She is a qualified General Practice Surveyor and 
an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors.
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 A BETTER FUTURE

I invested in Fortune REIT for  
its attractive yield and stable return.  

The three growth strategies of yield accretive 
acquisition, active leasing management and proactive 

asset enhancement, has worked well for the REIT. 

AS THE FIRST AND ONLY HK REIT  
TO HAVE ACHIEVED THE HIGHEST  

5 STAR GRESB RATING, THE REIT’S EFFORT 
IN SUSTAINABILITY IS PARTICULARLY 

ASSURING TO INVESTORS FOR MAKING 
RESPONSIBLE INVESTMENT. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE POLICIES

With the objective of establishing and maintaining high 
standards of corporate governance, certain policies and 
procedures have been put in place to promote the operation 
of Fortune REIT in a transparent manner and with built-
in checks and balances. The Manager has adopted a 
compliance manual (“Compliance Manual”) which sets out 
the key processes, systems, measures, and certain corporate 
governance policies and procedures applicable for governing 
the management and operation of Fortune REIT and for 
compliance with the applicable Hong Kong regulations and 
legislation.

Fortune REIT is a real estate investment trust listed on the 
SEHK. Fortune REIT and/or the Manager are subject to the 
applicable laws, rules and regulations in Hong Kong (the 
“Applicable Rules”), including the code provisions set out in 
the “Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance 
Report” (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules 
Governing the Listing of Securities on the SEHK (the “Listing 
Rules”).

The CG Code has been amended and renamed as the 
“Corporate Governance Code” with effect from 1 January 
2022. As this corporate governance report covers the year 
ended 31 December 2021, all the corporate governance 
principles and code provisions mentioned herein refer to those 
stated in the CG Code, instead of the amended “Corporate 
Governance Code”.

The Manager confirms that Fortune REIT and the Manager 
have in material terms complied with the provisions of the 
Compliance Manual and have adhered to the principles and 
guidelines set out in the CG Code which are applicable to 
Fortune REIT and/or the Manager throughout the Reporting 
Year and have provided explanations in cases of deviations 
(if any) in this report. In addition, Fortune REIT and/or the 
Manager have adhered to the relevant laws and regulations 

that have a significant impact, including Employment 
Ordinance, Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance, Minimum Wage 
Ordinance, Occupational Health and Safety Ordinance, and 
Competition Ordinance and there was no incidence of non-
compliance of the relevant laws and regulations that have a 
significant impact on Fortune REIT during the Reporting Year. 
Set out below is a summary of the key components of the 
corporate governance policies that have been adopted and 
complied with by the Manager and/or Fortune REIT.

During the Reporting Period, the Compliance Manual and the 
Trust Deed have been amended to reflect the amendments 
to the Code on Real Estate Investment Trusts (the “REIT 
Code”) gazetted and announced by the Securities and Future 
Commission of Hong Kong (“SFC”) on 4 December 2020 (the 
“REIT Code Amendments”), including:

(i) investments by REITs in minority-owned properties;

(ii) the requirements applicable to non-core investments of 
Fortune REIT;

(iii) connected  par ty  t ransact ions  and  not i f iab le 
transactions of Fortune REIT;

(iv) the change in the borrowing limit;

(v) miscellaneous REIT Code Amendments;

(vi) the publication and distribution deadline for annual 
reports and interim reports and the deadline for holding 
annual general meetings, and other miscellaneous 
amendments; and

(vii) the change in the property development cap from 10% 
to up to 25% of the gross asset value of deposited 
property.

The Board resolves to continue adhering to the highest standards of corporate 
governance, business ethics, and corporate social responsibility, thus ensuring 
solid leadership is in place for creating long-term returns for its stakeholders.

207mm

INVESTOR
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Corporate Governance Policies

Authorisation Structure

Fortune REIT is a collective investment scheme authorised 
by the SFC under Section 104 of the Securities and Futures 
Ordinance (Cap. 571) (the “SFO”) and regulated by the 
provisions of the REIT Code.

The Manager is licensed by the SFC to conduct the regulated 
activity of asset management (Type 9) under Part V of the SFO. 
Ms. Chiu Yu, Justina, Ms. Hung Yuen Chun and Ms. Ng Yuk 
Ting are the Responsible Officers of the Manager pursuant to 
Chapter 5.4 of the REIT Code of which Ms. Chiu Yu, Justina 
is also an Executive Director of the Manager pursuant to the 
requirements of Section 125 of the SFO.

The Trustee, HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Asia) Limited 
is qualified to act as a trustee for collective investment 
schemes authorised under the SFO pursuant to the REIT Code.

Roles of the Trustee and the Manager

The Trustee and the Manager are independent of each other. 
The Trustee is responsible under the Trust Deed for the 
safe custody of the assets of Fortune REIT on behalf of the 
Unitholders. The Manager’s role under the Trust Deed is to 
manage Fortune REIT in accordance with the Trust Deed and, 
in particular, to ensure that the financial and economic aspects 
of the assets of Fortune REIT are professionally managed 
in the sole interest of the Unitholders. The Manager gives 
recommendations to the Trustee on acquisitions, divestments 
and enhancement of the assets of Fortune REIT in accordance 
with the stated investment strategy of Fortune REIT.

Board of Directors of the Manager

The Board is responsible for corporate governance and the 
overall management of the Manager including establishing 
goals for management and monitoring the achievement 
of these goals. All Board members participate in matters 
relating to corporate governance, business operations and 
risks, environment, social and governance (“ESG”), financial 
performance and nomination and review of the performance 
of the directors of the Manager (the “Directors”). The Board 
has established a framework for the management of Fortune 
REIT and the Manager, including a system of internal controls 
and business risk management processes.

The Board meets to review the Manager’s key activities. 
Board meetings are held once every quarter (or more often if 
necessary) to discuss and review the strategies and policies 
of Fortune REIT, including any significant acquisitions and 
disposals, annual budget, financial performance of Fortune 
REIT and to approve the release of the financial results. The 
Board also reviews the risks to Fortune REIT’s assets, and acts 
upon any comments from the auditor of Fortune REIT (the 
“Auditor”). Ad-hoc Board meetings will be held, as and when 
necessary, to address significant transactions or issues that 
may arise in between scheduled meetings. In lieu of physical 
meetings, written resolutions may also be circulated for 
approval by the Board.

The Board also reviews major financial decisions and 
the performance of the Manager. Subject to the matters 
specifically reserved for the Board as set out in the Compliance 
Manual such as to approve any significant acquisitions and 
disposals, the annual budget and the release of financial 
results, the Board delegates day-to-day management and 
certain supervisory functions to the relevant management 
teams and the committees of the Board.

210mm
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The Board presently comprises nine members, eight of whom 
are Non-Executive Directors. Four of the Non-Executive 
Directors are Independent Non-Executive Directors (“INEDs”). 
The composition of the Board is determined on the following 
principles:

• the Chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”) shall be a 
Non-Executive Director;

• the Board shall comprise Directors with a broad range 
of commercial experience including expertise in fund 
management and the experience in property industry; 
and

• at least one-third of the Board should comprise INEDs, 
with a minimum of three INEDs.

The Board comprises of persons who as a group provide 
core competencies, such as business and management 
experience, finance, legal and fund management experience 
necessary and critical to meet the Manager’s objectives. 
This also enables management to benefit from the in-
depth knowledge of the Directors who collectively possess 
the core competencies relevant to the direction and growth 
of Fortune REIT and its subsidiaries (the “Group”). The 
Board is responsible for the review of its structure, size and 
composition as well as new appointment of Directors from 
time to time to ensure that the Board has the appropriate mix 
of expertise and experience in order to achieve a balance of 
skills, experience and diversity of perspectives, including but 
not limited to gender, age, cultural, educational background 
and professional experience.

The Non-Executive Directors contribute to the Board process 
by monitoring and reviewing management’s performance 
against goals and objectives of Fortune REIT and/or the 
Manager. Their views and opinions provide alternate 
perspectives to Fortune REIT’s business. When reviewing 
management’s proposals or decisions, they bring independent 
judgement to bear on business activities and transactions, 
particularly in circumstances involving conflicts of interest and 
complexities.

The independence of Directors is reviewed at the time of 
their appointment and thereafter the Board also reviews the 
independence of INEDs annually based on the independence 
criteria set out in the Compliance Manual (the “Independence 
Criteria”) and the Applicable Rules.

The Board has received written annual confirmations from Mr. 
Chui Sing Loi (alias Tsui Sing Loi), Ms. Cheng Ai Phing, Ms. Yeo 
Annie (alias Yeo May Ann) and Ms. Koh Poh Wah confirming 
his/her independence pursuant to the Independence Criteria 
for the year ended 31 December 2021. The Board has 
determined that all present INEDs (who are Mr. Chui Sing Loi 
(alias Tsui Sing Loi), Ms. Cheng Ai Phing, Ms. Yeo Annie (alias 
Yeo May Ann) and Ms. Koh Poh Wah) are independent in 
character and judgement and that there are no relationships 
or circumstances which are likely to affect or could appear 
to affect their judgement and no individual or small group of 
individuals dominates the Board’s decision-making process.

The Board considered Mr. Chui Sing Loi (alias Tsui Sing Loi), 
Ms. Cheng Ai Phing, Ms. Yeo Annie (alias Yeo May Ann) and 
Ms. Koh Poh Wah are independent from management and 
business relationships with the Manager and Fortune REIT 
and independent from the substantial shareholder of the 
Manager and substantial Unitholder of Fortune REIT. All INEDs 
have not served on the Board for 9 years or more.

Although the Directors have other listed company board 
representations and principal commitments, the Board 
has determined, during an assessment of the Board’s 
performance, that each of the individual Directors has devoted 
sufficient time and attention to their role as Directors and to 
the business of the Manager and Fortune REIT. The Board is 
of the view that such appointments do not hinder the Directors 
from carrying out their duties as Directors of the Manager and 
therefore believes that it would not be necessary to prescribe 
a maximum number of listed company board representations 
and principal commitments that a Director may hold.
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The positions of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) 
are held by two different persons in order to maintain an 
effective segregation of duties. The Chairman of the Board is 
Mr. Chui Sing Loi (alias Tsui Sing Loi) who is an INED. The CEO 
is Ms. Chiu Yu, Justina, who is also an Executive Director and 
a Responsible Officer of the Manager. Ms. Chiu Yu, Justina is 
the daughter of Dr. Chiu Kwok Hung, Justin, a Non-Executive 
Director of the Manager.

The Chairman leads Board discussions and deliberations 
and is responsible for setting the meeting agenda of Board 
meetings. He ensures that Board meetings are held when 
necessary. He promotes high standards of corporate 
governance and maintains effective communication with 
the Unitholders. The CEO is responsible for the day-to-day 
management of the Manager and Fortune REIT. She executes 
the strategic plans set out by the Board and ensures that the 
Directors are kept updated and informed of Fortune REIT’s 
business via management reports.

All Directors are provided with regular updates on changes 
in the relevant laws and regulations to enable them to 
make informed decisions in discharging their duties and 
responsibilities. Directors are encouraged to participate in 
appropriate continuous professional development to develop 
and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their 
contributions to the Board remain informed and relevant. The 
Manager provides Directors with information on the relevant 
training courses, arranges and funds their training as and 
when required and their attendance records of training will be 
kept and provided to the Manager where the Applicable Rules 
apply. Structured induction/orientation/training opportunities 
are provided to the Directors through initiatives such as site 
visits, briefings at Board meetings and training workshops 
organised for Directors. During the Reporting Year, continuous 
professional development programmes were provided to 
all Directors. All directors are given formal appointment 
letters providing the terms of their appointment, duties and 
obligations.

The Board is of the view that there are sufficient safeguards 
and checks to ensure that the decision-making process of the 
Board is independent and based on the collective decision of 
Directors.

The Board regularly reviews the structure, size, composition 
and performance of the Board as well as the independence of 
Board members.

In considering persons for appointment or re-appointment 
as Directors, the Board will consider a number of factors 
to assess whether such persons are fit and proper to be 
Directors, including those set out in the Compliance Manual, 
such as (a) educational or other qualifications or experience 
having regard to the nature of the functions to be performed; 
(b) ability to carry out their duties competently, honestly and 
fairly; and (c) reputation, character, reliability and integrity.

The Manager believes that contributions from each Director 
go beyond his/her attendances at Board and Board committee 
meetings.

Management provides the Board with timely and adequate 
information on Board matters and issues requiring the Board’s 
deliberation. During the Reporting Year, Management also 
provided monthly updates to the Board on Fortune REIT’s 
performance. All Directors are also provided with ongoing 
reports relating to the operational and financial performance 
of Fortune REIT to enable them to exercise effective oversight 
over Fortune REIT’s operational and financial performance.

Board meetings for each year are scheduled in advance to 
facilitate Directors’ individual administrative arrangements 
in respect of their on-going commitments. Board papers are 
generally circulated at least three days in advance of each 
meeting and include background explanatory information 
to enable Directors to make informed decisions. Such 
explanatory information may also be in the form of briefings to 
Directors or formal presentations by senior management staff 
in attendance at Board meetings, or by external professionals.

During the Reporting Year, the Board had separate and 
independent access to the Company Secretary and to senior 
management staff at all times. The Company Secretary, or 
her authorised designate(s), attended the scheduled meetings 
of the Board and Board committees and prepared minutes of 
Board proceedings. She assists the Chairman to ensure that 
Board procedures are followed and are regularly reviewed to 
ensure the effective functioning of the Board and compliance 
with relevant rules and regulations. The Company Secretary 
also assists the Chairman and the Board to implement and 
strengthen corporate governance practices and processes 
with a view to enhancing Unitholders’ value in the long-term.
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Where Directors require independent professional advice in 
the course of their duties, such advice will be provided at the 
Manager’s expense.

Subsequent to the publication of the Interim Report 2021 of 
Fortune REIT, the Manager received notifications regarding the 
following changes of Directors’ information:

• Dr. Chiu Kwok Hung, Justin was appointed as a director 
of ESR Cayman Limited (listed on the SEHK) on 20 
January 2022. Dr. Chiu was conferred with the degree 
of Doctor of Business Administration by the Hong 
Kong Baptist University in November 2021. Dr. Chiu 
was appointed as a member of the School of Business 
Advisory Committee of Hong Kong Baptist University 
and was re-appointed as Adjunct Professor at the 
School of Business of Hong Kong Baptist University for 
the period from 1 September 2021 to 31 August 2023 
and 1 September 2021 to 31 August 2024 respectively. 
Dr, Chiu’s appointment as Honorary Professor of School 
of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Sun Yat-Sen University has 
expired in November 2021;

• Mr. Lim Hwee Chiang was appointed as a director of 
ESR Cayman Limited (listed on the SEHK) and stepped 

down as the Chairman and Non-executive Director of 
LOGOS Group on 20 January 2022. Mr. Lim ceased to 
be a patron of the Jurong Spring Citizen’s Consultative 
Committee with effect from 1 July 2021;

• The appointment of Ms. Yeung, Eirene as a Member 
of the Advisory Committee on Corruption of the 
Independent Commission Against Corruption has 
expired in December 2021 and Ms. Yeung has 
been appointed as a Member of the Personal Data 
(Privacy) Advisory Committee for a period of two years 
commencing from 1 October 2021 to 30 September 
2023; and

• Ms. Cheng Ai Phing stepped down as a Member of the 
Accounting Standards Council of Singapore (“ASC”) on 
31 October 2021 after serving the full term of 6 years 
and also stepped down as Chairman of the Financial 
Instruments Working Group and Chairman of the 
Conceptual Framework Working Group of the ASC. Ms. 
Cheng was appointed as a Member of the Monetary 
Authority of Singapore Appeal Advisory Panels under 
Five MAS-administered Acts with effect from 1 October 
2021.

During the Reporting Year, four board meetings of the Manager were held and the attendance record of the Board meetings is as 
follows:

Members of the Board Attendance

Chairman and Independent 
Non-Executive Director

Mr. Chui Sing Loi (alias Tsui Sing Loi) 4/4

 

Non-Executive Directors Dr. Chiu Kwok Hung, Justin 4/4

Mr. Lim Hwee Chiang 4/4

Ms. Yeung, Eirene 4/4

Mr. Ma Lai Chee, Gerald 4/4
 

CEO and Executive Director Ms. Chiu Yu, Justina 4/4
 

Independent Non-Executive Directors Ms. Cheng Ai Phing 4/4

Ms. Yeo Annie (alias Yeo May Ann) 4/4

Ms. Koh Poh Wah 4/4
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Apart from the regular Board meetings, the Chairman had 
convened one meeting with the INEDs without the presence of 
Executive Directors during the Reporting Year.

Audit Committee

The Board has established an Audit Committee with 
clear terms of reference to assist it in discharging its 
responsibilities. The role of the Audit Committee is to, 
among other things, safeguard the assets of the Manager 
and Fortune REIT, assist the Board with discharging its 
responsibility in maintaining adequate accounting records, 
develop, maintain and review the effectiveness of the financial 
reporting systems, internal controls and risk management 
systems and the internal audit function, ensure integrity of 
financial statements and provide arrangements whereby 
concerns on financial improprieties or other matters raised by 
“whistleblowers” are investigated and appropriate follow up 
action taken.

The Audit Committee meets with the internal and external 
Auditors, without the presence of management, at least once 
annually. Both the external Auditor and the internal Auditor 
have confirmed that for the Reporting Year, they had received 
full cooperation of the management and no restrictions had 
been placed on their scopes of audit.

The Audit Committee also, among other things, monitors 
the procedures established to regulate transactions with 
“connected person” (as defined in the REIT Code).

The Audit Committee presently comprises four INEDs, namely 
Ms. Cheng Ai Phing, Mr. Chui Sing Loi (alias Tsui Sing Loi), 
Ms. Yeo Annie (alias Yeo May Ann) and Ms. Koh Poh Wah. 
Ms. Cheng Ai Phing is the Chairman of the Audit Committee. 
All members of the Audit Committee have years of experience 
in senior management positions. The Board is of the view 
that the Audit Committee members, having accounting and 

related financial management expertise or experience, are 
appropriately qualified to discharge their responsibilities.

During the Reporting Year, the Audit Committee had:

(i) reviewed the risk management and internal control 
systems, and the effectiveness of the internal and 
external audit plans, including the nature and scope of 
work before commencement of these audits;

(ii) met with the Group’s internal and external Auditors on a 
half-yearly basis to discuss their findings as set out their 
respective reports;

(iii) reviewed and approved the consolidated financial 
statements and the independent external Auditor’s 
report;

(iv) reviewed the aggregate amount of fees paid to 
the external Auditor for the Reporting Year and the 
breakdown of the fees paid in total for audit and non-
audit services respectively. It is satisfied that such non-
audit services would not affect the independence of 
the external Auditor. The external Auditor have also 
affirmed their independence in this respect to the Audit 
Committee. The Audit Committee, with the concurrence 
of the Board, has recommended the re-appointment of 
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as external Auditor at the 
forthcoming AGM of the Unitholders;

(v) reviewed on a half-yearly basis, dealings by the Manager 
and Directors pursuant to the Code Governing Dealings 
in Units by Directors or the Manager (the “Units Dealing 
Code”); and

(vi) reviewed the connected party transactions.

During the Reporting Year, three Audit Committee meetings were held and the attendance record of the Audit Committee meetings 
is as follows:

Members of the Audit Committee Attendance

Ms. Cheng Ai Phing 3/3

Mr. Chui Sing Loi (alias Tsui Sing Loi) 3/3

Ms. Yeo Annie (alias Yeo May Ann) 3/3

Ms. Koh Poh Wah 3/3
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The Audit Committee met twice with the external Auditors for 
reviewing the audit plan, the half year and full year financial 
report and accounts of Fortune REIT during the Reporting 
Year.

Pursuant to the waiver from strict compliance with the 
requirement under Clause 9.13(b) of the REIT Code granted 
by the SFC, the Audit Committee confirms that the public 
relations-related expenses (the “PR Expenses”) are incurred 
in accordance with the internal control procedures of the 
Manager and the nature of the PR Expenses are incurred solely 
for the purposes as set out under Clause 4.3 of the Trust Deed.

During the Reporting Year, the Audit Committee was also 
kept apprised of changes to accounting standards and 
issues which have a direct impact on Fortune REIT’s financial 
statements via timely updates by the external Auditor at Audit 
Committee meetings.

The Audit Committee has put in place a whistle-blowing policy, 
which extends to persons other than staff of the Manager. 
Under this policy, the Audit Committee reviews arrangements 
by which staff of the Manager and any other persons may, 
in confidence, raise concerns about possible improprieties 
in matters of financial reporting or other matters. The policy 
provides a communication channel for all employees of the 
Manager, as well as any other persons, who may in confidence 
raise concerns about possible improprieties and obstructive 

action within the Manager. The policy also protects 
complainants from reprisals or victimization when they 
whistle blow in good faith and without malice. The objective is 
to ensure that arrangements are in place for the independent 
investigation of such matters and for appropriate follow-up 
action.

Details of the whistle-blowing policy and arrangements have 
been made available to all employees of the Manager. The 
description of the policy is also available on the Manager’s 
website to facilitate participation by other persons. There were 
no whistle-blowing incidents reported during the Reporting 
Year.

Disclosures Committee

The Board has also established a Disclosures Committee 
with clear terms of reference to assist it in reviewing matters 
relating to the disclosure of information to the Unitholders and 
public announcements.

The Disclosures Committee presently comprises three 
members, namely Ms. Yeung, Eirene, a Non-Executive 
Director, Ms. Chiu Yu, Justina, CEO and an Executive Director 
and Ms. Cheng Ai Phing, an INED. Ms. Chiu Yu, Justina is the 
Chairman of the Disclosures Committee.

During the Reporting Year, two Disclosures Committee meetings were held and the attendance record of the Disclosures 
Committee meetings is as follows:

Members of the Disclosures Committee Attendance

Ms. Yeung, Eirene 2/2

Ms. Chiu Yu, Justina 2/2

Ms. Cheng Ai Phing 2/2
 

Designated Committee

The Board has also established a Designated Committee 
with clear terms of reference to assist it in reviewing matters 
relating to hedging strategies, financing and refinancing 
arrangements and transactions involving derivative 
instruments for hedging purposes.

The Designated Committee presently comprises three 
members, namely Mr. Ma Lai Chee, Gerald, a Non-Executive 
Director, Ms. Chiu Yu, Justina, CEO and an Executive Director 
and Ms. Cheng Ai Phing, an INED. Ms. Chiu Yu, Justina is the 
Chairman of the Designated Committee. Two Designated 
Committee meetings were formally held in the Reporting Year 
to discuss on the hedging strategies and refinancing needs of 
Fortune REIT. All the members attended the meeting.
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Remuneration Matters

Since Fortune REIT does not bear the remuneration of the 
Manager’s Board and staff, the Manager does not consider it 
applicable to include the information about the remuneration 
of its Directors and its key executives in this report. The 
Manager adopts the remuneration policies and practices of 
its corporate office. Accordingly, the Manager has assessed 
its corporate office’s remuneration policies and practices 
and deemed such remuneration policies and practices to be 
appropriate and adopted its remuneration framework for the 
Directors and key management personnel of the Manager.

Internal Controls

The Manager acknowledges its responsibility for the risk 
management and internal control systems and such systems 
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of 
failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide 
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material 
misstatement or loss. The Manager has put in place a system 
of internal controls and the relevant procedures and processes 
to safeguard Fortune REIT’s assets, the Unitholders’ interests 
as well as to manage risks. The Board, through the Audit 
Committee, reviews the adequacy and effectiveness of the 
Manager’s and Fortune REIT’s internal controls including 
financial, operational, compliance and information technology 
controls and risk management policies and systems. The 
Audit Committee also reviews the adequacy of resources, 
qualifications and working experience of the Manager’s staff 
carrying out Fortune REIT’s accounting and financial reporting 
functions, their training programmes and budget.

The Manager has engaged BDO Risk Advisory Services, an 
independent third party, which is a member firm of BDO 
International, to conduct internal audit reviews of Fortune 
REIT’s operations annually. The functions of the internal 
Auditor include reviewing and making recommendations 
to the Board or the Audit Committee (as the case may be) 
to ensure effective segregation of duties and operational 
functions of the Manager and the effectiveness and accuracy 
for reporting irregularities and infringements of the Manager’s 
operational and compliance procedures. The internal Auditor 
reports directly to the Audit Committee on audit findings and to 
management on administrative matters.

The Audit Committee reviews and approves the annual 
internal audit plan and reviews the internal audit reports and 
activities. The Audit Committee is of the view that the internal 

Auditor has adequate resources to perform its functions and 
is independent of the activities that it performs audit. The 
internal Auditor has carried out its functions according to 
the International Standards for the Professional Practice of 
Internal Auditing set by The Institute of Internal Auditors.

Risk Assessment and Management of 
Business Risk

Effective risk management is a fundamental part of Fortune 
REIT’s business strategy. Recognising and managing risk 
is central to the business and to protecting the Unitholders’ 
interests and value. Fortune REIT operates within overall 
guidelines and specific parameters set by the Board. Each 
transaction is comprehensively analysed to understand the 
risks involved. Responsibility for managing risks lies with 
the business functions concerned, working within the overall 
strategy and risk tolerance established by the Board, in 
conjunction with the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee and the Board meet half-yearly, or more 
often if necessary to review the financial performance and 
internal controls of Fortune REIT. The Board also reviews the 
risks to the assets and operations of Fortune REIT, and acts 
upon any comments from the internal and external Auditors. 
In assessing business risk, the Board together with the Audit 
Committee, considers the economic environment and the 
property industry risk.

Management meets regularly to review the operations of 
Fortune REIT and discuss continuous disclosure issues. 
Key risks (including ESG risks), control measures and 
management actions are continually identified, reviewed 
and monitored by management as part of Fortune REIT’s 
enterprise-wide risk management framework. The internal 
Auditor assists and guides management in the formulation of 
risk policies and processes to effectively identify, evaluate and 
manage significant risks.

The Manager has established a risk identification and 
management process. At Fortune REIT, risks are proactively 
identified and addressed. The risk profiles are reported to 
the Audit Committee and the Board on a half-yearly basis 
to highlight changes in the risk assessment, quantitative 
and qualitative factors affecting the inherent risks and 
effectiveness of mitigatory controls supporting the residual 
risks. The ownership of these risks lies with the respective 
business functions with the overall stewardship residing with 
the Board.
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Action plans to manage the risks are continually being 
monitored and refined by management and the Board. 
The internal Auditor conducts audits to review the risk 
management framework and processes and assesses the 
effectiveness of the internal controls system in Fortune 
REIT, including key financial, operational and compliance 
controls. Any material non-compliance or lapses in internal 
controls together with corrective measures are reported to the 
Audit Committee. Additionally, in performing its audit of the 
financial statements, the external Auditor performs tests over 
operating effectiveness of certain controls that they intend 
to rely on which are relevant to Fortune REIT’s preparation 
of its financial statements. The external Auditor reports any 
significant deficiencies in such internal controls to the Audit 
Committee.

Based on the framework established and the reviews 
conducted by the internal and external Auditors, the Board 
opines, with the concurrence of the Audit Committee, that 
there are adequate and effective internal controls and risk 
management systems in place within the Group in addressing 
key financial, operational, compliance and information 
technology controls risks in its current business environment.

The Board has received assurance from the CEO and Finance 
Director of the Manager that the financial records have been 
properly maintained and that the financial statements give 
a true and fair view of the Fortune REIT’s operations and 
finances. The Board has also received assurance from the 
CEO and Finance Director of the Manager regarding the 
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control 
systems of the Manager.

Conflicts of Interest

The Manager has instituted the following procedures to deal 
with potential conflict of interest issues which the Manager 
may encounter in managing Fortune REIT:

(a) The Manager is a dedicated manager to Fortune REIT 
and does not manage any other real estate investment 
trust which invests in the same type of properties 
as Fortune REIT or is involved in any other property 
business.

(b) The entry into any connected party transaction of 
Fortune REIT must be reviewed and/or approved by the 
Audit Committee by a majority vote.

(c) Newly appointed Director/s are made aware of the 
concept of connected party transactions and is required 
to make the required disclosure(s) of interest to the 
Manager, when a conflict or potential conflict occurs.

(d) At least one-third of the Board shall comprise INEDs.

Under the Trust Deed, the Manager and its associates are 
prohibited from voting at or being part of a quorum for any 
meeting of the Unitholders convened to approve any matter 
in which the Manager or any of its associates has a material 
interest in the business to be conducted.

It is also provided in the Trust Deed that as and to the extent 
required by the REIT Code or any conditions of waivers and 
exemptions from the operation of the REIT Code granted 
by the SFC from time to time, the Trustee shall take actions 
or commence proceedings on behalf of Fortune REIT as 
necessary, including action against the Manager or other 
connected persons or (upon request in writing by the 
Manager) action against any other person including against 
the Trustee Connected Persons (as defined in the section 
headed “Connected Party Transactions with the Trustee 
Connected Persons” below) in relation to any transactions or 
agreements entered into by the Trustee for and on behalf of 
Fortune REIT with such persons. However, the Trustee shall 
have discretion to refrain from taking actions or commencing 
proceedings after consultation with the Manager if it considers 
in its absolute discretion that such action is not in the best 
interests of the Unitholders.

Under the Trust Deed, any Unitholder shall be prohibited from 
voting its own Units at, or being counted in the quorum for, a 
meeting at which it has a material interest in the business to 
be conducted and that interest is different from the interests 
of other Unitholders (as determined by the Manager, where the 
Unitholder concerned is not a connected person related to the 
Manager, or the Trustee, where the Unitholder concerned is 
not a connected person related to the Trustee, if appropriate, in 
its absolute opinion) including an issue of new Units where a 
Unitholder may increase its holdings of Units by more than its 
pro rata share.
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Interests of, and Dealings in Units by  
Directors, the Manager or the 
Substantial Unitholders

The Manager has adopted the Units Dealing Code governing 
dealings in the securities of Fortune REIT by Directors, the 
Manager and senior executives, officers or other employees 
of the Manager (collectively, the “Management Persons”) on 
terms no less exacting than the required standards of the 
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed 
Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. Pursuant 
to the Units Dealing Code, Management Persons wishing to 
deal in any securities of Fortune REIT must first have regard to 
the provisions of Parts XIII and XIV of the SFO with respect to 
insider dealing and market misconduct, as if the SFO applies 
to the securities of Fortune REIT. In addition, Management 
Persons must not make any unauthorised disclosure of 
confidential information or make any use of such information 
for the advantage of himself, itself or others. Management 
Persons who are aware of or privy to any negotiations or 
agreements related to intended acquisitions or disposals 
which constitute notifiable transactions under Chapter 14 of 
the Listing Rules or any connected party transactions under 
the REIT Code or any inside information must refrain from 
dealing in the securities of Fortune REIT as soon as they 
become aware of or privy to them until proper disclosure of the 
information in accordance with the Applicable Rules is made. 
Management Persons who are privy to relevant negotiations 
or agreements or any inside information should caution those 
Management Persons who are not privy that there may be 
inside information and that they must not deal in the securities 
of Fortune REIT for a similar period. Similarly, where the 
Manager is in possession of any inside information, it must 
refrain from dealing in the securities of Fortune REIT as soon 
as it becomes privy to such information until proper disclosure 
of the information in accordance with the Applicable Rules is 
made. Pursuant to the Units Dealing Code, the Management 
Persons must not deal in any securities of Fortune REIT on any 
day on which Fortune REIT’s financial results are published 
and:

(a) during the period of 60 days immediately preceding the 
publication date of the annual results or, if shorter, the 
period from the end of the relevant financial year up to 
the publication date of the results; and

(b) during the period of 30 days immediately preceding 
the publication date of the quarterly results and half-
year results or, if shorter, the period from the end of 
the relevant quarterly or half-year period up to the 
publication date of the results,

unless the circumstances are exceptional, for example, the 
exceptional circumstances as described in the Compliance 
Manual. In any event, the Management Persons must comply 
with the procedures set out in the Units Dealing Code.

Specific enquiry has been made with the Management 
Persons, who confirmed that they have complied with the 
required standard set out in the Units Dealing Code during the 
Reporting Year.

There are procedures in place for monitoring the disclosure of 
interests by Directors, the CEO and the Manager. The relevant 
provisions of the SFO shall be deemed to apply to the Manager, 
the Directors, the CEO and each Unitholder and all persons 
claiming through or under him.

Under the Trust Deed, the Unitholders with a holding of 5% or 
more of the units in issue will have a notifiable interest and will 
be required to notify the SEHK, the Trustee and the Manager 
of their holdings in Fortune REIT. The Manager shall keep a 
register for these purposes and it shall record in the register, 
against a person’s name, the particulars provided pursuant to 
the notification and the date of entry of such record. The said 
register shall be available for inspection by the Unitholders 
at the registered offices of the Trustee and the Manager (any 
time during business hours upon reasonable notice to the 
Manager).

Communication with Unitholders

The Applicable Rules require that a listed entity disclose to 
the market matters that would be likely to have a material 
effect on the price of the entity’s securities. The Manager 
upholds a strong culture of continuous disclosure and 
transparent communication with the Unitholders and the 
investing community. The CEO together with the Director, 
Investments and Investor Relations, oversee this function. 
The Manager’s disclosure policy requires timely and full 
disclosure of all material information relating to Fortune REIT 
by way of public releases or announcements through the 
SEHK and at the first instance and then including the said 
releases or announcements on Fortune REIT’s website at 
www.fortunereit.com.
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The Manager also conducts regular briefings for analysts 
and media representatives, which will generally coincide 
with the release of Fortune REIT’s results. During these 
briefings, management will review Fortune REIT’s most recent 
performance as well as discuss the business outlook for 
Fortune REIT.

General Meetings

Fortune REIT will hold an AGM each year in addition to any 
other general meetings in that year. The AGM would provide 
the Unitholders with a platform for dialogue with the Manager. 
The Manager ensures that Unitholders are able to participate 
effectively at the Unitholders meeting. The Directors and 
Chairmen of the respective Board committees and external 
Auditor will attend the AGM to answer questions from the 
Unitholders.

Under the Trust Deed, the Trustee or the Manager may (and 
the Manager shall at the request in writing of not less than two 
Unitholders or Unitholder(s) representing not less than 10% 
of the issued units of Fortune REIT) at any time convene a 
meeting of the Unitholders at such time and place as the party 
convening the meeting may think fit and propose resolutions 
for consideration at such meeting.

For greater transparency and fairness in the voting process, 
voting at the general meetings are conducted by poll. This 
allows all Unitholders present or represented at the meetings 
to vote on a one-unit-one-vote basis. The voting results of all 
votes cast for or against each resolution are announced after 
the meeting.

An AGM was held during the Reporting Year. The attendance record of the Directors at the AGM is as follows:

Name of Directors Attendance

AGM

Chairman and Independent 
Non-Executive Director

Mr. Chui Sing Loi (alias Tsui Sing Loi) 1/1

 

Non-Executive Directors Dr. Chiu Kwok Hung, Justin 1/1

Mr. Lim Hwee Chiang 1/1

Ms. Yeung, Eirene 1/1

Mr. Ma Lai Chee, Gerald 1/1
 

CEO and Executive Director Ms. Chiu Yu, Justina 1/1
 

Independent Non-Executive Directors Ms. Cheng Ai Phing 1/1

Ms. Yeo Annie (alias Yeo May Ann) 1/1

Ms. Koh Poh Wah 1/1
 

The external Auditor of Fortune REIT had attended the AGM to 
answer questions from the Unitholders.

Reporting

Fortune REIT prepares its accounts in accordance with The 
International Financial Reporting Standards with a financial 
year end of 31 December and a financial half year of 30 
June. In accordance with the Applicable Rules and the Trust 
Deed, the annual report and accounts for Fortune REIT will 
be published and sent to the Unitholders no later than four 

months following each financial year end and the interim 
report no later than three months following each financial half 
year.

It is the aim of the Board to provide the Unitholders with a 
balanced and comprehensive assessment of Fortune REIT’s 
financial position and prospects. Management will provide 
the Board with complete and adequate information in a timely 
manner through regular updates on Fortune REIT’s financial 
results as well as market trends and business development 
involving Fortune REIT.
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Matters to be Decided by Unitholders by 
Extraordinary Resolution

Under the Trust Deed, decisions with respect to certain 
matters require specific prior approval of the Unitholders by 
way of Extraordinary Resolution. Such matters include: (a) 
disposal of any land or an interest, option or right over any of 
the land forming part of the assets of Fortune REIT or shares 
in any property company holding such land, option or right 
over any of the land for Fortune REIT within two years of the 
acquisition of such land; (b) any increase in the rate above 
the permitted limit or change in structure of the Manager’s 
management fees; (c) any increase in the rate above the 
permitted limit or change in structure of the Trustee’s fees; 
(d) certain modifications to the Trust Deed; (e) termination 
of Fortune REIT (except in certain limited circumstances); (f) 
merger of Fortune REIT; (g) removal of the external Auditor; 
(h) removal of the Trustee; and (i) a change in Fortune REIT’s 
investment policy.

Any decisions to be made by resolution of the Unitholders 
other than the above shall be made by Ordinary Resolution, 
unless an Extraordinary Resolution is required by the 
Applicable Rules.

Directors’ Responsibility for Financial 
Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the 
preparation of a true and fair presentation of the financial 
statements for the year ended 31 December 2021. They are 
not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the ability of 
Fortune REIT to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the external Auditor about their reporting 
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the 
Independent Auditor’s Report.

Review of Annual Report

The annual report of Fortune REIT for the year ended 31 
December 2021 has been reviewed by the Audit Committee 
and the Disclosures Committee.

New Units Issued

As at 31 December 2021, the total number of issued 
units of Fortune REIT was 1,970,043,580. As compared 
with the position as at 31 December 2020, a total of 
15,226,555 new units were issued during the Reporting 
Year in the following manner:

– On 8 January 2021, 4,069,851 new units were 
issued to the Manager at a price of HK$7.260 per 
unit (being ascribed in the Trust Deed) as payment 
in full for the Manager’s base fee of approximately 
HK$29.5 million payable by Fortune REIT for the 
period from 1 October 2020 to 31 December 2020.

– On 13 April 2021, 3,877,756 new units were issued 
to the Manager at a price of HK$7.454 per unit 
(being ascribed in the Trust Deed) as payment in 
full for the Manager’s base fee of approximately 
HK$28.9 million payable by Fortune REIT for the 
period from 1 January 2021 to 31 March 2021.

– On 6 July 2021, 3,456,298 new units were issued 
to the Manager at a price of HK$8.405 per unit 
(being ascribed in the Trust Deed) as payment in 
full for the Manager’s base fee of approximately 
HK$29.1 million payable by Fortune REIT for the 
period from 1 April 2021 to 30 June 2021.

– On 4 October 2021, 3,822,650 new units were 
issued to the Manager at a price of HK$7.683 per 
unit (being ascribed in the Trust Deed) as payment 
in full for the Manager’s base fee of approximately 
HK$29.4 million payable by Fortune REIT for the 
period from 1 July 2021 to 30 September 2021.

Repurchase, Sale or Redemption of 
Units

During the Reporting Year, other than the disposal 
of 31,808,930 units by the Manager, there was no 
repurchase, sale or redemption of units of Fortune REIT 
by Fortune REIT or its subsidiaries.

Public Float

Based on information that is publicly available to the 
Manager and within the knowledge of the Directors, 
more than 25% of the Units are held in the hands of the 
public as at 31 December 2021.
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Connected Party Transactions

Set out below is the information in respect of the connected party transactions involving Fortune REIT and its connected persons 
as defined in paragraph 8.1 of the REIT Code:

Connected Party Transactions – Income

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Connected Party Transactions with the Trustee Connected Persons”, the following 
tables sets forth information on all connected party transactions from which Fortune REIT derived its income during the Reporting 
Year:

Name of Connected Party
Relationship with 
Fortune REIT

Nature of 
the Connected 
Party Transaction

Income for the 
year ended 

31 December 
2021

Rental deposit 
received as at 
31 December 

2021

HK$’000 HK$’000

ARA Asset Management (Fortune) 
Limited

Manager Leasing and licensing 
transactions

5,204 1,463

     

Cheung Kong Property  
Development Limited

Associate of a 
substantial holder1

Licensing transactions 30,230 97

     

Citybase Property Management 
Limited

Associate of a 
substantial holder1

Leasing transactions 2,291 638

     

Towerich Limited Associate of a 
substantial holder1

Licensing transactions 73 20

     

Total 37,798 2,218
     

Note:

1. The substantial holder being Focus Eagle Investments Limited (“Focus Eagle”).
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Connected Party Transactions

Connected Party Transactions – Expenses

The following table sets forth information in relation to property management arrangements, third party services and other 
operational transactions provided by the connected parties for the properties of Fortune REIT during the Reporting Year:

Name of Connected Party
Relationship with
Fortune REIT

Nature of the Connected 
Party Transaction

Expenses for 
the year ended 

31 December 
2021

HK$’000

Citybase Property Management Limited Associate of a substantial 
holder1

Property management and 
operations

1,064

    

CK Asset Holdings Limited Associate of a substantial 
holder1

Back office support service 30

    

E-Park Parking Management Limited Associate of a substantial 
holder1

Carpark lease agency fee 8,802

    

Goodwell-Fortune Property Services Limited Associate of a substantial 
holder1

Property and lease 
management fee and 
marketing service fee

70,481

    

Goodwell Property Management Limited Associate of a substantial 
holder1

Property management and 
operations

200

    

Total 80,577
    

Note:

1. The substantial holder being Focus Eagle.
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Connected Party Transactions – Others

The following table sets forth information in relation to other services provided by the connected parties to Fortune REIT during the 
Reporting Year:

Name of Connected Party
Relationship with 
Fortune REIT

Nature of the Connected 
Party Transaction

Expenses for 
the year ended 

31 December 
2021

HK$’000

ARA Asset Management (Fortune) Limited Manager Manager’s fee 158,643
    

HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Asia)  
Limited

Trustee Trustee’s fee 11,698

    

Total 170,341
    

Connected Party Transactions with the Trustee Connected Persons

Leasing/licensing transactions

The following table sets forth information on the leasing/licensing transactions between Fortune REIT and the Trustee (and its 
directors, senior executives, officers, controlling entitles, holding companies, subsidiaries and associated companies all within the 
meaning of the REIT Code) and the HSBC Group1 (collectively, the “Trustee Connected Persons”) during the Reporting Year:

Name of 
Connected Party

Relationship with 
Fortune REIT

Nature of 
the Connected 
Party Transaction

Income for the 
year ended 

31 December 
2021

Rental deposit
received as at
31 December

2021

HK$’000 HK$’000

Hang Seng Bank Limited Trustee Connected 
Persons

Leasing and licensing 
transactions

20,762 5,655

     

The Hongkong and Shanghai 
Banking Corporation Limited 
(“HSBC”)

Trustee Connected 
Persons

Leasing and licensing 
transactions

9,809 2,106

     

Total 30,571 7,761
     

Note:

1. HSBC Group means HSBC and its subsidiaries and unless otherwise expressly stated herein, excludes Trustee and its proprietary subsidiaries (but 
excluding those subsidiaries formed in its capacity as the trustee of Fortune REIT). Specifically, HSBC Group includes Hang Seng Bank Limited and 
its subsidiaries.
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Provision of Ordinary Banking and 
Financial Services

Fortune REIT has engaged HSBC Group to provide ordinary 
course of banking and financial services (namely, bank 
deposits and interest earned therefrom and loan facilities 
including interest and charges paid thereto) within the 
Reporting Year.

Confirmation by the INEDs

The INEDs confirm that they have reviewed the terms of 
all relevant connected party transactions including those 
connected party transactions with the HSBC Group and that 
they are satisfied that these transactions have been entered 
into:

(a) in the ordinary and usual course of business of Fortune 
REIT;

(b) on normal commercial terms (to the extent that there 
are comparable transactions) or, where there are no 
sufficient comparable transactions to judge whether 
they are on normal commercial terms, on terms no less 
favourable to Fortune REIT than terms available to or 
from (as appropriate) independent third parties; and

(c) in accordance with the relevant agreement and the 
Manager’s internal procedures governing them, if any, 
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests 
of the Unitholders as a whole.

Report from Auditor of Fortune REIT

Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, auditor of Fortune REIT 
was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected 
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard 
on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance 
Engagements Other Than Audits or Review of Historical 
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 
740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected 
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by 
the Hong Kong Institute of Certificate Public Accountants. The 
auditor has issued his unqualified letter containing his findings 
and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected 
transactions on leasing/licensing transactions, property 
management arrangements, third party service and other 
operational transactions and transactions involving ordinary 
banking and financial services disclosed by the Group from 
pages 58 to 61 of this Annual Report in accordance with the 
waiver from strict compliance with disclosure requirements 
under Chapter 8 of the REIT Code. A copy of the auditor’s letter 
will be provided by Fortune REIT to the SFC.

Confirmation by the Manager 
and Trustee of Corporate Finance 
Transaction with HSBC Group

Both the Manager and the Trustee confirm that there is no 
corporate finance transaction and other connected party 
transaction (save and except for those disclosed hereinabove) 
with the HSBC Group during the Reporting Year.
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Disclosure of Interests

Unit Capital

The total number of issued units as at 31 December 2021 is 1,970,043,580 units.

Holdings of Substantial Unitholders

As at 31 December 2021, each of the following persons was considered a “substantial holder”, and hence a “connected person” of 
Fortune REIT, for the purpose of the REIT Code:

Direct interest Deemed interest

Name

Number of
Units Held

Long Position
Percentage of
Unit Holdings

Number of
Units Held

Long Position
Percentage of
Unit Holdings

Focus Eagle 413,074,684 20.97% – –
     

CK Asset1 – – 525,630,684 26.68%
     

Note:

1. CK Asset was deemed to hold 525,630,684 units, of which: (i) 413,074,684 units were held by Focus Eagle; and (ii) 112,556,000 units were held by 
Ballston Profits Limited. Focus Eagle and Ballston Profits Limited were indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of CK Asset.

Interests of the Manager

As at 31 December 2021, the Manager held 3,822,650 units, or approximately 0.19% of the issued units of Fortune REIT.

Interests of the Directors

Details of the unitholding interests of the Directors of Fortune REIT as at 31 December 2021 were as follows:

Direct interest Deemed interest

Name

Number of
Units Held

Long Position
Percentage of
Unit Holdings

Number of
Units Held

Long Position
Percentage of
Unit Holdings

Lim Hwee Chiang1 1,000,000 0.05% 2,100,000 0.11%
     

Note:

1. Mr. Lim Hwee Chiang was deemed to be interested in the 2,100,000 units held by Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte. Ltd. (as nominee for JL 
Philanthropy Ltd). Mr. Lim is the settlor of JL Charitable Settlement which is the beneficiary of JL Philanthropy Ltd.
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Disclosure of Interests

Holdings of the Other Connected Persons

HSBC Group, being the Trustee Connected Persons of Fortune REIT, did not hold any beneficial interest in any unit of Fortune REIT 
as at 31 December 2021.

Saved as disclosed above, the Manager is not aware of any connected persons (as defined under the REIT Code) of Fortune REIT 
holding any units of Fortune REIT as at 31 December 2021.

To the best knowledge of the Manager and save as disclosed, the following sets out changes in the beneficial interest of certain 
connected persons of Fortune REIT, in compliance with paragraph 8.2(a) of the REIT Code, by reference to comparison of their 
respective beneficial interests as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020:

(a) The Manager was beneficially interested in 3,822,650 units as at 31 December 2021 and 20,405,025 units as at 31 December 
2020; and

(b) HSBC Group did not hold any beneficial interest in any units as at 31 December 2021 and was beneficially interested in 
386,300 units as at 31 December 2020.
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Valuation Report

Our Ref : 2/21/00480
AA/KEL/JYY/BL/ay

17 January 2022

HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Asia) Limited
(As trustee of Fortune Real Estate Investment Trust)
17/F, Tower 2 & 3,
HSBC Centre,
1 Sham Mong Road, Kowloon

ARA Asset Management (Fortune) Limited
(As Manager of Fortune Real Estate Investment Trust)
Unit 901, Level 9
Fortune Metropolis
6 The Metropolis Drive
Kowloon
Hong Kong

Valuation in respect of 16 Retail Properties for “Fortune REIT”

Instructions

We refer to the instruction from ARA Asset Management (Fortune) Limited (“ARA”), acting as the manager of Fortune Real Estate 
Investment Trust (“Fortune REIT”), and HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Asia) Limited (“Trustee”) to conduct property valuations 
(“Valuation”) for the Fortune REIT’s property portfolio (the “Portfolio”) as at 31 December 2021 for the Annual Report in compliance 
with the relevant requirements set out in the Code on Real Estate Investment Trusts issued by the Securities and Futures 
Commission of Hong Kong (SFC), the trust deed of Fortune REIT and, where applicable, the Listing Rules of The Stock Exchange of 
Hong Kong.

The Portfolio as identified to us for this valuation is listed in Section 2.0 below.

We confirm that we have inspected the Portfolio, made relevant enquiries and obtained such further information as we consider 
necessary for the purpose of providing our opinion of market value of the Portfolio, with the benefit of existing tenancies, as at 31 
December 2021 (the “Date of Valuation”).

The Portfolio

The Portfolio comprises the following property interests:

1 Fortune City One

Fortune City One, 1 Ngan Shing Street, Fortune City One Plus, 2 Ngan Shing Street, Fortune City One Market, 8 Lok Shing Street 
and Various Ground Floor Shops of Residential Towers, City One Shatin, Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong

2 +WOO

+WOO Phase 1 and Phase 2 as well as other retail, kindergarten, parking lots and ancillary spaces to such areas (including 
loading bays and external walls), reserve shares and common areas within Kingswood Development, Tin Shui Wai, Yuen 
Long, New Territories, Hong Kong

3 Ma On Shan Plaza

Ma On Shan Plaza, Bayshore Towers, 608 Sai Sha Road, Ma On Shan, Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong
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Valuation Report

4 Metro Town

The Shopping Centre of Metro Town, 8 King Ling Road, Tseung Kwan O, New Territories, Hong Kong

5 Belvedere Square

Various Shops, The Clinics, the Kindergartens, a Market, various Car Parking Spaces and Motor Cycle Spaces, Common 
Areas, Belvedere Garden Phase 1, Nos. 530-590 Castle Peak Road-Tsuen Wan; Belvedere Garden Phase 2, No. 620 Castle 
Peak Road – Tsuen Wan; Belvedere Garden Phase 3, Nos. 625 Castle Peak Road – Tsuen Wan, Tsuen Wan, New Territories, 
Hong Kong

6 Laguna Plaza

Commercial Development at Laguna Plaza, No. 88 Cha Kwo Ling Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong

7 Fortune Metropolis

Fortune Metropolis, The Metropolis, 6-10 Metropolis Drive, Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong

8 Waldorf Avenue

Shops on Level 3 and Various Carparks, Waldorf Garden, 1 Tuen Lee Street, Tuen Mun, New Territories, Hong Kong

9 Caribbean Square

Caribbean Square, Caribbean Coast, 1 Kin Tung Road, Tung Chung, Lantau Island, New Territories, Hong Kong

10 Jubilee Square

Jubilee Square, Jubilee Garden, 2-18 Lok King Street, Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong

11 Tsing Yi Square

Various Portions in Tsing Yi Square, Tsing Yi Garden, 7-19 Tsing Luk Street, Tsing Yi, New Territories, Hong Kong

12 Smartland

Various Portions in Smartland, East Asia Gardens, 16 Tsuen Wah Street, Tsuen Wan, New Territories, Hong Kong

13 Centre de Laguna

Centre de Laguna, 93 Cha Kwo Ling Road, Kindergarten on Ground Floor, 99 Cha Kwo Ling Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong 
Kong

14 Hampton Loft

Hampton Loft, Hampton Place, 11 Hoi Fan Road, Tai Kok Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong

15 Lido Avenue

Shops on Ground Floor, Lido Garden, 41-63 Castle Peak Road – Sham Tseng, Tsuen Wan, New Territories, Hong Kong

16 Rhine Avenue

Shops on Ground Floor, Rhine Garden, 38 Castle Peak Road – Sham Tseng, Tsuen Wan, New Territories, Hong Kong
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Basis of Valuation

Unless otherwise stated, our valuation has been prepared in 
accordance with the “HKIS Valuation Standards 2020 Edition” 
published by The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors (“HKIS”), 
the “International Valuation Standards” published by the 
International Valuation Standards Council (“IVSC”) and the 
“RICS Valuation – Global Standards” published by the Royal 
Institution of Chartered Surveyors (“RICS”) subject to variation 
to meet local established law. Unless otherwise stated, our 
valuations are undertaken as External Valuers as defined in the 
relevant Valuation Standards.

Our valuation is made on the basis of Market Value as defined 
by IVSC and adopted by HKIS and RICS, set out as:

“the estimated amount for which an asset or liability should 
exchange on the valuation date between a willing buyer 
and a will ing seller in an arm’s-length transaction after 
proper marketing and where the parties had each acted 
knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion.”

Our valuation presented in the report would represent 100% 
interest of the Portfolio and not the share holdings of the 
company holding the Portfolio interest hereof.

Valuation Methodologies

We have made use of the Income Capitalisation Method 
cross-referenced with the Direct Comparison Method.

Income Capitalisation Method

The income capital isat ion method is  based on the 
capitalisation of the current passing rental income and 
potential reversionary income over the remaining tenure 
of the Portfolio from the date of valuation at appropriate 
investment yields to arrive at the capital value. The appropriate 
adjustments/deductions for rent free period, ongoing vacancy 
voids/marketing periods and non recoverable expenses for the 
vacant space have been allowed.

The income capitalisation method can more accurately reflect 
these property specific factors by utilising various specific 
assumptions which have been derived via analysis of market 
evidence. The ability to apply these assumptions in the 
capitalisation method is by far more appropriate for valuing an 
investment property where investors’ emphasis on delivering 
returns is of paramount importance.

Direct Comparison Method

The direct comparison method is the most widely used 
method of valuation in Hong Kong and is based on comparing 
the properties to be valued directly with other comparable 
properties which recently changed hands or leased. These 
premises are generally located in the surrounding areas or 
in another market which is comparable to the properties. 
However, because of the heterogeneous nature of real estate 
properties, appropriate adjustments are usually required to 
allow for any qualitative and quantitative differences that may 
affect the price/rental likely to be achieved by the properties 
under consideration.

Factors such as tenants covenants, trade mix are difficult 
to be quantified in the overall unit value of the comparables. 
Furthermore, good comparables may not be readily available 
in the market. In the light of the characteristics of the Portfolio, 
we have therefore placed more weighting on the reliance on 
the income capitalisation method in arriving at our valuation 
conclusion.

Valuation Reconciliation

The results of the two valuation methods will be reconciled 
and the assessed value will be analysed in terms of estimated 
net property yield.

Valuation Assumptions

Valuation Assumptions

Our report is qualified by certain assumptions, definitions 
and limiting conditions as set out in our General Principles of 
Valuation, a copy of which is attached as Appendix 1.



67

Fo
rtune R

eal E
state Investm

ent Trust

Valuation Report

No allowance has been made in our valuations for any 
charges, mortgages or amounts owing on the Portfolio nor for 
any expenses or taxation which may be incurred in effecting 
sales. Unless otherwise stated, it is assumed that the Portfolio 
is free of encumbrances, restrictions and outgoings of an 
onerous nature which could affect the capital values of the 
Portfolio.

Title Investigation and Encumbrances

We have conducted land searches of the Portfolio with the 
Land Registry. However, we have not examined the original 
documents to verify ownership or to ascertain the existence of 
any lease amendments, which may not appear on the copies 
handed to us. All documents and leases have been used for 
reference only and all dimensions, measurements and areas 
are approximate.

Source of Information

We have relied to a considerable extent on the information 
provided by ARA and have accepted advice given to us on such 
matters as identification of the Portfolio, planning approvals, 
statutory notices, easements, tenure, occupation, floor plans, 
floor areas, tenancy schedule and all other relevant matters.

In the course of our valuation, we have also made reference to 
inter alia, the following information provided by ARA:

(1) Copy of Rent Roll as at 31 October 2021, 30 November 
2021 and 31 December 2021;

(2) Copy of Other Retail and Car Park incomes and Car Park 
expenses from January 2021 to December 2021;

(3) Copy of layout plans of the Portfolio; and

(4) Outstanding capital expenditure for +WOO and Fortune 
Metropolis.

Dimensions, measurements and areas included in the report 
are based on information contained in copies of documents 
provided to us and are therefore only approximations. No 
on site measurements have been taken. We have not been 
instructed to independently verify the information provided 
to us. Our valuation is totally dependent on the adequacy and 
accuracy of the information supplied and/or the assumptions 
made. Should these prove to be incorrect or inadequate, the 
accuracy of the valuation may be affected.

We have not seen original planning and/or development and 
occupation consents. We have assumed that the Portfolio has 
been erected, being occupied and used in accordance with 
such consents and that there are no outstanding statutory 
notices.

Property Inspection

We have inspected the exterior, and where possible the 
interior of the Properties between 24 November 2021 and 25 
November 2021.

We have not conducted formal site and structural surveys and, 
as such, we cannot report that the Portfolio is free from rot, 
infestation or any other structural defects. We have not carried 
out a building survey, nor have we inspected those parts of 
the Portfolio which are covered, unexposed or inaccessible 
and such parts have been assumed to be in good repair and 
condition. We cannot express an opinion about or advise upon 
the condition of uninspected parts and this report should not 
be taken as making any implied representation or statement 
about such parts. No tests have been carried out to any of the 
services.

We have not arranged for any investigation to be carried out 
to determine whether or not any deleterious or hazardous 
material has been used in the construction of the Portfolio, 
or has since been incorporated, and we are therefore unable 
to report that the Portfolio are free from risk in this respect. 
For the purpose of this valuation we have assumed that such 
investigations would not disclose the presence of any such 
material to any significant extent.

Site Investigation

We have not carried out any investigations on site in order to 
determine the suitability of ground conditions and services etc. 
for future redevelopment, nor did we undertake archaeological, 
ecological or environmental surveys. Our valuation is on the 
basis that these aspects are satisfactory and that where 
developments are contemplated, no extraordinary expenses 
or delays will be incurred during the construction period due to 
these, or to archaeological or ecological matters. In the course 
of our assessments, we have assumed that no contamination 
affecting the Portfolio or the neighbouring land. However, 
should it be established subsequently that contamination 
exists at the Portfolio or on any neighbouring land, or that the 
premises have been or are being put to any contaminative use, 
we reserve the right to adjust the values reported herein.
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Plant and Machinery

Our valuation normally includes all plant and machinery that 
form part of the building services installations. However, 
process plant, machinery and equipment which may have 
been installed wholly in connection with the occupiers’ 
commercial  processes,  together with furniture and 
furnishings, tenants’ fixtures and fittings are excluded in our 
valuation.

Telecommunication Facilities

We have assumed that all telecommunication facilities at the 
Portfolio are permitted and that all necessary approvals have 
been obtained from the relevant authorities.

Disclosure of Interest

Jones Lang LaSalle is unaware of any of our business, 
relationship or interest is in real, potential or apparent conflict 
with the performance required for the above-mentioned 
assignment.

Satisfaction of Property Valuer Criteria in 
Reit Code

Jones Lang LaSalle and the qualifications of directors of our 
firm, are in a position to fulfill and comply fully with paragraphs 
6.4, 6.5, 6.6, 6.7, 6.10 and 6.11 of the Code on Real Estate 
Investment Trusts (“REIT Code”).

Valuation

A summary of our opinion of the market value of each property, subject to the existing tenancies, as at 31 December 2021, are as 
follows:

No. Property name

Approximate
Gross Rentable

Area (sq.ft.)
No. of

Parking Lots
Market Value as at
31 December 2021

1 Fortune City One 414,469 653 HK$8,178,000,000

2 +WOO 665,244 622 HK$7,868,000,000

3 Ma On Shan Plaza 310,084 290 HK$5,741,000,000

4 Metro Town 180,822 74 HK$3,673,000,000

5 Belvedere Square 276,862 329 HK$2,526,000,000

6 Laguna Plaza 163,203 150 HK$2,512,000,000

7 Fortune Metropolis 332,168 179 HK$2,469,000,000

8 Waldorf Avenue 80,842 73 HK$1,777,000,000

9 Caribbean Square 63,018 117 HK$1,196,000,000

10 Jubilee Square 170,616 97 HK$926,000,000

11 Tsing Yi Square 78,836 27 HK$827,000,000

12 Smartland 123,544 67 HK$814,000,000

13 Centre de Laguna 43,000 0 HK$330,000,000

14 Hampton Loft 74,734 35 HK$318,000,000

15 Lido Avenue 9,836 0 HK$211,000,000

16 Rhine Avenue 14,604 0 HK$134,000,000
     

Total 3,001,882 2,713 HK$39,500,000,000
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We are of the opinion that the market value of the unencumbered leasehold interest of the Portfolio, subject to the existing 
tenancies, as at 31 December 2021, was in the sum of HK$39,500,000,000 (HONG KONG DOLLARS THIRTY NINE BILLION AND 
FIVE HUNDRED MILLION).

Please refer to the attached valuation reports for property particulars of each of the properties.

Conversion Factors

1 square metre = 10.764 square feet

1 metre = 3.2808 feet

Yours faithfully
For and on behalf of
Jones Lang LaSalle Limited

Au Kin Keung, Alkan
BA(Hons), MHKIS, MRICS, RPS (GP), MCIREA
Senior Director
Licence No.: E-181955
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Fortune City One

Fortune City One, 1 Ngan Shing Street, Fortune City One Plus, 2 Ngan Shing Street, Fortune City One Market, 8 Lok Shing Street, 
Various Ground Floor Shops of Residential Towers, City One Shatin, Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong.

Description City One Shatin is a comprehensive residential cum commercial development completed in 
phases between 1981 and 1989.

The property mainly comprises various commercial areas within City One Shatin. 
Descriptions of the said commercial areas are set out below:

– The free standing commercial podium known as Fortune City One Plus (Commercial 
Block A) on the Ground Floor, 4th Floor and the Roof;

– The free standing commercial podium known as Fortune City One (Commercial Block 
B) on the Ground Floor, 1st Floor and portion of the Roof, Roof Garden, Centre Garden 
and kiosks thereof;

– The wet market and kindergarten on the Ground Floor of residential tower blocks 34-
36;

– Various single shops and non-domestic units dispersed throughout the development 
on the Ground Floor level of 12 individual tower blocks; and

– A total of 653 parking lots.

The total gross rentable area of the property (excluding parking lots) is approximately 
38,505.11 sq m (414,469 sq ft).

Land Tenure The property comprises portion of shares of and in Sha Tin Town Lot No. 1.

Sha Tin Town Lot No. 1 is held under New Grant No. ST11064 for a term of 99 years 
commencing from 1 July 1898. The lease has been extended to expire on 30 June 2047. The 
annual Government rent payable is at 3% of the prevailing rateable value of the property.

Monthly Rental and Licence 
Income as at 31 December 2021

Approximately HK$24,474,200, exclusive of rates, Government rent, management fees and 
air-conditioning charges.

Average Monthly Turnover Rent 
and Atrium Income for  
January 2021 to December 2021

Approximately HK$85,600

Average Monthly Car  
Parking Income for 
January 2021 to December 2021

Approximately HK$1,362,200

Market Value in Existing State 
as at 31 December 2021

HK$8,178,000
(HONG KONG DOLLARS EIGHT BILLION ONE HUNDRED AND SEVENTY EIGHT MILLION)

Estimated Net Property Yield 3.8%
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+WOO

Commercial Development (including Loading and Unloading Spaces), 604 Parking Spaces on Basement 1 and Basement 2 Floors 
and Common Areas and Common Service Facilities of Kingswood Ginza Phases 1 and 2, Nos. 12 and 18 Tin Yan Road, Tin Shui Wai, 
Yuen Long, New Territories (the “+WOO Phase 1 and Phase 2”)

Portion A on Ground Floor and External Wall of Portion A on Ground Floor of Commercial Development, Remaining Portion of 
External Wall of Commercial Development, Reserve Shares and Common Areas and Common Service Facilities of Locwood Court, 
Kingswood Villas, No. 1 Tin Wu Road, Tin Shui Wai, Yuen Long, New Territories (the “Locwood Court Property”)

Kindergarten Premises, 5 Kindergarten Car Parking Spaces (Nos. K1-K5), 2 Kindergarten Loading and Unloading Bays on Ground 
Floor and Common Areas and Common Service Facilities of Sherwood Court, Kingswood Villas, No. 3 Tin Wu Road, Tin Shui Wai, 
Yuen Long, New Territories (the “Sherwood Court Property”)

Kindergarten and Common Areas and Common Service Facilities of Chestwood Court, Kingswood Villas, No. 8 Tin Shui Road, Tin 
Shui Wai, Yuen Long, New Territories (the “Chestwood Court Property”)

Kindergarten A, Kindergarten B, Kindergarten Car Parking Spaces Nos. 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8 at Basement and Common Areas and 
Common Service Facilities of Maywood Court, Kingswood Villas, No. 9 Tin Lung Road, Tin Shui Wai, Yuen Long, New Territories (the 
“Maywood Court Property”)

Kindergarten Premises, 5 Kindergarten Car Parking Spaces on Ground Floor, 2 Kindergarten Loading & Unloading Bays on Ground 
Floor and Common Areas and Facilities of Kenswood Court, Kingswood Villas, No. 2 Tin Lung Road, Tin Shui Wai, Yuen Long, New 
Territories (the “Kenswood Court Property”)

Common Areas and Common Service Facilities of Lynwood Court, Kingswood Villas, No. 3 Tin Kwai Road, Tin Shui Wai, Yuen Long, 
New Territories (the “Lynwood Court Property”)

(hereinafter collectively referred to as “+WOO”)

Description Kingswood Villas (“the Development”) is a comprehensive residential development with 
associated commercial, hotel, recreational and car parking facilities completed in the 1990s.

+WOO comprises a commercial development (including loading and unloading spaces) 
known as +WOO Phase 1 and Phase 2, a retail shop and 5 kindergartens with ancillary 
parking spaces, external walls and reserve shares in the Development.

Details of the Fortune Kingswood are set out below:

+WOO Phase 1 and Phase 2
Comprises the commercial development (including loading and unloading spaces) known 
as +WOO Phase 1 and Phase 2 which includes a shopping arcade on Ground, 1st and 2nd 
Floors, ancillary areas on 3rd and 5th floors, 604 car parking spaces on Basement 1 and 2 
Floors and Common Areas and Common Service Facilities. This property excludes all those 
common areas and the hotel development.
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 The Locwood Court Property
Comprises a retail shop known as Portion A on Ground Floor together with two portions of 
external walls of the Commercial Development and Common Areas and Common Service 
Facilities in Locwood Court of Kingswood Villas. This property also includes the reserve 
shares of Locwood Court.

The Sherwood Court Property
Comprises a kindergarten premises, 5 kindergarten car parking spaces and 2 kindergarten 
loading and unloading bays on Ground Floor, and Common Areas and Common Service 
Facilities in Sherwood Court of Kingswood Villas.

The Chestwood Court Property
Comprises a kindergarten and Common Areas and Common Service Facilities in Chestwood 
Court of Kingswood Villas.

The Maywood Court Property
Comprises two kindergartens known as Kindergarten A and Kindergarten B, 8 kindergarten 
car parking spaces at Basement and Common Areas and Common Service Facilities in 
Maywood Court of Kingswood Villas.

The Kenswood Court Property
Comprises a kindergarten premises, 5 kindergarten car parking spaces and 2 kindergarten 
loading and unloading bays on Ground Floor and Common Areas and Facilities in Kenswood 
Court of Kingswood Villas.

The Lynwood Court Property
Comprises the Common Areas and Common Service Facilities of Lynwood Court.

The total gross rentable area of +WOO is approximately 61,802.68 sq m (665,244 sq ft). 
There are 622 car parking spaces.

Land Tenure The property comprises portion of shares of and in Tin Shui Wai Town Lot Nos. 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 
and 7.

Tin Shui Wai Town Lot Nos. 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 and 7 are held under New Grant No. 3466 from 
1 July 1898 for 99 years and has been extended to expire on 30 June 2047. The annual 
Government rent payable is at 3% of the prevailing rateable value of the property.

Monthly Rental and Licence  
Income as at 31 December 2021

Approximately HK$19,168,300, exclusive of rates, Government rent, management fees and 
air-conditioning charges.

Average Monthly Turnover Rent 
and Atrium Income for January 
2021 to December 2021

Approximately HK$244,200

Average Monthly Car Parking 
Income for January 2021 to 
December 2021

Approximately HK$1,581,700

Market Value in Existing State as 
at 31 December 2021

HK$7,868,000,000 
(HONG KONG DOLLARS SEVEN BILLION EIGHT HUNDRED AND SIXTY EIGHT MILLION)

Estimated Net Property Yield 3.2%



73

Fo
rtune R

eal E
state Investm

ent Trust

Valuation Report

Ma On Shan Plaza

Ma On Shan Plaza, Bayshore Towers, 608 Sai Sha Road, Ma On Shan, Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong.

Description Ma On Shan Plaza is the commercial portion of a private residential cum commercial 
development known as Bayshore Towers completed in 1994.

The property comprises the entire shopping centre on Levels 2 (including the atrium) and 
Level 3 of a 5-storey podium (including a Basement, Ground Floor and Level 1) and 290 
parking lots on the Basement Floor of the development.

The total gross rentable area of the property (excluding parking lots) is approximately 
28,807.51 sq m (310,084 sq ft).

Land Tenure The property comprises portion of shares of and in Sha Tin Town Lot No. 382.

Sha Tin Town Lot No. 382 is held under New Grant No. 12378 for a term commencing from 
6 December 1991 to 30 June 2047. The annual Government rent payable is at 3% of the 
prevailing rateable value of the property.

Monthly Rental and Licence 
Income as at 31 December 2021

Approximately HK$19,826,700, exclusive of rates, Government rent, management fees and 
air-conditioning charges.

Average Monthly Turnover Rent 
and Atrium Income for January 
2021 to December 2021

Approximately HK$45,600

Average Monthly Car Parking 
Income for January 2021 to 
December 2021

Approximately HK$781,200

Market Value in Existing State as 
at 31 December 2021

HK$5,741,000,000 
(HONG KONG DOLLARS FIVE BILLION SEVEN HUNDRED AND FORTY ONE MILLION)

Estimated Net Property Yield 4.3%
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Metro Town

Metro Town, The Shopping Centre of Metro Town, 8 King Ling Road, Tseung Kwan O, New Territories, Hong Kong.

Description Metro Town is a private residential cum commercial development completed in two phases 
in 2006 and 2007.

The property comprises the commercial podium on the Ground Level, Level 1, Level 2, Level 
3, Level 5 and the covered footbridge of a 5-storey commercial podium of the development. 
It also comprises a total of 74 commercial parking lots on Level 2 of the commercial podium 
of the development.

The total gross rentable area of the property (excluding parking lots) is approximately 
16,798.77 sq m (180,822 sq ft).

Land Tenure The property comprises portion of shares of and in Tseung Kwan O Town Lot No. 73.

Tseung Kwan O Town Lot No. 73 is held under New Grant No. SK9700 for a term of 50 years 
commencing from 11 February 2003. The annual Government rent payable for the property 
is at 3% of the prevailing rateable value of the property.

Monthly Rental and Licence 
Income as at 31 December 2021

Approximately HK$10,627,000, exclusive of rates, Government rent, management fees and 
air-conditioning charges.

Average Monthly Turnover Rent 
Income for January 2021 to 
December 2021

Approximately HK$18,900

Average Monthly Car Parking 
Income for January 2021 to 
December 2021

Approximately HK$339,600

Market Value in Existing State as 
at 31 December 2021

HK$3,673,000,000 
(HONG KONG DOLLARS THREE BILLION SIX HUNDRED AND SEVENTY THREE MILLION)

Estimated Net Property Yield 3.6%
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Belvedere Square

Belvedere Square, Various Shops, the Clinics, the Kindergartens, a Market, various Car Parking Spaces and Motor Cycle Parking 
Spaces, Common Areas, Belvedere Garden Phase 1, Nos. 530-590 Castle Peak Road – Tsuen Wan; Belvedere Garden Phase 2, 
No. 620 Castle Peak Road – Tsuen Wan; Belvedere Garden Phase 3, No. 625 Castle Peak Road – Tsuen Wan, Tsuen Wan, New 
Territories, Hong Kong.

Description Belvedere Garden is a comprehensive residential cum commercial development, completed 
in three phases in between 1987 and 1991.

The property comprises various commercial areas, clinics, kindergartens, a market and 
various parking lots within Belvedere Garden, which are collectively referred to as Belvedere 
Garden Property. Details are set out below:

Belvedere Garden Phase 1
Shop Nos. 1 to 7 on Ground Floor, Clinic Nos. 1, 2, 3 and 4 on Mezzanine Floor, the 
Kindergarten on Mezzanine Floor, Car Parking Spaces Nos. 16, 22-29, 32, 34, 35, 37-45, 47 
and 50 to 68 on Ground Floor and Car Parking Spaces Nos. 12, 13, 16-25, 33-37, 40, 41, 43, 
44, 47-49 and 51 on Second Basement Floor.

Belvedere Garden Phase 2
Shops Nos. 1 to 10 & 12 and the Kindergarten on the Ground Floor, Shops on the 1st Floor 
and Shops on the 2nd Floor and Car Parking Spaces Nos. 51-77, 114, 117, 118, 121, 126-135 
and 137-147 on Ground Floor, Common Areas.

Belvedere Garden Phase 3
Shops and Market on the Ground Floor of Belvedere Square, Shops on Basement 2, 
Kindergarten on the Podium and Car Parking Spaces Nos. 298, 303-306, 308-310, 324-326, 
375-380 and 384-385 on Basement 2, Car Parking Spaces Nos. 1-36, 50-53, 55-116 and 118-
192 on Basement 1, Common Areas.

The total gross rentable area of the property (excluding parking lots) is approximately 
25,721.11 sq m (276,862 sq ft). The property also comprises a total of 329 parking lots which 
include 314 private carparking spaces and 15 motocycle spaces.

Land Tenure The property comprises portion of shares of and in Tsuen Wan Town Lot Nos. 308 and 316.

Tsuen Wan Town Lot No. 308 is held under New Grant No. TW6583 for a term of 99 years 
less the last 3 days thereof commencing from 1 July 1898. The lease term has been 
extended to expire on 30 June 2047.

Tsuen Wan Town Lot No. 316 is held under New Grand No. TW6639 for a term of 99 years 
less the last 3 days thereof commencing from 1 July 1898. The lease term has been 
extended to expire on 30 June 2047.

The annual Government rent payable is 3% of the prevailing rateable value of the property.
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Monthly Rental and Licence 
Income as at 31 December 2021

Approximately HK$8,702,400, exclusive of rates, Government rent, management fees and 
air-conditioning charges.

Average Monthly Turnover Rent 
and Atrium Income for January 
2021 to December 2021

Approximately HK$50,900

Average Monthly Car Parking 
Income for January 2021 to 
December 2021

Approximately HK$680,700

Market Value in Existing State as 
at 31 December 2021

HK$2,526,000,000 
(HONG KONG DOLLARS TWO BILLION FIVE HUNDRED AND TWENTY SIX MILLION)

Estimated Net Property Yield 4.5%

Laguna Plaza

Laguna Plaza, 88 Cha Kwo Ling Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

Description Laguna Plaza is one of the commercial centres of a comprehensive private residential 
development known as Laguna City completed in 1991.

The property comprises the shopping centre on the Ground Level, Level 1 and Level 2 and 
150 parking lots on the Basement 1 and Basement 2 of the 5-storey commercial podium of 
the development.

The total gross rentable area of the property (excluding parking lots) is approximately 
15,161.93 sq m (163,203 sq ft).

Land Tenure The property comprises portion of shares of and in New Kowloon Inland Lot No. 6055.

New Kowloon Inland Lot No. 6055 is held under Condition of Exchange No. UB12004 for a 
term of residue of 99 years less 3 days commencing from 1 July 1898. The lease has been 
extended to expire on 30 June 2047. The annual Government rent payable is at 3% of the 
prevailing rateable value of the property.

Monthly Rental and Licence 
Income as at 31 December 2021

Approximately HK$7,557,300, exclusive of rates, Government rent, management fees and 
air-conditioning charges.

Average Monthly Turnover Rent 
and Atrium Income for January 
2021 to December 2021

Approximately HK$163,400

Average Monthly Car Parking 
Income for January 2021 to 
December 2021

Approximately HK$756,900

Market Value in Existing State as 
at 31 December 2021

HK$2,512,000,000 
(HONG KONG DOLLARS TWO BILLION FIVE HUNDRED AND TWELVE MILLION)

Estimated Net Property Yield 4.0%
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Fortune Metropolis

Fortune Metropolis, The Metropolis, 6-10 Metropolis Drive, Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

Description Fortune Metropolis is the commercial portion of a commercial/office/hotel/serviced 
apartment development, known as The Metropolis, completed in 2001.

The property comprises the three levels of retail premises on L7, L8 and L9 Floors and 179 
parking lots on Level 5 and Level 6 of the development.

The total gross rentable area of the property (excluding parking lots) is approximately 
30,859.16 sq m (332,168 sq ft).

Land Tenure The property comprises portion of shares of and in Kowloon Inland Lot No. 11077.

Kowloon Inland Lot No. 11077 is held under a Conditions of Grant No. 12444 for a term 
commencing from 14 February 1997 to 30 June 2047. The annual Government rent payable 
is at 3% of the prevailing rateable value of the property.

Monthly Rental and Licence 
Income as at 31 December 2021

Approximately HK$6,109,900, exclusive of rates, Government rent, management fees and 
air-conditioning charges.

Average Monthly Turnover Rent 
and Atrium Income for January 
2021 to December 2021

Approximately HK$73,400

Average Monthly Car Parking 
Income for January 2021 to 
December 2021

Approximately HK$483,900

Market Value in Existing State as 
at 31 December 2021

HK$2,469,000,000 
(HONG KONG DOLLARS TWO BILLION FOUR HUNDRED AND SIXTY NINE MILLION)

Estimated Net Property Yield 3.2%
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Waldorf Avenue

Waldorf Avenue, Shops on Level 3 and Various Carparks, Waldorf Garden, 1 Tuen Lee Street, Tuen Mun, New Territories, Hong Kong.

Description Waldorf Garden is a private residential cum commercial development completed in 1982.

The property comprises a retail floor on Level 3, bicycle parking area on Level 1, and 73 car 
parking spaces on Levels 1 and 2 within a 4-storey podium of the development.

The total gross rentable area of the property (excluding parking lots) is approximately 
7,510.41 sq m (80,842 sq ft).

Land Tenure The property comprises portion of shares of and in Tuen Mun Town Lot No. 194.

Tuen Mun Town Lot No. 194 is held under New Grant No. 2344 for a term of 99 years from 
1 July 1898. The lease is extended to expire on 30 June 2047. The annual Government rent 
payable is 3% of the prevailing rateable value of the property.

Monthly Rental and Licence 
Income as at 31 December 2021

Approximately HK$6,151,900, exclusive of rates, Government rent, management fees and 
air-conditioning charges.

Average Monthly Turnover Rent 
Income for January 2021 to 
December 2021

Approximately HK$49,000

Average Monthly Car Parking 
Income for January 2021 to 
December 2021

Approximately HK$140,900

Market Value in Existing State as 
at 31 December 2021

HK$1,777,000,000 
(HONG KONG DOLLARS ONE BILLION SEVEN HUNDRED AND SEVENTY SEVEN MILLION)

Estimated Net Property Yield 4.3%
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Caribbean Square

Caribbean Square Caribbean Coast, 1 Kin Tung Road, Tung Chung, Lantau Island, New Territories, Hong Kong.

Description Caribbean Square is the commercial portion of a private residential cum commercial 
development, known as “Caribbean Coast”, completed between 2002 and 2008.

The property comprises the commercial accommodation, the wet market and the 
kindergarten on ground floor within the development. It also comprises a total of 117 parking 
lots on the ground floor (i.e. 1st floor as stipulated in land search record) of Phase 6 of the 
development.

The total gross rentable area of the property (excluding parking lots) is approximately 
5,854.52 sq m (63,018 sq ft).

Land Tenure The property comprises portion of shares of and in Tung Chung Town Lot No. 5.

Tung Chung Town Lot No. 5 is held under New Grant No. IS8102 for a term commencing 
from 26 June 1997 to 30 June 2047. The annual Government rent payable for the property is 
at 3% of the prevailing rateable value of the property.

Monthly Rental and Licence 
Income as at 31 December 2021

Approximately HK$4,083,100, exclusive of rates, Government rent, management fees and 
air-conditioning charges.

Average Monthly Turnover Rent 
Income for January 2021 to 
December 2021

Approximately HK$43,900

Average Monthly Car Parking 
Income for January 2021 to 
December 2021

Approximately HK$267,600

Market Value in Existing State as 
at 31 December 2021

HK$1,196,000,000 
(HONG KONG DOLLARS ONE BILLION ONE HUNDRED AND NINETY SIX MILLION)

Estimated Net Property Yield 4.7%
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Jubilee Square

Jubilee Square, Jubilee Garden, Nos 2-18 Lok King Street, Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong.

Description Jubilee Square is the commercial portion of a private residential cum commercial 
development, known as Jubilee Garden, completed in 1986.

The property comprises a free-standing 7-storey shopping centre and a wet market on the 
1st Floor of the podium of Jubilee Garden. It also comprises a total of 97 parking lots on the 
1st Floor of the development.

The total gross rentable area of the property (excluding parking lots) is approximately 
15,850.61 sq m (170,616 sq ft).

Land Tenure The property comprises portion of shares of and in Sha Tin Town Lot No. 87.

Sha Tin Town Lot No. 87 is held under New Grant No. ST11326 for a term of 99 years 
commencing from 1 July 1898. The lease is extended to expire on 30 June 2047. The annual 
Government rent payable is at 3% of the prevailing rateable value of the property.

Monthly Rental and Licence 
Income as at 31 December 2021

Approximately HK$2,937,900, exclusive of rates, Government rent, management fees and 
air-conditioning charges.

Average Monthly Turnover Rent 
Income for January 2021 to 
December 2021

Approximately HK$23,200

Average Monthly Car Parking 
Income for January 2021 to 
December 2021

Approximately HK$432,000

Market Value in Existing State as 
at 31 December 2021

HK$926,000,000 
(HONG KONG DOLLARS NINE HUNDRED AND TWENTY SIX MILLION)

Estimated Net Property Yield 4.4%
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Tsing Yi Square

Tsing Yi Square, Various Portions in Tsing Yi Square, Tsing Yi Garden, 7-19 Tsing Luk Street, Tsing Yi, New Territories, Hong Kong.

Description Tsing Yi Square is the commercial portion of a private residential cum commercial 
development, known as Tsing Yi Garden, completed in 1986.

The property comprises various retail shops on the Ground Floor and 1st Floor and 27 
parking lots within the development.

The total gross rentable area of the property (excluding parking lots) is approximately 
7,324.04 sq m (78,836 sq ft).

Land Tenure The property comprises portion of shares of and in Tsing Yi Town Lot No. 101.

Tsing Yi Town Lot No. 101 is held under New Grant No. TW6229 for a term of 99 years 
commencing from 1 July 1898. The lease has been extended and expiry on 30 June 2047. 
The annual Government rent payable is at 3% of the prevailing rateable value of the property.

Monthly Rental Income as at  
31 December 2021

Approximately HK$3,313,200, exclusive of rates, Government rent, management fees and 
air-conditioning charges.

Average Monthly Turnover Rent 
and Atrium Income for January 
2021 to December 2021

Approximately HK$1,400

Average Monthly Car Parking 
Income for January 2021 to 
December 2021

Approximately HK$52,900

Market Value in Existing State as 
at 31 December 2021

HK$827,000,000 
(HONG KONG DOLLARS EIGHT HUNDRED AND TWENTY SEVEN MILLION)

Estimated Net Property Yield 4.9%
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Smartland

Various Portions in Smartland, East Asia Gardens, 16 Tsuen Wah Street, Tsuen Wan, New Territories, Hong Kong.

Description Smartland is portion of the commercial portion of a residential cum commercial 
development, known as East Asia Gardens, completed in 1981.

The property comprises various retail premises on the Ground and 1st Floors, the whole of 
2nd Floor, the reserved podium roof on the 3rd Floor, portions of external walls (except the 
portion at A101 on Ground Floor) and 67 parking lots in the Basement Floor of a 4-storey 
podium (including the Basement).

The total gross rentable area of the property (excluding parking lots) is approximately 
11,477.52 sq m (123,544 sq ft).

Land Tenure The property comprises portion of shares of and in Tsuen Wan Town Lot No. 247.

Tsuen Wan Town Lot No. 247 is held under New Grant No. 5591 for a term of 99 years 
commencing from 1 July 1898. The lease term has been extended to expire on 30 June 
2047. The annual Government rent payable is 3% of the prevailing rateable value of the 
Property.

Monthly Rental and Licence 
Income as at 31 December 2021

Approximately HK$2,773,100, exclusive of rates, Government rent, management fees and 
air-conditioning charges.

Average Monthly Turnover Rent 
and Atrium Income for January 
2021 to December 2021

Approximately HK$37,600

Average Monthly Car Parking 
Income for January 2021 to 
December 2021

Approximately HK$274,300

Market Value in Existing State as 
at 31 December 2021

HK$814,000,000 
(HONG KONG DOLLARS EIGHT HUNDRED AND FOURTEEN MILLION)

Estimated Net Property Yield 4.5%



83

Fo
rtune R

eal E
state Investm

ent Trust

Valuation Report

Centre de Laguna

Centre de Laguna, 93 Cha Kwo Ling Road, Kindergarten on Ground Floor, 99 Cha Kwo Ling Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

Description Centre de Laguna is the commercial development within a private residential cum 
commercial development, known as Laguna City, completed in 1992.

The property comprises the commercial accommodation on the Ground and Upper Ground 
Floors of the commercial development and a kindergarten on Ground Floor of Blocks 32 to 
38 of the development.

The total gross rentable area of the property is approximately 3,994.80 sq m (43,000 sq ft).

Land Tenure The property comprises portion of shares of and in Kowloon Inland Lot No. 6100.

Kowloon Inland Lot No. 6100 is held under a Conditions of Exchange No. 12071 for a term 
commencing from 31 October 1989 to 30 June 2047. The annual Government rent payable 
for the property is at 3% of the prevailing rateable value of the property.

Monthly Rental and Licence 
Income as at 31 December 2021

Approximately HK$1,158,900, exclusive of rates, Government rent, management fees and 
air-conditioning charges.

Market Value in Existing State  
as at 31 December 2021

HK$330,000,000 
(HONG KONG DOLLARS THREE HUNDRED AND THIRTY MILLION)

Estimated Net Property Yield 4.2%
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Hampton Loft

Hampton Loft, Hampton Place, 11 Hoi Fan Road, Tai Kok Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

Description Hampton Loft is the commercial portion of a private residential cum commercial 
development, known as Hampton Place, completed in 2003.

The property comprises the commercial units on the 5th floor and 6th floor of the 
development and a total of 35 commercial parking lots on the 1st floor of the development.

The total gross rentable area of the property (excluding the parking lots) is approximately 
6,942.96 sq m (74,734 sq ft).

Land Tenure The property comprises portion of shares of and in Kowloon Inland Lot No. 11107.

Kowloon Inland Lot No. 11107 is held under Conditions of Sale No. 12554 for a term of 50 
years commencing from 13 December 1999. The annual Government rent payable is at 3% 
of the prevailing rateable value of the property.

Monthly Rental and Licence 
Income as at 31 December 2021

Approximately HK$1,188,100, exclusive of rates, Government rent, and management fees.

Average Monthly Car Parking 
Income for January 2021 to 
December 2021

Approximately HK$90,800

Market Value in Existing State  
as at 31 December 2021

HK$318,000,000 
(HONG KONG DOLLARS THREE HUNDRED AND EIGHTEEN MILLION)

Estimated Net Property Yield 4.8%
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Lido Avenue

Shops on Ground Floor, Lido Garden, 41 – 63 Castle Peak Road, Sham Tseng, Tsuen Wan, New Territories, Hong Kong.

Description Lido Garden is a private residential cum commercial development completed in 1989.

The property comprises various retail units on Ground Floor of the development.

The total gross rentable area of the property is approximately 913.79 sq m (9,836 sq ft).

Land Tenure The property comprises portion of shares of and in Tsuen Wan Marine Lot No. 4.

Tsuen Wan Marine Lot No. 4 is held under a Conditions of Sale No. 2309 for a term of 75 
years, renewable for 24 years, commencing from 1 July 1898. The lease is extended to expire 
on 30 June 2047. The annual Government rent payable is at 3% of the prevailing rateable 
value of the property.

Monthly Rental Income as at  
31 December 2021

Approximately HK$798,600, exclusive of rates, Government rent, and management fees.

Market Value in Existing State  
as at 31 December 2021

HK$211,000,000 
(HONG KONG DOLLARS TWO HUNDRED AND ELEVEN MILLION)

Estimated Net Property Yield 4.5%

Rhine Avenue

Shops on Ground Floor, Rhine Garden, 38 Castle Peak Road, Sham Tseng, Tsuen Wan, New Territories, Hong Kong.

Description Rhine Garden is a private residential cum commercial development completed in 1992.

The property comprises four retail units on Ground Floor and AHU Room on Podium Level 1 
of the development.

The total gross rentable area of the property is approximately 1,356.74 sq m (14,604 sq ft).

Land Tenure The property comprises portion of shares of and in Lot No. 261 in Demarcation District No. 
390.

Lot No. 261 in Demarcation District No. 390 is held under New Grant No. TW6771 for a term 
commencing from 1 September 1990 to 30 June 2047. The annual Government rent payable 
is at 3% of the prevailing rateable value of the property.

Monthly Rental Income as at  
31 December 2021

Approximately HK$505,400, exclusive of rates, Government rent, management fees and air-
conditioning charges.

Market Value in Existing State as 
at 31 December 2021

HK$134,000,000 
(HONG KONG DOLLARS ONE HUNDRED AND THIRTY FOUR MILLION)

Estimated Net Property Yield 4.5%

The valuation report contained herein is in summary form. A full version in English is available for inspection at the Hong Kong office 
of the Manager.
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Report of the Trustee

We hereby confirmed that, in our opinion, the manager of Fortune Real Estate Investment Trust has, in all material respects, 
managed Fortune Real Estate Investment Trust in accordance with the provisions of the Trust Deed dated 4 July 2003, as amended 
and/or supplemented by the First Amending and Restating Deed dated 29 June 2005, the Second Supplemental Deed dated 20 
April 2006, the Third Supplemental Deed dated 12 October 2009, the Fourth Supplemental Deed dated 26 February 2010, the Fifth 
Supplemental Deed dated 26 March 2010, the Sixth Supplemental Deed dated 23 July 2010, the Seventh Supplemental Deed dated 
12 January 2012, the Second Amending and Restating Deed dated 8 May 2015, the Third Amending and Restating Deed dated 8 
June 2018, the Supplemental Deed of Retirement and Appointment of Trustee dated 19 September 2019, the Fourth Amending and 
Restating Deed dated 10 January 2020, the Fifth Amending and Restating Deed dated 31 March 2021 and the Eighth Supplemental 
Deed dated 31 May 2021, for the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Asia) Limited
In its capacity as the trustee of Fortune Real Estate Investment Trust

Hong Kong
1 March 2022
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Independent Auditor’s Report

 

TO THE UNITHOLDERS OF FORTUNE REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST
(A Hong Kong collective investment scheme authorised under section 104 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the 
Laws of Hong Kong))

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Fortune Real Estate Investment Trust (“Fortune REIT”) and its 
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 93 to 142, which comprise the consolidated statement of 
financial position as at 31 December 2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 
distribution statement, consolidated statement of changes in net assets attributable to unitholders and consolidated statement 
of cash flows of the Group for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial disposition of the Group 
as at 31 December 2021, and of its consolidated financial transactions and consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(“IASB”).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”) issued by the International Auditing and 
Assurance Standard Board. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with 
the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including 
International Independence Standards) (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the 
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated 
financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of investment properties

We identified the valuation of investment properties as a key 
audit matter as they represented 99% of total assets of the 
Group as at 31 December 2021 and significant judgement is 
required in determining their fair value.

As disclosed in Note 13 to the consolidated financial 
statements, investment properties of the Group are retail 
properties in Hong Kong comprising retail space and car 
park space. The carrying amount of investment properties 
amounted to HK$39,500 million as at 31 December 2021 and 
their change in fair value included in the profit for the year was 
HK$358 million. As disclosed in Note 13 to the consolidated 
financial statements, in estimating the fair value of investment 
properties, ARA Asset Management (Fortune) Limited (the 
“Manager” of Fortune REIT) engaged an independent qualified 
external valuer (the “Valuer”) to perform the valuation and 
worked with the Valuer to establish inputs to the valuation 
model.

As disclosed in Notes 4(a) and 13 to the consolidated financial 
statements, the fair value is based on the valuation performed 
by the Valuer using income capitalisation approach which is a 
method of valuation whereby the existing net rental incomes 
(i.e. exclusive of rates, government rent, management fees 
and air-conditioning charges) of all lettable units of each 
property are capitalised for the respective unexpired terms of 
contractual tenancies whilst vacant units are assumed to be 
let at their respective market rents as at the valuation date. 
This involves the making of certain assumptions and the use 
of estimates in respect of the capitalisation rate, by reference 
to the yields derived from analysing the sales transactions of 
similar properties in Hong Kong and adjusted to take account 
of the Valuer’s knowledge of the market expectation from 
property investors to reflect factors specific to the Group’s 
investment properties. A slight increase in the capitalisation 
rate used would result in a significant decrease in fair value, 
and vice versa.

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of investment 
properties included:

• Evaluating the competency, capabilities and objectivity of 
the Valuer;

• Obtaining an understanding of the valuation process and 
significant assumptions and critical judgement areas of 
the Valuer to assess if the approaches are consistent with 
relevant accounting requirements and industry norms;

• Evaluating the appropriateness of the judgements made 
by the Manager and the Valuer, in particular the valuation 
model and the capitalisation rate based on our knowledge 
of the property market in Hong Kong; and

• Assessing the reasonableness of other key parameters, 
including market rentals, in the valuation model by 
comparing them against market data and entity-specific 
information such as rental income, tenancy summary, 
details and size of the properties on a sampling basis.
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Other Information

The Manager is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the annual 
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to 
report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Manager and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated 
Financial Statements

The Manager is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance 
with IFRSs issued by the IASB, and for such internal control as the Manager determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Manager is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
the Manager either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

In addition, the Manager is required to ensure that the consolidated financial statements have been properly prepared in 
accordance with the relevant provision of the trust deed dated 4 July 2003 (as amended, supplemented, or otherwise modified from 
time to time) (the “Trust Deed”) and the relevant disclosure provisions of Appendix C of the Code on Real Estate Investment Trusts 
(the “REIT Code”) issued by the Hong Kong Securities and Futures Commission.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as 
a body, in accordance with Appendix C of the REIT Code, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards 
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is 
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. In addition, 
we are required to assess whether the consolidated financial statements have been properly prepared, in all material respects, in 
accordance with the relevant provisions of the Trust Deed and the relevant disclosure provisions of Appendix C of the REIT Code.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout 
the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the Manager.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Manager’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the 
Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear 
on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most significance 
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe 
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely 
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of 
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Matters Under the Relevant Provisions of the Trust Deed and the Relevant 
Disclosure Provisions of Appendix C of the REIT Code

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements have been properly prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the 
relevant provisions of the Trust Deed and the relevant disclosure provisions of Appendix C of the REIT Code.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Tan Wei Ming.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

1 March 2022
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and  
Other Comprehensive Income

Notes 2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 6 1,806,397 1,843,824

Property operating expenses 7 (424,770) (425,123)
    

Net property income before manager’s performance fee 1,381,627 1,418,701

Manager’s performance fee (41,450) (42,566)
    

Net property income 1,340,177 1,376,135

Manager’s base fee (117,193) (122,230)

Foreign currency exchange loss, net – (78)

Interest income 55 159

Trust expenses 8 (14,100) (14,477)

Change in fair value of investment properties 13 357,971 (3,799,917)

Finance costs 9 (45,766) (426,612)
    

Profit/(loss) before taxation and transactions with unitholders 10 1,521,144 (2,987,020)

Income tax expense 11 (203,630) (205,938)
    

Profit/(loss) for the year, before transactions with unitholders 1,317,514 (3,192,958)

Distributions to unitholders (883,031) (921,890)
    

Net comprehensive income/(expense) for the year 434,483 (4,114,848)
    

Basic earnings/(loss) per unit (HK cents) 12 66.98 (163.66)
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Distribution Statement
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Notes 2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit/(loss) for the year, before transactions with unitholders 1,317,514 (3,192,958)

Adjustments:

Manager’s base fee 117,193 122,230

Change in fair value of investment properties 13 (357,971) 3,799,917

Change in fair value of derivative financial instruments 9 (147,366) 180,789

Non-cash finance costs 20,084 30,434

Deferred tax 11 31,691 29,999
    

Income available for distribution (note (i)) 981,145 970,411
    

Distributions to unitholders

Interim distribution 490,847 440,745

Final distribution 392,184 481,145
    

883,031 921,890
    

Payout ratio (note (ii)) 90% 95%
    

Distribution per unit (HK cents)

Interim distribution per unit (note (iii)) 24.96 22.60

Final distribution per unit (note (iv)) 19.87 24.56
    

44.83 47.16
    

Notes:

(i) The distribution policy of Fortune REIT is to distribute not less than 90% of consolidated net profit after tax (before transactions with unitholders) 
for the relevant financial period adjusted to eliminate the effects of certain adjustments in the trust deed dated on 4 July 2003 (as amended, 
supplemented, or otherwise modified from time to time) (the “Trust Deed”).

(ii) Distribution amount to unitholders of HK$883.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: HK$921.9 million), representing a payout ratio 
of 90% (2020: 95%) of Fortune REIT’s income available for distribution of HK$981.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: HK$970.4 
million).

(iii) The distribution per unit of 24.96 HK cents for the six months ended 30 June 2021 (six months ended 30 June 2020: 22.60 HK cents) was 
calculated based on the interim distribution to unitholders amount of HK$490.8 million (six months ended 30 June 2020: HK$440.7 million) over 
1,966,220,930 units (30 June 2020: 1,950,177,768 units), represented issued units as at 30 June 2021 of 1,962,764,632 units (30 June 2020: 
1,945,863,309 units) plus the number of units issued after the distribution period to the Manager as settlement of the Manager’s base fee for its 
services in the second quarter of 2021 of 3,456,298 units (second quarter of 2020: 4,314,459 units). Interim distribution was paid on 17 September 
2021 (2020 interim distribution: 18 September 2020).

(iv) The distribution per unit of 19.87 HK cents for the six months ended 31 December 2021 (six months ended 31 December 2020: 24.56 HK cents) 
is calculated based on the final distribution to unitholders amount of HK$392.2 million (six months ended 31 December 2020: HK$481.1 million) 
over 1,973,804,407 units (31 December 2020: 1,958,886,876 units), representing issued units as at 31 December 2021 of 1,970,043,580 units (31 
December 2020: 1,954,817,025 units) plus the number of units issued after the distribution period to the Manager as settlement of the Manager’s 
base fee for its services in the fourth quarter of 2021 of 3,760,827 units (fourth quarter of 2020: 4,069,851 units). Final distribution will be paid on 
22 April 2022 (2020 final distribution: 18 March 2021).
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As at 31 December 2021

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Notes 2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Non-current assets

Investment properties 13 39,500,000 39,075,000

Derivative financial instruments 14 21,012 –
    

Total non-current assets 39,521,012 39,075,000
    

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 15 76,782 84,094

Taxation recoverable 8,955 –

Bank balances 16 117,962 177,167
    

Total current assets 203,699 261,261
    

Total assets 39,724,711 39,336,261
    

Non-current liabilities

Derivative financial instruments 14 60,501 180,256

Borrowings 17 7,240,917 5,164,705

Deferred tax liabilities 18 562,461 530,770
    

Total non-current liabilities 7,863,879 5,875,731
    

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 19 685,870 717,317

Borrowings 17 1,599,600 3,594,667

Distribution payable 392,184 481,996

Derivative financial instruments 14 – 6,599

Provision for taxation – 28,449
    

Total current liabilities 2,677,654 4,829,028
    

Total liabilities, excluding net assets attributable to unitholders 10,541,533 10,704,759
    

Net assets attributable to unitholders 29,183,178 28,631,502
    

Units in issue and to be issued (‘000) 20 1,973,804 1,958,887
    

Net asset value per unit attributable to unitholders (HK$) 21 14.79 14.62
    

The consolidated financial statements on pages 93 to 142 were approved and authorised for issue by ARA Asset Management 
(Fortune) Limited, as the Manager of Fortune Real Investment Trust on 1 March 2022 and were signed on its behalf by:

Lim Hwee Chiang Chiu Yu, Justina

Director Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in  
Net Assets Attributable to Unitholders

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Units in issue
 and to be 

issued
Unit issue 

costs
Retained 

profits Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Net assets attributable to unitholders as  
at 1 January 2020 8,241,215 (286,279) 24,669,184 32,624,120

     

OPERATIONS

Loss for the year, before transactions with unitholders – – (3,192,958) (3,192,958)

Distribution paid and payable of 22.60 HK cents per unit  
for the six months ended 30 June 2020 – – (440,745) (440,745)

Distribution payable of 24.56 HK cents per unit  
for the six months ended 31 December 2020 – – (481,145) (481,145)

     

Net comprehensive expense for the year – – (4,114,848) (4,114,848)
     

UNITHOLDERS’ TRANSACTIONS

Creation of units

– Manager’s base fee paid/payable in units 122,230 – – 122,230
     

Increase in net assets resulting from  
unitholders’ transactions 122,230 – – 122,230

     

Net assets attributable to unitholders as  
at 31 December 2020 8,363,445 (286,279) 20,554,336 28,631,502

     
OPERATIONS

Profit for the year, before transactions with unitholders – – 1,317,514 1,317,514

Distribution paid and payable of 24.96 HK cents per unit  
for the six months ended 30 June 2021 – – (490,847) (490,847)

Distribution payable of 19.87 HK cents per unit  
for the six months ended 31 December 2021 – – (392,184) (392,184)

     

Net comprehensive income for the year – – 434,483 434,483
     

UNITHOLDERS’ TRANSACTIONS

Creation of units

– Manager’s base fee paid/payable in units 117,193 – – 117,193
     

Increase in net assets resulting from  
unitholders’ transactions 117,193 – – 117,193

     

Net assets attributable to unitholders as  
at 31 December 2021 8,480,638 (286,279) 20,988,819 29,183,178

     



97

Fo
rtune R

eal E
state Investm

ent Trust

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Operating activities

Profit/(loss) before taxation and transactions with unitholders 1,521,144 (2,987,020)

Adjustments for:

Manager’s base fee paid/payable in units 117,193 122,230

Change in fair value of investment properties (357,971) 3,799,917

Interest income (55) (159)

Other finance costs 193,132 245,823

Change in fair value of derivative financial instruments (147,366) 180,789

Allowance for credit losses 631 5,996
   

Operating cash flows before movement in working capital 1,326,708 1,367,576

Decrease/(Increase) in trade and other receivables 6,681 (4,594)

Decrease in trade and other payables (33,237) (42,659)
   

Cash generated from operations 1,300,152 1,320,323

Income tax paid (209,343) (340,325)
   

Net cash from operating activities 1,090,809 979,998
   

Investing activities

Upgrading of investment properties (67,029) (54,917)

Interest received 55 159
   

Net cash used in investing activities (66,974) (54,758)
   

Financing activities

Drawdown of borrowings 4,450,000 5,839,000

Repayment of borrowings (4,350,000) (5,545,000)

Distribution paid (971,992) (929,059)

Interest paid (173,048) (215,389)

Payment of front-end fees (38,000) (34,000)
   

Net cash used in financing activities (1,083,040) (884,448)
   

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (59,205) 40,792

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 177,167 136,375
   

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 117,962 177,167
   

Represented by:

Cash at bank 117,962 177,167
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

1 General Information

Fortune Real Estate Investment Trust (“Fortune REIT”) is a Hong Kong collective investments scheme authorised under 
section 104 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and listed on The Stock 
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“SEHK”). Fortune REIT is governed by the Code on Real Estate Investment Trusts (the “REIT 
Code”) issued by the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong (the “SFC”) and the Trust Deed made between ARA 
Asset Management (Fortune) Limited (the “Manager”) and HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Asia) Limited (the “Trustee”).

The registered offices and principal places of business of the Manager in Singapore and Hong Kong are 5 Temasek 
Boulevard, #12-01 Suntec Tower 5, Singapore 038985 and Unit 901, Level 9, Fortune Metropolis, 6 Metropolis Drive, 
Hunghom, Kowloon, Hong Kong, respectively. The registered office of the Trustee is 1 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollar (“HK$”), which is the functional currency of Fortune 
REIT.

The principal activity of Fortune REIT is investment holding whereas its subsidiaries (together with Fortune REIT referred to 
as the “Group”) is to own and invest in a portfolio of retail shopping malls located in Hong Kong with the primary objective of 
producing stable distributions for unitholders and to achieve long term growth in the net asset value per unit.

The Group has entered into several service agreements in relation to the management of Fortune REIT and its property 
operations. The fee structures of these services are as follows:

(a) Property management fees

Property management fee

Under the property management agreement, Goodwell-Fortune Property Services Limited (the “Property Manager”), 
which is a connected party of Fortune REIT, will receive from each of the property holding subsidiaries (the “Property 
Companies”) a fee of 3.0% per annum of gross property revenue for the provision of property management services 
and lease management services.

Gross property revenue means the amount equivalent to the gross revenue less charge-out collections and car park 
revenue.

Marketing services fee

For marketing services, the Property Companies will pay the Property Manager the following leasing and other 
commissions:

– one month’s base rent for securing a tenancy of three years or more;

– one-half month’s base rent for securing a tenancy of less than three years;

– one-half month’s base rent for securing a renewal of tenancy irrespective of duration of the renewal term; and

– 10.0% of total licence fee for securing a licence for duration of less than 12 months.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

1 General Information (Continued)

(b) Trustee’s fees

The Trustee’s fees charged by the Trustee shall not exceed the rate of 0.25% per annum (subject to a minimum of 
HK$50,000 per month) on the value of the real estate properties and are accrued daily and paid monthly in arrears in 
accordance with the Trust Deed. 

(c) Manager’s fees

The Manager is entitled to receive the following remuneration for the provision of asset management services:

Base fee

Under the Trust Deed, the Manager will receive a base fee from Fortune REIT at a rate not exceeding 0.3% per annum 
on the value of the properties. The base fee will be paid quarterly in arrears to the Manager in the form of cash or units 
as the Manager may elect.

Performance fee

Under the Trust Deed, the Manager will receive a performance fee in the form of cash from each of the Property 
Companies at 3.0% per annum of the net property income of the Property Companies with certain adjustments.

(d) Acquisition fee and divestment fee

The Manager is entitled to receive the following fees:

Acquisition fee

Under the Trust Deed, the Manager will receive an acquisition fee of not exceeding a maximum of 1.0% of the 
acquisition price for any real estate purchased directly or indirectly by Fortune REIT (pro-rated if applicable to the 
proportion of Fortune REIT’s interest in the real estate acquired) in the form of cash or units as the Manager may elect.

Divestment fee

Under the Trust Deed, the Manager will receive a divestment fee of not exceeding a maximum of 1.0% of the sale price 
of any real estate directly or indirectly sold or divested by Fortune REIT (pro-rated if applicable to proportion of Fortune 
REIT’s interest in the real estate sold) in the form of cash, provided that:

(a) In the case of a sale or divestment in connection with which the Manager:

(A) has not engaged any third party agent or broker; or

(B) has engaged third party agent(s) or broker(s) and the aggregate fees payable to such third party agent(s) 
or broker(s) thereof do not exceed the rate of 0.5% of the sale price, such divestment fee shall not exceed 
the rate of 0.5% of the sale price; and

(b) In the case of a sale or divestment in connection with which the Manager has engaged third party agent(s) or 
broker(s) and the aggregate fees payable to such third party agent(s) or broker(s) thereof exceed the rate of 0.5% 
of the sale price, such divestment fee shall be the actual aggregate fees payable therefor to such third party 
agent(s) or broker(s) in any case not exceeding the rate of 1.0% of the sale price.
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2 Application of Amendments to International Financial Reporting Standards

Amendments to International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) that are 
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments to IFRSs issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (“IASB”) for the first time, which are pertinent to the Group and are mandatorily effective for the annual 
period beginning on or after 1 January 2021 for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2

The application of the amendments to IFRSs in the current year had no material impact on the Group’s financial position and 
performance for the current and prior year and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following amendments to IFRSs that have been issued and are pertinent to its operations 
but are not yet effective:

Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework1

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS  
Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies2

Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates2

Amendments to IFRSs Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-20201

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current2

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

The Manager anticipates that the application of the above amendments to IFRSs that are not yet effective will have no 
material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

3 Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements and Significant 
Accounting Policies

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB. In addition, 
the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of 
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the relevant provisions of the Trust Deed and the REIT Code 
issued by the SFC.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on historical cost basis, except for investment properties 
and certain financial instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as explained in 
the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or 
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into 
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account 
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in 
these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions 
that are within the scope of IFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance 
with IFRS 16, and measurements that have same similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable 
value in IAS 2 Inventories or value in use in IAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate 
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would 
use the asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which are transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that 
unobservable inputs are to be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated 
so that at initial recognition the results of the valuation technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2, or 3 based on the 
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair 
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can 
access at the measurement date;

• Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly or indirectly; and

• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Manager is of the opinion that, taking into account the headroom of the fair value of investment properties for 
obtaining additional banking facilities, internal financial resources of the Group and presently available undrawn 
banking facilities, the Group has sufficient working capital for its present requirements within one year from the end of 
the reporting period. Hence, the consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.
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3 Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements and Significant 
Accounting Policies (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(a) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of Fortune REIT and entities 
controlled by Fortune REIT and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when Fortune REIT:

• has power over the investee;

• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

• has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

Fortune REIT reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 
changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when Fortune REIT obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when 
Fortune REIT loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or 
disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income from the date Fortune REIT gains control until the date when Fortune REIT ceases to control the 
subsidiary.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of the subsidiaries to bring their accounting 
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members 
of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

(b) Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent 
to initial recognition, investment properties are measured using the fair value, adjusted to exclude any prepaid or 
accrued operating lease income. Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment properties 
are included in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is permanently 
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. Any gain or loss arising on 
derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in the period in which the property is derecognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

3 Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements and Significant 
Accounting Policies (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(c) Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instruments. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and 
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets 
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value except for trade receivables arising 
from contracts with customers which are initially measured in accordance with IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers (“IFRS 15”). Transaction costs, including front-end fees and commitment fees, that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and 
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the 
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable 
to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial 
liability and of allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest 
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and points 
paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums 
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter 
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

• the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a financial 
asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in 
other comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration 
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to which IFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.
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3 Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements and Significant 
Accounting Policies (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(c) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (Continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

• it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near term; or

• on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages 
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

• it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that are required to be measured at the 
amortised cost as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for financial assets measured 
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the 
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently become 
credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest 
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset 
from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so 
that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective 
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period 
following the determination that the asset is no longer credit- impaired.

(ii) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or fair value through 
other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) or designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value 
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any 
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is included in finance costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

3 Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements and Significant 
Accounting Policies (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(c) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets 
(including trade and other receivables and bank balances) which are subject to impairment assessment under 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”). The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes 
in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of the 
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is 
expected to result from default events that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment 
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the 
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date as 
well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables and the ECL on these assets are assessed 
individually.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been 
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The 
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood or 
risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group 
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the 
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this 
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and 
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information that is available without 
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has 
increased significantly:

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if available) or 
internal credit rating;

• existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected 
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;
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3 Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements and Significant 
Accounting Policies (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(c) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor;

• an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological 
environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt 
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk has 
increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past 
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the 
reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of default, (ii) 
the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and (iii) 
adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, 
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers a debt 
instrument to have low credit risk when it has an internal or external credit rating of ‘investment grade’ as 
per globally understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of 
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

(ii) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of default to have occurred when 
information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to 
pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

The Group considers that default has occurred when the instrument is more than 90 days past due unless 
the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that more lagging default criterion 
is more appropriate.
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3 Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements and Significant 
Accounting Policies (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(c) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of default that have a detrimental impact on 
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is 
credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the debtor;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the debtor, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the debtor’s financial 
difficulty, having granted to the debtor a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise 
consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in severe 
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has 
been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off may 
still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal 
advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are 
recognised in profit or loss.

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of 
the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default and 
loss given default is based on historical data and forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects 
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks of default 
occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in 
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the 
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition. For a lease receivable, the cash flows used 
for determining the ECL is consistent with the cash flows used in measuring the lease receivable in 
accordance with IFRS 16.
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3 Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements and Significant 
Accounting Policies (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(c) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset unless the financial 
asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of the 
financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying 
amount with the exception of trade receivables where the corresponding adjustment is recognised through 
a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the 
asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the 
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the group entity after 
deducting all of its liabilities.

Unit issue costs are the transactions costs relating to issue of units in Fortune REIT which are accounted for 
as a deduction from the proceeds raised to the extent they are incremental costs directly attributable to the 
transactions that otherwise would have been avoided. Other transaction costs are recognised as an expense.
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3 Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements and Significant 
Accounting Policies (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(c) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method or at 
FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial liability is (i) contingent consideration of an 
acquirer in a business combination to which IFRS 3 applies, (ii) held for trading or (iii) it is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial liability is held for trading if:

• it has been acquired principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in the near term; or

• on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages 
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

• it is a derivative, except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and effective 
hedging instrument.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

In accordance with the Trust Deed, Fortune REIT is required to distribute to unitholders not less than 90% of its 
distributable income for each financial period. This provision in the Trust Deed provides the unitholders with a 
right to receive distribution which Fortune REIT has a contractual obligation to pay or declare at least 90% of its 
distributable income.

Accordingly, the unitholders’ funds are compound instruments in accordance with IFRS 9. Unitholders’ fund 
presented on the consolidated statement of financial position as net assets attributable to unitholders is 
classified as financial liabilities because the equity component is considered insignificant.

Other than the net assets attributable to unitholders of Fortune REIT, non-derivative financial liabilities include 
trade and other payables, distribution payable and borrowings. They are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and 
the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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3 Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements and Significant 
Accounting Policies (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(c) Financial instruments (Continued)

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are 
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is 
recognised in profit or loss.

(d) Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a 
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial application or arising from business 
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition under IFRS 
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless 
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the 
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee, 
the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the terms of 
the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the 
carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term except for investment properties measured under fair value model. Variable lease payments for 
operating leases that depend on an index or a rate are estimated and included in the total lease payments to be 
recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index 
or a rate are recognised as income when they arise.

Interest and rental income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary course of business are presented as 
revenue.
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3 Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements and Significant 
Accounting Policies (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(d) Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor (Continued)

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease components, the Group applies IFRS 15 to allocate 
consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease components. Non-lease components are separated from 
lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under IFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. 
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not part of the original terms and conditions are 
accounted for as lease modifications, including lease incentives provided through forgiveness or reduction of 
rentals.

Operating leases

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a new lease from the effective date of the 
modification, considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original lease as part of the lease 
payments for the new lease.

(e) Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods 
or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a 
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by reference to the progress towards 
complete satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

• the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as 
the Group performs;

• the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group performs; 
or

• the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has 
an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.
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3 Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements and Significant 
Accounting Policies (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(e) Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the distinct good or 
service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the 
Group has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress towards complete satisfaction of a 
performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation for car park space and charge-
out collections are measured based on output method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis of direct 
measurements of the value of the services transferred to the customer to date relative to the remaining services 
promised under the contract, that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring control of services.

As a practical expedient, if the Group has a right to consideration in an amount that corresponds directly with the 
value of the Group’s performance completed to date (rental contracts in which the Group bills a fixed amount 
of car park space and charge-out collections for each hour/month of service provided), the Group recognises 
revenue in the amount to which the Group has the right to invoice.

(f) Foreign currencies

The functional currency (the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates) of 
Fortune REIT and its subsidiaries is Hong Kong dollar.

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than 
Hong Kong dollar are recognised in Hong Kong dollar at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the 
transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are 
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, 
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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3 Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements and Significant 
Accounting Policies (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(g) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are 
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to 
the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Front-end fees incurred are amortised on a straight-line basis over the contractual term of the borrowings in 
the separate financial statements. These fees are treated as transaction costs of the Group’s borrowings and 
included in determining the effective interest rate on initial recognition of the borrowings in the consolidated 
financial statements.

(h) Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit/(loss) before 
taxation because of income and expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never 
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable 
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets 
are generally recognised for all temporary difference to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be 
available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred assets and liabilities are 
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a 
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the 
accounting profit.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset 
to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when 
the liability is settled or the asset is realised based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the 
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of 
its assets and liabilities.
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3 Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements and Significant 
Accounting Policies (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(h) Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxes for investment properties that are measured using the fair value 
model, the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the 
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment property is depreciable and is held 
within a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in 
the investment property over time, rather than through sale.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the same 
tax authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised 
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from 
the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business 
combination.

4 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 3, the Manager is required to make 
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 
sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered 
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision 
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
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4 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (Continued)

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, the Manager is of the opinion that there are no instances of 
use of estimation techniques which may have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements other than as follows:

(a) Valuation of investment properties

Investment properties are stated at fair value based on the valuation performed by independent professional valuer. 
The determination of the fair value involves certain assumptions of market conditions which are set out in Note 13. 
In relying on the valuation report, the Manager has exercised their judgement and are satisfied that the method of 
valuation and the key parameters used in the valuation are reflective of the current market conditions. The Manager 
considers the valuation of the Group’s investment properties is the best estimate. Changes to the assumptions would 
result in changes in the fair value of the Group’s investment properties and the corresponding adjustment to the 
amount of gain or loss reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of the Group’s investment properties is HK$39,500 million (2020: 
HK$39,075 million).

(b) Valuation of derivative financial instruments

As described in Note 14, the fair value of derivative financial instruments that are not quoted in active markets are 
determined by using certain valuation techniques. Where valuation techniques are used to determine their fair values, 
they are validated and periodically reviewed by qualified personnel. All models are calibrated to ensure that outputs 
reflect actual data and comparative market prices.

The carrying amount of derivative financial instruments at 31 December 2021 represented assets amounting to 
HK$21.0 million (2020: HK$ nil) and liabilities amounting to HK$60.5 million (2020: HK$186.9 million).

5 Segmental Reporting

Operating segments are identified on the basis of internal reports about components of the Group that are regularly reviewed 
by the chief operating decision maker, which is the management of the Manager, in order to allocate resources to segments 
and to assess their performance.

The Group owns 16 (2020: 16) properties as at 31 December 2021 which are located in Hong Kong. Revenue and net 
property income of each property (which constitutes an operating segment) are the measures reported to the Manager for 
the purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment. The Manager considers that all existing properties held 
by the Group, consisting of retail shopping malls, have similar economic characteristics and have similar nature in providing 
leasing service to similar type of retail tenants for rental income. In addition, the cost structure and the economic environment 
in which they operate are similar. Therefore, the Manager concluded that each of the properties or operating segments are 
aggregated into a single reportable segment and no further analysis for segment information is presented.
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6 Revenue

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue arising from operating leases:

Fixed 1,443,102 1,491,590

Variable 6,461 3,205

Charge-out collections 239,269 244,162

Car park revenue 115,765 102,088

Other income 1,800 2,779
   

1,806,397 1,843,824
   

Notes:

(i) Operating lease payments mainly includes base rental, licence fees and contingent rentals. Leases are negotiated for term ranging primary 
from two to three years with monthly fixed rental except for contingent rentals that are variable based on the percentage of sales.

(ii) Charge-out collections and car park revenue are revenue from contracts with customers, which consist of payments in respect of the 
operation of the properties in Hong Kong which are payable by the tenants, licensees and customers, are recognised over time as income 
when the services and facilities are provided. The Group elected to apply the practical expedient by recognising revenue in the amount to 
which the Group has right to invoice corresponding directly with the value to the customer of the Group’s performance completed to date. 
As permitted under IFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed. 

7 Property Operating Expenses

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Advertising and promotion 22,488 21,335

Building management expenses 213,305 212,607

Car park operating expenses 32,413 30,405

Government rents and rates 13,406 12,644

Leasing commission and marketing services fee 28,436 26,977

Legal and other professional fees 6,723 10,557

Property management fee 43,540 44,927

Utilities 46,652 43,498

Others 17,807 22,173
   

424,770 425,123
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8 Trust Expenses

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Trustee’s fee 11,698 12,411

Other charges 2,402 2,066
   

14,100 14,477
   

9 Finance Costs

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest expenses on bank borrowings 107,214 192,415

Amortisation of front-end fees 19,145 20,193

Commitment fee 1,770 1,126

Interest rate swaps expenses realised 65,003 32,089
   

193,132 245,823

Change in fair value of derivative financial instruments (147,366) 180,789
   

45,766 426,612
   

10 Profit/(Loss) Before Taxation and Transactions with Unitholders

Profit/(loss) before taxation and transactions with unitholders is arrived at after charging:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Fees to external auditor

– Audit services 1,580 1,580

– Non-audit services 1,262 1,379

Fees to internal auditor 350 350

Valuation fees (paid to principal valuer) 520 520

Bank charges 671 596

Allowance for credit losses 631 5,996

Public relation and non-deal roadshow expenses 760 884
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11 Income Tax Expense

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Current tax:

– Hong Kong 171,918 175,939

– Under provision in prior years 21 –
   

171,939 175,939
   

Deferred taxation (Note 18)

– Current year 31,951 29,999

– Over provision in prior years (260) –
   

31,691 29,999
   

203,630 205,938
   

Fortune REIT’s subsidiaries in Hong Kong are subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax at 16.5% (2020: 16.5%) for the year ended 31 
December 2021.

The income tax varied from the amount of income tax determined by applying the applicable Hong Kong profits tax rate of 
16.5% (2020: 16.5%) for the Group to the profit before taxation and transactions with unitholders as a result of the following 
differences:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit/(loss) before taxation and transactions with unitholders 1,521,144 (2,987,020)
   

Tax at the applicable income tax rate 250,989 (492,858)

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose 36,270 698,822

Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose (83,390) (26)

Over provision in prior years (239) –
   

Taxation for the year 203,630 205,938
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12 Earnings/(Loss) Per Unit

Basic earnings/(loss) per unit is calculated by dividing the profit/(loss) for the year, before transactions with unitholders by 
the weighted average number of units outstanding during the year as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit/(loss) for the year, before transactions with unitholders 1,317,514 (3,192,958)
   

Weighted average number of units outstanding during the year 
Number of units (‘000) 1,967,001 1,950,980

   

Basic earnings/(loss) per unit (HK cents) 66.98 (163.66)
   

The weighted average number of units outstanding during the year takes into account the 3,760,827 (2020: 4,069,851) 
units issuable as Manager’s base fee for the period from 1 October 2021 to 31 December 2021 (2020: 1 October 2020 to 31 
December 2020), which were issued to the Manager on 4 January 2022 (2020: 8 January 2020).

No diluted earnings/(loss) per unit is presented as there are no potential units in issue during the financial year nor 
outstanding as at the end of the financial year.

13 Investment Properties

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

FAIR VALUE

At beginning of year 39,075,000 42,820,000

During the year:

Capital expenditure incurred in upgrading investment properties 67,029 54,917

Change in fair value of investment properties 357,971 (3,799,917)
   

At end of year 39,500,000 39,075,000
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Description of property

Tenure of
land

Terms of
leases

Remaining
term of lease Location Valuation

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Fortune City One Leasehold 149 years 25.5 years No. 1 & 2 Ngan Shing Street, 
8 Lok Shing Street, Shatin, 
New Territories, Hong Kong

8,178,000 8,087,000

+WOO Leasehold 149 years 25.5 years Nos. 12 and 18 Tin Yan Road; 
Nos. 1 and 3 Tin Wu Road; 
No. 8 Tin Shui Road; 
Nos. 2 and 9 Tin Lung Road and 
No. 3 Tin Kwai Road, 
Tin Shui Wai, Yuen Long, 
New Territories, Hong Kong

7,868,000 7,880,000

Ma On Shan Plaza Leasehold 55.5 years 25.5 years No. 608 Sai Sha Road, 
Ma On Shan, Shatin, 
New Territories, Hong Kong

5,741,000 5,622,000

Metro Town Leasehold 50 years 31 years No. 8 King Ling Road, 
Tseung Kwan O, Hong Kong

3,673,000 3,585,000

Laguna Plaza Leasehold 149 years 25.5 years 88 Cha Kwo Ling Road, 
Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong

2,512,000 2,455,000

Belvedere Square Leasehold 149 years 25.5 years No. 530-590, 620 & 625, 
Castle Peak Road, Tsuen Wan, 
New Territories, Hong Kong 

2,526,000 2,514,000

Fortune Metropolis Leasehold 50.5 years 25.5 years No. 6-10 Metropolis Drive,  
Kowloon, Hong Kong

2,469,000 2,544,000

Waldorf Avenue Leasehold 149 years 25.5 years No. 1 Tuen Lee Street, Tuen Mun,  
New Territories, Hong Kong

1,777,000 1,738,000

Caribbean Square Leasehold 50 years 25.5 years No. 1 Kin Tung Road, Tung Chung,  
New Territories, Hong Kong

1,196,000 1,150,000

13 Investment Properties (Continued)
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Description of property

Tenure of
land

Terms of
leases

Remaining
term of lease Location Valuation

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Jubilee Square Leasehold 149 years 25.5 years No. 2-18 Lok King Street, Fo Tan, Shatin, 
New Territories, Hong Kong

926,000 926,000

Tsing Yi Square Leasehold 149 years 25.5 years No. 7-19 Tsing Luk Street, Tsing Yi,  
New Territories, Hong Kong

827,000 790,000

Smartland Leasehold 149 years 25.5 years No. 16 Tsuen Wah Street, Tsuen Wan, 
New Territories, Hong Kong

814,000 795,000

Centre de Laguna Leasehold 58 years 25.5 years 93/99 Cha Kwo Ling Road,  
Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong

330,000 330,000

Hampton Loft Leasehold 50 years 28 years No. 11 Hoi Fan Road,  
Kowloon, Hong Kong

318,000 316,000

Lido Avenue Leasehold 149 years 25.5 years No. 41-63 Castle Peak Road,  
Sham Tseng, Tsuen Wan,  
New Territories, Hong Kong

211,000 209,000

Rhine Avenue Leasehold 57 years 25.5 years No. 38 Castle Peak Road,  
Sham Tseng, Tsuen Wan,  
New Territories, Hong Kong

134,000 134,000

       

39,500,000 39,075,000
       

13 Investment Properties (Continued)
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(i) In estimating the fair value of investment properties, it is the Group’s policy to engage an independent qualified external 
valuer to perform the valuation. The Manager works closely with the valuer to establish appropriate inputs to the 
valuation model.

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, independent valuations were undertaken by Jones Lang LaSalle (“Jones Lang”). 
This firm is an independent qualified external valuer not related to the Group and has appropriate professional 
qualifications and recent experience in the valuation of similar properties in the relevant locations. The fair value of 
investment properties falls under Level 3 of fair value hierarchy. There were no transfer into or out of Level 3 during the 
year. The valuation of the properties is principally arrived at using income capitalisation approach which is a method 
of valuation whereby the existing net rental incomes (i.e. exclusive of rates, government rent, management fees and 
air-conditioning charges) of all lettable units of each property are capitalised for the respective unexpired terms of 
contractual tenancies whilst vacant units are assumed to be let at their respective market rents as at the valuation 
date. As at 31 December 2021, the net monthly rental incomes range from HK$0.5 million to HK$24.1 million (2020: 
HK$0.4 million to HK$24.9 million). In the valuation, the market rentals of all lettable units of the properties are assessed 
and capitalised at market yield expected by investors for this type of properties. The market rentals are assessed by 
reference to the rentals achieved in the lettable units of the properties as well as other lettings of similar properties in 
the neighbourhood. The market yield which is the capitalisation rate adopted is made by reference to the yields derived 
from similar properties in Hong Kong and adjusted to take account of the valuer’s knowledge of the market expectation 
from property investors to reflect factors specific to the Group’s investment properties. In estimating the fair value of 
the properties, the highest and best use of the properties is their current use.

The adopted capitalisation rates in the valuation range from 4.0% - 4.8% (2020: 4.0% - 4.8%). The capitalisation rate is 
one of the key parameters in the valuation method of income capitalisation and it involves the exercise of professional 
judgment in relation to the adjustments made by the valuer. A slight increase in the capitalisation rate used would result 
in a significant decrease in fair value, and vice versa.

(ii) All of the Group’s property interests in properties located in Hong Kong are held under medium-term leases which are 
finance lease in nature. The properties have been leased out under operating leases, most of which contain tenancy 
periods ranging from two to three years. Subsequent renewals are negotiated with the lessees at prevailing market 
rates.

(iii) The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated 
in the functional currencies of the relevant group entities. The lease contracts do not contain residual value guarantee 
and/or lessee’s option to purchase the property at the end of lease term.

(iv) None of the investment properties as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 was pledged to secure banking facilities granted 
to the Group.

13 Investment Properties (Continued)
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14 Derivative Financial Instruments

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Derivative financial instruments are analysed as:

Derivatives not under hedge accounting:

Interest rate swaps (39,489) (186,855)
   

Reflected on consolidated statement of financial position  
based on remaining contractual maturity as:

Non-current assets 21,012 –

Current liabilities – (6,599)

Non-current liabilities (60,501) (180,256)
   

(39,489) (186,855)
   

The Group uses interest rate swaps as hedging instruments in order to manage its exposure to interest rate movements on 
its bank borrowings by swapping a proportion of these borrowings from floating rates to fixed rates.

Derivatives not under hedge accounting:

Contracts not under hedge accounting with total notional amount of HK$6,000.0 million (2020: HK$4,408.2 million) as at 31 
December 2021 will mature from March 2024 to December 2028 (2020: April 2021 to August 2027). These contracts have 
fixed interest payments at rates ranging from 0.900% to 2.245% (2020: 1.535% to 2.245%) per annum and have floating 
interest receipts at three months (2020: one or three months) Hong Kong Inter-bank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”).

The change in fair value of the derivative financial instruments not under hedge accounting amounting to a gain of HK$147.4 
million (2020: a loss of HK$180.8 million), is recognised as finance costs in the profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 
2021.

The fair value of derivative financial instruments falls under Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy and is based on valuation of the 
instruments provided by the counterparty banks, which are determined using interest rates implied from observable market 
inputs such as market interest rates yield curves and contracted interest rates discounted at a rate that reflects the credit risk 
of various counterparties. There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 during the year.
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15 Trade And Other Receivables

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables 52,380 58,612

Less: allowance for credit losses (6,627) (5,996)
   

45,753 52,616
   

Other receivables and prepayments

– Security deposits 25,672 25,666

– Other receivables 1,076 1,986

– Prepayments 4,281 3,826
   

31,029 31,478
   

76,782 84,094
   

The following is an analysis of trade receivables (net of allowance for credit losses) by age, presented based on the invoice 
date.

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

0 – 30 days 45,030 44,386

31 – 90 days 723 8,230
   

45,753 52,616
   

There is no credit period given on billing for rental of properties. No interest is charged on the trade receivables for the first 10 
days from the date of the invoice. The gross carrying amount of trade receivables include accrued rentals in respect of rent 
free periods amounted to HK$44.0 million (2020: HK$33.2 million).

As at 31 December 2021, included in the Group’s trade receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of 
HK$1.7 million (2020: HK$19.4 million) which are past due as at the reporting date. Out of the past due balances, an aggregate 
gross carrying amount of HK$6.6 million (2020: HK$6.0 million) has been past due 90 days or more and considered as default 
for which allowance for credit losses has been made.

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade 
debt at the end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. The 
exposure of credit risk is limited due to deposits received from tenants. Allowance for credit losses has been recognised on 
any individual balance that is in excess of the relevant tenant’s deposits.

Details of impairment assessment on trade and other receivables are set out in Note 25.



125

Fo
rtune R

eal E
state Investm

ent Trust

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

16 Bank Balances

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash at bank 117,962 177,167
   

Details of impairment assessment on bank balances are set out in Note 25.

17 Borrowings

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Unsecured term loans 7,200,000 8,500,000

Unsecured revolving loans 1,700,000 300,000
   

8,900,000 8,800,000

Less: unamortised front-end fees (59,483) (40,628)
   

8,840,517 8,759,372
   

Carrying amount repayable:

Within one year 1,599,600 3,594,667

More than one year, but not more than two years 1,494,564 1,197,200

More than two years, but not more than five years 5,746,353 3,967,505
   

8,840,517 8,759,372

Less: Amount due within one year shown under current liabilities (1,599,600) (3,594,667)
   

7,240,917 5,164,705
   

(i) On 28 June 2021, Fortune REIT, through its wholly-owned subsidiary, entered into (a) a HK$1,500 million 5-year 
revolving credit facility agreement and (b) a HK$2,300 million 5-year term loan facility and revolving credit facility 
agreement. These facilities are used to refinance the outstanding amount of a term loan amounted to HK$3,300 million 
due in August 2021 as well as for other general corporate purpose.

As at 31 December 2021, the total committed loan facilities amounted to HK$9,000 million (2020: HK$9,200 million), 
bear interest at HIBOR plus a margin ranging from 0.98% to 1.25% (2020: HIBOR plus a margins ranging from 0.98% to 
1.30%) per annum.

The Trustee (in its capacity as trustee of Fortune REIT) has provided guarantee for all the loan facilities as at 31 
December 2021 and 2020.
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17 Borrowings (Continued)

(ii) The front-end fees are amortised over the respective loan periods. The movements in the front-end fees are as follow:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

At beginning of year 40,628 26,821

Addition during the year 38,000 34,000

Amortised during the year (19,145) (20,193)
   

At end of year 59,483 40,628
   

(iii) The effective interest rates:

Weighted average
effective interest

rate during the year Principal amount
2021 2020 2021 2020

% % HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest bearing borrowing

Fixed rate * 2.63 2.91 6,000,000 4,408,150

Variable rate 1.17 2.19 2,900,000 4,391,850
     

8,900,000 8,800,000
     

* The effective interest rate had taken into account the economic effect of the interest rate swaps which were entered into to swap a 
portion of the Group’s borrowings from floating rate to fixed rate and therefore the loan is analysed as fixed rate.

18 Deferred Tax Liabilities

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities which arose mainly from the accelerated tax depreciation of investment 
properties reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects to recover the fair 
value of the investment properties, at the end of the reporting period.

The following is the major component of deferred tax liabilities recognised and movements therein during the year:

Accelerated tax depreciation
2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000

At beginning of year 530,770 500,771

Charged to profit or loss for the year 31,691 29,999
   

At end of the year 562,461 530,770
   

The investment properties are not held under a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the 
economic benefits embodied in the investment properties over time and hence the presumption that the carrying amounts 
are recovered entirely through sale is not rebutted.



127

Fo
rtune R

eal E
state Investm

ent Trust

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

19 Trade and Other Payables

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables

– Tenants’ deposits 458,400 477,712

– Rental received in advance 36,025 50,602
   

494,425 528,314
   

Other payables

– Trustee’s fee 1,006 996

– Manager’s performance fee 3,465 6,108

– Operating expenses 170,359 167,504

– Interest payable 10,321 9,382

– Others 6,294 5,013
   

191,445 189,003
   

685,870 717,317
   

Trade and other payables comprise deposits refundable to tenants upon termination or cancellation of operating lease 
arrangements. The tenants’ deposits are refundable to tenants within 30 days upon the termination of the tenancy 
agreement. Included in rental received in advance are contract liabilities amounting HK$6.8 million (2020: HK$6.8 million) 
related to the non-reserved carpark and charge-out collections.

The tenants’ deposits to be settled after twelve months from the end of the reporting period based on lease term amounted 
to HK$275.2 million (2020: HK$263.4 million) as at 31 December 2021.
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20 Units in Issue and to be Issued

Number of units
‘000 HK$’000

Balance as at 1 January 2020 1,941,116 8,241,215

Issue of new units during the year:

As payment of Manager’s base fee for the period from 
1 January to 30 September 2020 13,701 92,683

   

Balance in issue as at 31 December 2020 1,954,817 8,333,898

Issue of new units during the year:

As payment of Manager’s base fee for the period from 
1 October to 31 December 2020 (note (i)) 4,070 29,547

   

Balance as at 31 December 2020 1,958,887 8,363,445

Issue of new units during the year:

As payment of Manager’s base fee for the period from 
1 January to 30 September 2021 11,156 87,324

   

Balance in issue as at 31 December 2021 1,970,043 8,450,769

New units to be issued:

As payment of Manager’s base fee for the period from 
1 October to 31 December 2021 (note (i)) 3,761 29,869

   

Balance as at 31 December 2021 1,973,804 8,480,638
   

Note:

(i) Manager’s base fee payable to the Manager is in the form of units. On 4 January 2022, Fortune REIT issued 3,760,827 units at an issue 
price of HK$7.942 per unit to the Manager as base fee for the period from 1 October 2021 to 31 December 2021. On 8 January 2021, 
Fortune REIT issued 4,069,851 units at an issue price of HK$7.26 per unit to the Manager as base fee for the period from 1 October 2020 to 
31 December 2020.
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21 Net Asset Value Per Unit Attributable to Unitholders

Net asset value per unit is calculated based on the net assets attributable to unitholders of the Group of HK$29,183.2 million 
(2020: HK$28,631.5 million) and the total number of 1,973,804,407 (2020: 1,958,886,876) units in issue and to be issued, 
including the new units to be issued as payment of Manager’s base fee.

22 Net Current Liabilities

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s net current liabilities, defined as current liabilities less current assets, amounted to 
HK$2,474.0 million (2020: HK$4,567.8 million).

23 Total Assets Less Current Liabilities

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s total assets less current liabilities amounted to HK$37,047.1 million (2020: HK$34,507.2 
million).

24 Capital Risk Management Policies and Objectives

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while 
maximising the return to unitholders through the optimisation of debt and net assets attributable to unitholders, and to ensure 
that all other externally imposed capital requirements are complied with.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which includes borrowings, cash and cash equivalents and net assets 
attributable to unitholders comprising issued and issuable units, reserves and retained profits. The Group is required to 
maintain the aggregate borrowing not exceeding 50% (2020: 50%) of the gross asset value of the Group in accordance with 
the REIT Code issued by the SFC. As at 31 December 2021, the Group has aggregate borrowings with principal amount of 
HK$8,900 million (2020: HK$8,800 million) and it represents 22% (2020: 22%) of the gross asset value of the Group.

The management’s strategy remains unchanged from prior year. The Group is in compliance with externally imposed capital 
requirements as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.
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25 Financial Instruments

(a) Categories of financial instruments

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets

Trade and other receivables 72,501 80,268

Bank balances 117,962 177,167
   

At amortised cost 190,463 257,435
   

Derivative financial instruments 21,012 –
   

Financial liabilities

Tenants’ deposits 458,400 477,712

Other payables 80,072 82,924

Distribution payable 392,184 481,996

Borrowings 8,840,517 8,759,372
   

At amortised cost 9,771,173 9,802,004
   

Derivative financial instruments 60,501 186,855
   

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

Details of the Group’s financial instruments are disclosed in the respective notes. The risks associated with these 
financial instruments include interest rate risk, credit risk, foreign currency risk and liquidity risk.

The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to 
these financial risks or manner in which it manages and measures the risk. The Manager manages and monitors these 
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.
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25 Financial Instruments (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to fixed-rate derivative financial instruments. The 
Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank balances and variable-rate bank 
borrowings. Interest rate risk is managed by the Manager on an ongoing basis with primary objective of limiting the 
extent to which net interest expense could be affected by adverse movements in interest rates.

Where necessary, the Group adopts an appropriate economic hedging policy to minimise interest rate exposure. This 
may involve fixing certain portion of the interest payable on its underlying debt liabilities via financial derivatives or other 
suitable financial products.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been taken into account the economic effect of the interest rate swaps which were 
entered into to swap a portion of the Group’s borrowings from floating rate to fixed rate and therefore the loan is 
analysed as fixed rate. In addition, it has been determined based on the Group’s exposure to interest rates for derivative 
and non-derivative instruments at the end of the reporting period and assumed the stipulated changes taking place at 
the beginning of the financial year and held constant throughout the financial period in the case of financial instruments 
that bear interest at floating rates. 50 basis points increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk 
internally to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the effect from reasonably 
possible change in interest rates.

If the interest rates have been 50 basis points (2020: 50 basis points) higher or lower and all other variables were held 
constant, the Group’s profit before tax for the year would increase or decrease by HK$14.5 million (2020: loss before 
tax increase or decrease by HK$22.0 million) respectively. This is mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest 
rates on its floating rate borrowings which are not economically hedged.

No interest rate sensitivity analysis in relation to time deposit and variable-rate bank balances of the Group has 
been performed as the Manager considered that the impact of interest rate risk on profit or loss for the year to be 
insignificant.



132

A
nnual R

ep
o

rt 2021

25 Financial Instruments (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Other than those financial assets whose carrying amounts best represent the maximum exposure to credit risk, 
the Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover the credit risks associated with those 
financial assets, except for trade receivables described below.

Credit risk from debtors is the potential financial loss resulting from the failure of a tenant or counterparty to settle its 
financial and contractual obligations to the Property Companies, as and when they fall due. The Group has adopted a 
policy of obtaining deposit and/or guarantees from tenants to mitigate the risk of financial loss from tenant’s default.

Trade receivables with gross carrying amount of HK$52.4 million (2020: HK$58.6 million) consists of rental revenue 
and charge-out collections receivables from tenants or counterparties. The Manager monitors the balances on an 
ongoing basis. Credit evaluations are performed by the Property Manager on behalf of the Manager before lease 
agreements are entered into with tenants. In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model on 
trade balances individually. In this regard, the Manager considers that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at 
lifetime ECL. The Group determines the expected credit losses on these items by performing individual assessment 
based on past due status. As at 31 December 2021, included in the Group’s gross amount of trade receivables is an 
amount of HK$6.6 million (2020: HK$6.0 million) which is overdue by more than 90 days and categorised as credit 
impaired. During the year ended 31 December 2021, loss allowance provision for the amount of HK$0.6 million was 
recognised in the profit or loss for the Group (2020: HK$6.0 million). The remaining gross amount of trade receivables 
is categorised as low risk and the ECL is insignificant.

The Group does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of counterparties 
having similar characteristics.

For other receivables and security deposits, the Manager makes periodic individual assessment on the recoverability 
of other receivables and deposits based on historical settlement records, past experience, and also quantitative and 
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportive forward-looking information. The Manager believes that there 
are no significant increase in credit risk of these amounts since initial recognition and the Group provided impairment 
based on 12m ECL. For the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group assessed the ECL for other receivables 
and security deposits to be insignificant and thus no loss allowance is recognised.

The Group assessed 12m ECL on liquid funds. The credit risk on liquid funds of gross amount of HK$118.0 million 
(2020: HK$177.2 million) is limited because deposits are placed with reputable banks with external credit rating of at 
least A1 assigned by an international credit-rating agency. The credit risk on derivative financial instrument is limited 
because the counterparties are banks with external credit rating of at least A1 assigned by an international credit-rating 
agency.
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25 Financial Instruments (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

The Manager monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the Manager to 
finance the Group’s operations. In addition, the Manager also monitors and observes REIT Code concerning limits of 
total borrowings.

Taking into account the headroom of the fair value of investment properties of HK$39,500 million for obtaining 
additional banking facility, presently available banking facilities of HK$600 million and internal financial resources of the 
Group, the Manager is of the opinion that the Group has sufficient working capital for its present requirements within 
one year from the end of the reporting period. Hence, the consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a 
going concern basis.

Liquidity risk analysis

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial liabilities (other than issued and 
issuable units) based on the agreed repayment terms. For non-derivative financial liabilities, the table has been drawn 
up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be 
required to pay.

For derivative instruments settled on a net basis, undiscounted net cash outflows are presented based on the expected 
interest payment. When the amount payable is not fixed, the amount disclosed has been determined by reference to the 
projected interest rates as illustrated by the yield curves existing at the reporting date.

The Group’s derivative financial instruments are interest rate swaps with notional amount totaling HK$6,000.0 million 
(2020: HK$4,408.2 million) as at 31 December 2021 with contracted net cash flows due within seven years (2020: seven 
years) from inception date.

Weighted average 
interest rate

On demand or 
less than
3 months

3 months
to 1 year

1 year
to 2 years Over 2 years

Total
undiscounted

cash flows

Carrying
amount as at 

31 December 2021

% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2021

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Tenants’ deposits – 68,883 114,357 159,507 115,653 458,400 458,400

Other payables – 80,072 – – – 80,072 80,072

Distribution payable – 392,184 – – – 392,184 392,184

Bank borrowings 1.28 1,626,628 72,057 1,592,058 5,970,653 9,261,396 8,840,517
        

Cash outflow 2,167,767 186,414 1,751,565 6,086,306 10,192,052 9,771,173
        

Derivative financial liabilities  
– net settlement

Derivative financial instruments,  
cash outflow 8,857 37,635 42,673 32,489 121,654 60,501
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25 Financial Instruments (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Liquidity risk analysis (Continued)

Weighted average 
interest rate

On demand or 
less than
3 months

3 months
to 1 year

1 year
to 2 years Over 2 years

Total
undiscounted

cash flows

Carrying
amount as at 

31 December 2020

% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2020

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Tenants’ deposits – 42,026 172,286 156,194 107,206 477,712 477,712

Other payables – 82,924 – – – 82,924 82,924

Distribution payable – 481,996 – – – 481,996 481,996

Bank borrowings 1.37 329,592 3,370,732 1,259,424 4,119,758 9,079,506 8,759,372
        

Cash outflow 936,538 3,543,018 1,415,618 4,226,964 10,122,138 9,802,004
        

Derivative financial liabilities 
– net settlement

Derivative financial instruments,  
cash outflow 11,041 37,711 47,603 128,922 225,277 186,855
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25 Financial Instruments (Continued)

(c) Fair value

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, tenants’ deposits, other payables and 
distribution payable approximate their respective fair values due to the relatively short-term maturity of these financial 
instruments. The long-term borrowings are floating rate loans based on market interest rates and hence their carrying 
values approximate their fair value.

The fair value of derivative instruments is based on valuation of the instruments provided by the counterparty banks, 
which are determined using interest rates implied from observable market inputs such as market interest rates yield 
curves and contracted interest rates discounted at a rate that reflects the credit risk of various counterparties.

26 Operating Lease Arrangements

The Group rents out its investment properties in Hong Kong under operating leases. Operating lease income represents 
rentals receivable by the Group for its investment properties. Leases are negotiated for term ranging primarily from two to 
three years with monthly fixed rental, except for certain leases of which variable rents are charged on higher of base rent or 
contingent rent based on the percentage of sales mainly ranging from 1% to 30% (2020: 1% to 30%).

Undiscounted lease payment receivable on leases are as follows:

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 1,125,441 1,177,284

In the second year 635,250 598,765

In the third year 203,157 219,822

In the fourth year 38,477 38,841

In the fifth year 23,759 27,662

After five years 2,448 15,849
   

2,028,532 2,078,223
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27 Capital Commitment

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had capital commitments for upgrading investment properties which were contracted 
but not provided for of HK$287.0 million (2020: HK$60.2 million).

28 Major Non Cash Transactions

The Manager’s base fee for the periods from 1 January to 30 September 2021 amounting to HK$87.3 million and 1 October 
to 31 December 2021 amounting to HK$29.9 million were settled by the issuance of 11,156,704 units during the year and 
3,760,827 units subsequently, respectively.

In prior year, the Manager’s base fee for the periods from 1 January to 30 September 2020 amounting to HK$92.7 million and 
1 October to 31 December 2020 amounting to HK$29.5 million were settled by the issuance of 13,700,568 units during the 
year and 4,069,851 units subsequently, respectively.

29 Reconciliation of Liabilities Arising from Financing Activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash 
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flow will be, classified 
in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

 Borrowings
 Distribution 

payable
 Interest
payable Total

(Note 17) (Note 19)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

 At 1 January 2020 8,479,179 488,314 86 8,967,579

 Financing cash flows 260,000 (929,059) (215,389) (884,448)

 Finance costs 20,193 – 225,630 245,823

 Distribution to unitholders – 921,890 – 921,890

 Other changes – 851 (945) (94)
     

 At 31 December 2020 8,759,372 481,996 9,382 9,250,750

 Financing cash flows 62,000 (971,992) (173,048) (1,083,040)

 Finance costs 19,145 – 173,987 193,132

 Distribution to unitholders – 883,031 – 883,031

 Other changes – (851) – (851)
     

 At 31 December 2021 8,840,517 392,184 10,321 9,243,022
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30 Connected and Related Party Transactions

During the year, the Group entered into the following transactions with connected and related parties.

Notes 2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000

Rent and rental related income from

ARA Asset Management (Fortune) Limited (a) 5,204 5,204

Cheung Kong Property Development Limited (b) 30,230 27,062

Citybase Property Management Limited (b) 2,291 2,291

Hang Seng Bank Limited (c) 20,762 21,417

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited 
(“HSBC”) (c) 9,809 9,943

Towerich Limited (b) 73 73

Car park lease agency fee for the operations  
for the Group’s car park

E-Park Parking Management Limited (b) 8,802 8,765

Property management and project management fee

Citybase Property Management Limited (b) 1,064 1,060

Goodwell-Fortune Property Services Limited (b) 43,540 44,927

Goodwell Property Management Limited (b) 200 200

Leasing commission and marketing services fee

Goodwell-Fortune Property Services Limited (b) 26,941 25,546

Trustee’s fee

HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Asia) Limited (d) 11,698 12,411

Manager’s base fee

ARA Asset Management (Fortune) Limited (a) 117,193 122,230

Manager’s performance fee

ARA Asset Management (Fortune) Limited (a) 41,450 42,566

Back office support service

CK Asset Holdings Limited (“CK Asset”) (b) 30 –
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30 Connected and Related Party Transactions (Continued)

Balance as at year end with connected and related parties are as follows:

Other payables

Notes 2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000

ARA Asset Management (Fortune) Limited (a) 3,465 6,107
    

HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Asia) Limited (d) 1,006 996
    

Citybase Property Management Limited (b) 21,838 20,872

E-Park Parking Management Limited (b) 1,567 1,616

Goodwell-Fortune Property Services Limited (b) 12,238 15,217

Goodwell Property Management Limited (b) 17,605 15,197
    

53,248 52,902
    

57,719 60,005
    

Deposits placed with the Group for the lease of the Group’s properties

2021 2020

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

ARA Asset Management (Fortune) Limited (a) 1,463 1,463

Cheung Kong Property Development Limited (b) 97 97

Citybase Property Management Limited (b) 638 638

Hang Seng Bank Limited (c) 5,655 5,878

HSBC (c) 2,106 2,106

Towerich Limited (b) 20 20
    

9,979 10,202
    

Notes:

(a) This company is the Manager of Fortune REIT.

(b) These companies are subsidiaries of CK Asset and CK Asset is the holding company Focus Eagle Investments Limited (“Focus Eagle”), 
which holds more than 10% of the units of Fortune REIT as at 31 December 2021. Focus Eagle is a substantial holder of Fortune REIT as 
defined in the REIT Code. Prior to the amendment of the REIT Code on 4 December 2020, Focus Eagle was defined as significant holder of 
Fortune REIT.

(c) These companies are fellow subsidiaries of the Trustee.

(d) This company is the Trustee of Fortune REIT.

In addition, the Trustee (in its capacity as trustee of Fortune REIT) has provided guarantees for all bank loan facilities granted 
to the Group as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.
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31 Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of Fortune Reit

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries which are wholly owned by Fortune REIT as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as 
follows:

Issued and fully paid capital
 

Name of company
Country/Place of 
incorporation Effective equity interest held by Fortune REIT

Ordinary 
shares

Redeemable 
preference 

shares

Non-voting 
deferred 

shares Principal activities
As at 31 December 2021 As at 31 December 2020

Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly

% % % % HK$ HK$ HK$

Ace Courage Limited British Virgin 
Islands 
(“BVI”)

– 100 – 100 8 56,058,600 – Property investment in 
Centre de Laguna

Advance Castle Investment Limited Hong Kong – 100 – 100 1 – – Property investment in 
Laguna Plaza

Bysean Limited Hong Kong – 100 – 100 2 – – Property investment in 
part of the Belvedere 
Square

Bysky Limited Hong Kong – 100 – 100 2 – – Property investment in 
part of the Belvedere 
Square

FRT Finance (HK) Limited Hong Kong 100 – 100 – 2 – – Financing

Full Belief Limited BVI – 100 – 100 8 109,000,000 – Property investment in 
Hampton Loft

Fullforce Limited Hong Kong – 100 – 100 2 – – Property investment in 
part of the Belvedere 
Square

Genuine Joy Limited BVI – 100 – 100 8 394,690,000 – Property investment in 
Caribbean Square
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Issued and fully paid capital
 

Name of company
Country/Place of 
incorporation Effective equity interest held by Fortune REIT

Ordinary 
shares

Redeemable 
preference 

shares

Non-voting 
deferred 

shares Principal activities
As at 31 December 2021 As at 31 December 2020

Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly

% % % % HK$ HK$ HK$

Mega Gain Resources Limited Hong Kong – 100 – 100 1 436,400,000 – Property investment in 
Metro Town

Million Nice Development Limited Hong Kong – 100 – 100 2 – – Property investment in 
Fortune City One

Partner Now Limited BVI – 100 – 100 8 30,810,000 – Property investment in  
Lido Avenue

Poko Shine Limited Hong Kong 100 – 100 – 2 874,570,000 – Property investment in  
Ma On Shan Plaza

Proven Effort Limited BVI – 100 – 100 8 17,495,400 – Property investment in  
Rhine Avenue

Quebostar Limited Hong Kong – 100 – 100 100,000 – – Property investment in 
part of the Belvedere 
Square

Quick Switch Limited BVI – 100 – 100 8 79,000,000 – Property investment in 
Smartland

Team Challenge Limited BVI – 100 – 100 8 95,620,200 – Property investment in  
Tsing Yi Square

31 Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of Fortune Reit (Continued)
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Issued and fully paid capital
 

Name of company
Country/Place of 
incorporation Effective equity interest held by Fortune REIT

Ordinary 
shares

Redeemable 
preference 

shares

Non-voting 
deferred 

shares Principal activities
As at 31 December 2021 As at 31 December 2020

Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly

% % % % HK$ HK$ HK$

Tidmarsh Investments Limited BVI – 100 – 100 8 – – Property investment in 
part of the Belvedere 
Square

Tin Shui Wai Development Limited Hong Kong – 100 – 100 1,000 – – Property investment in 
+WOO

Vision Million Limited BVI – 100 – 100 8 810,000,000 – Property investment in 
Fortune Metropolis

Waldorf Realty Limited Hong Kong 100 – 100 – 210,000 – 210,000 Property investment in 
Waldorf Avenue

Yee Pang Realty Limited Hong Kong 100 – 100 – 10,000 8,000,000 – Property investment in 
Jubilee Square

31 Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of Fortune Reit (Continued)
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Notes:

(i) The above table lists the subsidiaries of Fortune REIT which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results or assets of the 
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

(ii) All redeemable preference shares issued by the subsidiaries are held by Fortune REIT.

The redeemable preference shares issued by the subsidiaries are redeemable at the option of the subsidiaries and they have the following 
terms:

(a) They do not carry any right to dividend;

(b)  They are not participating (i.e. there is no right to participate in the surplus profits of the subsidiary after payment of dividend to the 
holders of the ordinary shares);

(c) They do not have any voting rights at general meetings of the subsidiary;

(d) In the event of a winding up of the subsidiary, the holders of the redeemable preference shares have priority over the holders of the 
ordinary shares to repayment of capital and premium paid on the issue of such redeemable preference shares, but that the holders of 
the redeemable preference shares are not entitled to participate in the surplus assets (if any) of the subsidiary; and

(e) Each redeemable preference share is redeemable at any time at the option of the subsidiary at a redemption price equal to the issue 
price thereof.

(iii) The non-voting deferred shares issued by the subsidiaries, all of which are held by Fortune REIT, are subject to the following restrictions and 
provisions:

(a) They do not carry any right to dividend;

(b) They do not have any voting rights at general meetings of the subsidiary; and

(c) On a return of assets on winding up or otherwise, the assets of the subsidiary to be returned should be distributed as regards the first 
HK$100,000,000,000,000 thereof among the holders of ordinary shares in proportion to the nominal amounts of ordinary shares held 
by them respectively and one half of the balance of such assets shall belong to and be distributed among the holders of the non-voting 
deferred shares and the other half thereof to and among the holders of the ordinary shares in proportion in each case to the nominal 
amount of the shares held by them respectively.

(iv) The place of operations of all the above property investment subsidiaries is Hong Kong.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of the year.

31 Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of Fortune Reit (Continued)
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Other Information

Major Estate Agents and Contractors

Contractors Nature of services Value of contract Percentage
HK$ million

Citybase Property Management Limited Building Management 141.4 33.3%

Goodwell Property Management Limited Building Management 103.0 24.3%

Goodwell-Fortune Property Services Limited Property Management 90.2 21.3%

Ka Shun Contractors Limited Projects and Maintenance 25.0 5.9%

Jetline Construction Company Limited Projects and Maintenance 10.9 2.6%
    

Total 370.5 87.4%
    

Performance Table

Year ended 
31 December 

2021

Year ended 
31 December 

2020

Year ended 
31 December 

2019

Year ended 
31 December 

2018

Year ended 
31 December 

2017

Net assets attributable to unitholders 
(HK$’000) 29,183,178 28,631,502 32,624,120 32,013,365 26,887,767

Net asset value per unit (HK$) 14.79 14.62 16.81 16.61 14.05

The highest traded price during the year 
(HK$) 8.88 9.40 11.28 9.87 9.82

The highest premium of the trade price  
to net asset value1 N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A.

The lowest traded price during the year 
(HK$) 6.93 6.20 8.70 8.58 8.52

The highest discount of the trade price  
to net asset value 59.9% 57.6% 48.2% 48.3% 39.4%

The net yield per unit2 5.6% 6.4% 5.6% 5.7% 5.3%
      

Notes:

1.  The highest traded price is lower than the net asset value per unit as at the end of the period. Accordingly, premium of the trade price to net asset 
value per unit had not been recorded.

2.  The net yield per unit is calculated based on the distribution per unit for each of reporting period over the last traded price for the respective 
reporting period.
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Corporate Information 

Manager

ARA Asset Management (Fortune) Limited

Unit 901, Level 9, 
Fortune Metropolis, 
6 Metropolis Drive,
Hunghom, Kowloon, Hong Kong
Tel: +852 2169 0928
Fax: +852 2169 0968

5 Temasek Boulevard
#12-01, Suntec Tower Five
Singapore 038985
Tel: +65 6835 9232
Fax: +65 6835 9672

Directors of the Manager

CHUI Sing Loi (alias TSUI Sing Loi) 
Chairman and Independent Non-Executive Director 

CHIU Kwok Hung, Justin
Non-Executive Director

LIM Hwee Chiang
Non-Executive Director

YEUNG, Eirene
Non-Executive Director

MA Lai Chee, Gerald
Non-Executive Director

CHIU Yu, Justina
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

CHENG Ai Phing
Independent Non-Executive Director

YEO Annie (alias YEO May Ann)
Independent Non-Executive Director

KOH Poh Wah
Independent Non-Executive Director

Company Secretary of the Manager

LOW Mei Mei, Maureen
CHIANG Wai Ming

Trustee 

HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Asia) Limited

Stock Code 

778

Legal Adviser of the Manager 

Baker McKenzie 

Unit Registrar

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited 

Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor
Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East 
Wanchai, Hong Kong 

Auditor 

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditors

Websites and Email 

www.fortunereit.com
www.fortunemalls.com.hk
enquiries@fortunereit.com
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